
 

 
Addenbrooke House   Ironmasters Way    Telford   TF3 4NT 

 

Continued… 

CABINET 

 

Date Thursday, 18 March 2021 Time 10.00 am 

Venue Remote Meeting 

 

Enquiries Regarding this Agenda 

Democratic Services Stacey Worthington 01952 384382 

Media Enquiries Corporate Communications 01952 382406 

Lead Officer David Sidaway, Chief Executive 01952 380130 

 
Cabinet Members: Councillor R A Overton Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for 

Enforcement, Community Safety and 
Customer Services 

 Councillor A J Burford Cabinet Member for Health & Social Care 

 Councillor E M Callear Cabinet Member for Leisure, Libraries and 
Culture 

 Councillor L D Carter Cabinet Member for Neighbourhood, 
Commercial Services and Regeneration 

 Councillor R C Evans Cabinet Member for Council Finance and 
Governance 

 Councillor C Healy Cabinet Member for Visitor Economy, 
Historic & Natural Environment and 
Climate Change 

 Councillor S A W Reynolds Cabinet Member for Children, Young 
People, Education and Lifelong Learning 

 Councillor P Watling Cabinet Member for Cooperative 
Communities, Engagement and 
Partnerships 

 Councillor D Wright Cabinet Member for Economy, Housing, 
Transport and Infrastructure 

 Councillor S Davies Leader 
   
Invitees: Councillor W L Tomlinson Liberal Democrats 

 Councillor N A Dugmore Conservative 

 

AGENDA 
Page 

   
 

1.   Apologies for Absence 
 

  

   
 

2.   Declarations of Interest 
 

  

   3.   Minutes of the Previous Meeting  5 - 16 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

 

  
   
 

4.   Leader's Announcements 
 

  

Key  
 

5.   Telford & Wrekin Draft Housing Strategy, 
2020-25.  Report on outcome of 
consultation process and consideration 
of revised draft Strategy. 
 

 17 - 48 

Key  
 

6.   Telford & Wrekin Council Housing 
Allocation Policy, 2021 - 2026 
 

 49 - 84 

Key  
 

7.   Definitive Map Modification Order - 
Policy and Procedures 
 

 85 - 104 

   
 

8.   Declaration of The Cockshut Local 
Nature Reserve 
 

 105 - 116 

Key  
 

9.   Telford & Wrekin Council Becoming 
Carbon Neutral Action Plan Annual 
Review 
 

 117 - 196 

   
 

10.   Environment Scrutiny Committee 
Recommendation 
To consider the recommendation of the 
Environment Scrutiny Committee – As part 
of the climate emergency commitment, the 
Council will install dual-recycling bins across 
the Borough. Working in partnership with 
Town/Parish Councils, local business and 
stakeholders, the Council will begin by 
installing dual-recycling bins across high 
footfall areas (including but not limited to 
Oakengates, Newport and Wellington) in the 
Borough including Telford Town Park and 
the Borough’s Parks.  Following detailed 
review and evaluation of this initial trial, the 
on-going provision of dual-recycling 
litterbins will be considered for a programme 
of further roll out. Authority to be delegated 
to relevant officers to work with partners to 
determine the final location/s of this initial 
trial.   

  

      
  

 

Page 2



 

 

FILMING, RECORDING & PHOTOGRAPHY 
The Council supports the principle of transparency and encourages filming, recording and taking 
photographs at its meetings that are open to the public. It also welcomes the use of social 
networking websites (such as Twitter and Facebook) and micro-blogging to communicate with 
people about what is happening, as it happens. 
There is no requirement to notify the Council in advance, but it should be noted that the Chairman 
of the meeting will have absolute discretion to terminate or suspend any of these activities if, in 
their opinion, continuing to do so would prejudice proceedings at the meeting. Full details of the 
Council’s protocol on audio/visual recording and photography at meetings can be accessed via the 
following link: 
http://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20243/council_meetings/365/filming_photography_recording_and_u
se_of_social_networking_at_meetings 

Page 3

http://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20243/council_meetings/365/filming_photography_recording_and_use_of_social_networking_at_meetings
http://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20243/council_meetings/365/filming_photography_recording_and_use_of_social_networking_at_meetings


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

CABINET 
 
Minutes of a meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday, 18 February 2021 

at 10.00 am in Remote Meeting 
 

PUBLISHED ON WEDNESDAY, 24 FEBRUARY 2021 
 

(DEADLINE FOR CALL-IN: MONDAY, 1 MARCH 2021) 
 

 
Present: Councillors R A Overton (Vice-Chair), A J Burford, E M Callear, 
L D Carter, R C Evans, C Healy, S A W Reynolds, P Watling, D Wright and 
S Davies (Chair).  
 
Also Present:  Cllr W L Tomlinson (Liberal Democrats / Independent 
Group Leader) and Cllr N A Dugmore (Conservative Group Leader) 
 
CAB-46 Declarations of Interest 
 
None. 
 
CAB-47 Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 
RESOLVED – that the minutes of the meeting held on 7 January 2021 be 
confirmed and signed by the Chair. 
 
CAB-48 Leader's Announcements 
 
The Leader thanked NHS partners, council staff and the community for their 
efforts in the vaccination roll out. The roll out had got off to a slow start, 
however, the rates in Telford and Wrekin were now above the national 
average. The Leader stated that there had been reports of thousands of 
appointments at the Telford International Centre not being filled due to 
problems with the national booking system The Leader reiterated the 
Council’s offer to the Government to support the vaccine roll out in any way 
possible.  
 
CAB-49 2020/21 Financial Monitoring Report 
 
Key Decision identified as 2020/21 Financial Management Report in the 
Notice of Key Decisions published on 9 December 2020. 
 
Councillor R C Evans, Cabinet Member: Council Finance & Governance 
presented the report of the Director: Finance & Human Resources (Chief 
Financial Officer).  
 
The Service & Financial Planning Strategy, also considered at this meeting, 
set the context of the continuing and prolonged financial challenges facing the 
Council. The Council had a long track record of sound financial management, 
however, the coronavirus pandemic (Covid-19) had a significant impact on the 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



 

 

whole country. The UK entered into a first period of initial lockdown in March 
2020 and the Council had immediately moved to an emergency response 
mode, to safeguard the community and employees.  
 
During the year, the Council had continued to provide all the usual services, 
except where they have been suspended due to national or local restrictions 
(for example, leisure centres and libraries during lockdown periods). The 
Council had also provided additional support to residents and businesses.  
 
This has all been during a period where income streams have been under 
pressure, as well as following over a decade of severe financial constraints 
from central Government due to cuts in grants. There had been an increase in 
demand for many council services, including Social Care provision.  
 
The total projected budget pressure was estimated to be £20.55m (including 
council tax and business rates shortfalls). The Council received £18.97m of 
Government National Emergency Response Funding, which left a residual 
pressure of £1.58m. This was a change to the projected position reported to 
Cabinet in January 2021, however, there had been a further period of national 
lockdown, which had impacted on the projected calculations. The Council 
continued to exercise a high degree of financial control through active budget 
management by Cabinet Members, Senior Managers and budget holders 
across the organisation.  
 
The total pressure of £20.55m included an estimate for potential reductions in 
council tax and business rates income of £6.1m. The Government announced 
during the Comprehensive Spending Review that they would investigate a tax 
income guarantee scheme of 75%, the net shortfall could then be collected 
over a three year period.   
 
There were a number of variations to the approved budget, many of which 
related to Covid-19.  Children’s Safeguarding and Family Support continued to 
be a key area of pressure with additional investment of £0.658m, related to 
Children in Care Placement costs and £0.311m related to additional staffing 
costs.  
 
Adult Social Care required additional investment of £3.758m, related to 
increased costs to support care providers and clients, and a further 
investment of £5.459m for the costs of short term reablement care.  

 
Education & Corporate Parenting was also under pressure with a projected 
overspend of £0.37m.  This was largely due to additional home to school 
transport costs.  
  
The capital programme totalled £63m for 2020/21 which included all approvals 
since the budget was set.  At the time that the report was compiled, projected 
spend was 97% of the budget allocation.   
 
Members thanked the officers for their work in producing this report.  
 

Page 6



 

 

RESOLVED – that: 
 

a) The 2020/21 revenue budget position, which has been 
significantly impacted  by the Covid-19 pandemic, be noted 

b) The position in relation to capital spend be noted and that 
authority be delegated to the Executive Director: Housing, 
Communities & Customer Services, after consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Economy, Housing, Transport & 
Infrastructure to allocate £2m approved Housing allocation to 
support the council priorities of addressing the issue of stalled 
sites and empty properties across the Borough and the provision 
of specialist accommodation 

c) The collection rates for NNDR, council tax and sales ledger be 
noted. 

 
CAB-50 Service & Financial Planning Strategy 2021/22 
 
Reserved for Council 
 
Councillor R C Evans, Cabinet Member: Council Finance & Governance, 
presented a series of reports of the Chief Executive and the Chief Financial 
Officer. The reports, detailed the Revenue Budget, medium term Capital 
Strategy and Programme, the Investment and Treasury Management 
Strategies and Prudential Indicators. In October 2020, the Council’s Cabinet 
agreed a refreshed Council Plan to deliver the organisation’s vision to 
“Protect, Care and Invest to Create a Better Borough”. 
 
On 5 March 2020 the Council approved a one year service and financial 
planning strategy for the current financial year.  The strategy was set after 
more than 10 years of severe financial constraint from the Governments 
austerity programme. During this 10 year period, the Council had made 
ongoing savings of £126.4m in order to set a balanced budget, at a time 
where there was a growing demand for services. 
 
The Council agreed a one year budget strategy for 2020/21 as the 
Government had proposed to make major changes to the local government 
finance system, however, due to the Covid-19 pandemic, this has been 
postponed and the spending review announced on 25 November 2020 
covered a period of one year.  
 
In view of this significant uncertainty over the future of local government 
finance and what resources may be available to the Council beyond the 
following year, and the uncertainties caused by Covid-19, a one year service 
and financial planning strategy for 2021/22 is again proposed. However, 
because capital projects needed to be planned over a longer time horizon new 
capital investment proposals were included for 2021/22 and the following two 
years.  
 
The report identified key strategies including:- 
 

Page 7



 

 

 Increasing Council Tax for 2021/22 by 1.99% and that the 
Government’s additional 3% “Adult Social Care precept” be applied.  
This gave a total increase of 4.99%, raising £3.64m in total.   

 Doubling the provision of the Council Tax Reduction Hardship 
Assistance Scheme to help residents who need support during this 
time.  

 The Adult Social Care precept would raise £2.188m which would be 
fully invested into Adult Social Care Services. 

 Extra investment of £1m spread over to 2021/22 and 2022/23 to 
support crime an anti-social behaviour initiatives.  

 A packet of budget savings, including additional income generated by 
the Council’s commercial activities, totalling £5.9m in 2021/22, rising to 
£7.139m in 2022/23. 

 Prudent use of £0.173m of available revenue balances to ensure a 
balanced budget for 2021/22.  

 A programme of capital investments totalling more than £228.532m as 
set out in the Capital Strategy and Capital Programme reports which 
included:- 

 £65.3m investment into NuPlace, the Council’s wholly owned 
housing company.  

 £40.7m for highways and transport schemes, including 
improvements to the A442 and funding for repair of potholes, 
footways and drainage schemes. 

 £25.7m for education capital projects, including an expansion 
project for secondary school places in the Borough.  

 £9.95m into the Stronger Communities Programme, focused on 
bringing brownfield sites back into use, and providing a stimulus 
for the delivery of the Station Quarter.  

 £9.65m investment into the Council’s Property Investment 
portfolio, which will attract new jobs and retain companies in the 
Borough.  

 £6.9m for Pride in Your High Street Schemes.  

 £6.5m investment in the Newport Innovation & Enterprise 
Package 

 £5m for Environment Improvement / Enhancements 

 £4m for climate change initiatives.  
 
The Council needed to be innovative in identifying ways to generate more 
income to fund key front line services as well as seeking to address key 
issues for the Borough such as economic regeneration and improving housing 
standards in the private rented sector. The total revenue benefits to the 
Council from NuPlace after covering all additional costs in the previous year 
were £1.176m and made a pre-tax profit of £0.573m in 2019/20.  This was 
expected be slightly higher in 2020/21.  In addition, Council Tax and New 
Homes Bonus payments were estimated to have generated an additional 
£2.3m cumulatively to the end of March 2021. The solar farm generated a 
surplus after paying all costs of £200k pa.  The Telford Growth Fund was 
delivering ahead of expectations and the total revenue benefit net of additional 
costs was projected to be £2.8m this year and expected to increase to £3.3m 

Page 8



 

 

for the schemes currently approved in a full year. Income in the previous year 
from the Commercial Services teams amounted to £21.2m. The net benefits 
from these investments were used to support front line services. 
 
Attached to the report were a number of appendices, including a robustness 
statement from the CFO, analysis of base budget movements, and details of 
Reserves and Balances. 
 
The Capital Strategy report was a requirement of the Prudential Code for 
Capital 
Finance in Local Authorities. The aim of the strategy was to give an overview 
of the long-term context in which capital expenditure and investment decisions 
were made and to highlight the consideration given to risks and rewards as 
well as the achievement of Council priorities. 
 
The report detailed the revised capital programme for 2020/21 and the 
proposed capital programme for 2021/22 to 2023/24, together with the 
Planned Building Investment Programme and the Highways and Transport 
Capital Investment Programme. 
 
The report on the Treasury Management Strategy detailed the Treasury 
Strategy to be adopted for 2021/22. The Strategy was set within the 
parameters of relevant statute, guidance and accounting standards. It was 
expected the Council would borrow up to £60.2m in 2021/22 based on the 
current capital programme plans and would adopt a flexible approach to 
borrowing. In consultation with its treasury management advisors 
consideration would be given to affordability, maturity profile of existing 
external financing, interest rate and refinancing risk as well as borrowing 
source. The investment strategy would generally be to reduce investments in 
order to reduce counter-party risk and to reduce net interest costs.  The 
Council anticipated holding investments equal to the requirements set out 
under MIFID II, currently £10m. 
 
The report on Prudential Indicators sought approval of the prudential 
indicators for 2021/22 to 2023/24 required under the Prudential Code of 
Capital Finance in Local Authorities to approve the indicators for 2021/22. 
 
Recommendations by Cabinet would be considered at full Council on 4 March 
2021 as full Council was responsible for setting the overall revenue and 
capital budget framework.  At that meeting full Council would also set the 
Council Tax for 2021/22. 
 
Cabinet Members thanked the Cabinet Member and Council staff for their 
hard work in producing this budget. Cabinet Members highlighted that Telford 
and Wrekin still had one of the lowest Council tax rates in the midlands. 
Cabinet Members discussed the impact of over ten years of austerity on local 
government finance and stated that there had not been a comprehensive 
spending review in at least six years. 
 

Page 9



 

 

The Leader of the Liberal Democrat / Independent Group stated that Council’s 
across the country were being forced to put their council tax rates up, as they 
had in previous years and would likely need to do again in the future, as this 
was part of the Government’s strategy. 
 
The Leader of the Conservative Group raised concerns regarding the level of 
borrowing, the Leader of the Council confirmed that if the Council did not 
borrow some funds, it would need to either cut services or raise council tax 
further, the Council only borrowed to invest. 
 
In response to a comment from the Leader of the Conservative Group, the 
Leader of the Council stated that Shropshire Council already had a 
significantly higher council tax rate than Telford & Wrekin and that a support 
package was in place to help those would were least able to afford their 
council tax. 
 
The Leader put forward an offer to the Government that if a grant was 
allocated to Local Authorities, as had previously been given, then the Council 
would rework the budget and would freeze the proposed Council Tax rise.  
 
RESOLVED to RECOMMEND TO COUNCIL on 4 March 2021 –  
 

(i) Overview & Revenue Budget Report 2021/22 – 2023/24 
 

a) The service & financial planning strategy for 2021/22 set out in the 
set of reports in this agenda be approved 

b) A Council Tax increase of 4.99% (made up of 3% in respect of the 
Government’s Adult Social Care Precept and a general Council 
Tax increase of 1.99%) in 2021/22 be approved 

c) The investment of a further £2.375m into Adult Social Care in 
2021/22 be approved 

d) The investment of £0.5m in crime and anti-social behaviour 
measures in both 2021/22 and 2022/23 be approved 

e) The budget savings listed in Appendix 13 of the report totalling 
£5.900m in 2021/22 rising to £7.139m (after ‘leakage’) in 2022/23 be 
approved 

f) Taking a measured approach to the use of available one-off 
resources of £0.173m in 2021/22 be approved 

g) The continuation of work with partner organisations, including 
Town & Parish councils and Voluntary Sector and Community 
Groups to seek to identify ways to mitigate the impact of some of 
the cuts to services that we can no longer afford be approved and 
the availability of the £1.1m Invest to Save & Capacity Fund which 
is available to support partnership working be noted 

h) The base budget, as set out in Appendix 6 of the report, be 
approved 

i) The policy framework for Reserves and Balances outlined in 
Appendix 9 of this report, be approved 

j) The CFO’s robustness statement on Appendix 10 of the report be 
noted 

Page 10



 

 

k) The Risk Register included at Appendix 3 of the report be 
approved 

l) The Council Tax Reduction Scheme included within Appendix 14 
of the report, for adoption by Full Council on 4 March 2021, ready 
for implementation from 1 April 2021 be endorsed 

m) The continuation of the Council Tax Reduction Hardship 
Assistance Policy, including an addendum for 2021/22, contained 
within Appendix 14 of the report be approved by Cabinet 

n) The revenue implications of the medium term capital programme 
for the period 2020/21 – 2023/24 set out in the Capital Strategy and 
Programme reports also included in the agenda pack be approved 

o)  That authority be delegated to the Director: Finance & Human 
Resources, after consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Governance, to action any virements required 
following the final allocation of the Dedicated Schools Grant and 
other related Grants and following completion of NNDR1 and final 
estimates of Business Rates Income as long as they are within the 
budget and policy framework 

p) The allocation of £9.65m from the Regeneration and Investment 
Fund to support the Property Investment Portfolio’s Growth Fund 
be approved and that authority be delegated to the Director: 
Prosperity and Investment, after consultation with the Director: 
Finance & HR and the Cabinet Member for Finance & Governance 
to consider business cases through this fund 

q) The temporary re-purposing of £3m of the capital borrowing 
approved for Nuplace, to finance the acquisition and 
refurbishment of accommodation for vulnerable groups by the 
Council, with authority delegated to Director: Housing, 
Employment & Infrastructure after consultation with the Cabinet 
Member: Economy, Housing, Transport & Infrastructure be 
approved 

r) That authority be delegated to the Executive Director: Adult Social 
Care, Health Integration  & Wellbeing after consultation with the 
Cabinet Member: Health & Social Care, to enter into the 
appropriate Section 256 and Section 75 Agreements under the 
NHS Act 2006 (as amended) 

s) That the Director: Policy & Governance be authorised to execute 
all necessary contact documentation including the affixing of the 
common seal of the council as appropriate to enable the council 
to enter into appropriate Section 256 and Section 75 Agreements 
under the NHS Act 2006. 

t) The option to extend the IGMT loan repayment period as outlined 
in section 27.1 of the report be approved, with terms delegated to 
the Director: Finance & HR and the Director: Prosperity & 
Investment after consultation with the Cabinet Member: Finance & 
Governance 

u) The suite of service & financial planning reports as the Council’s 
Efficiency Strategy for 2021/22, including the summary document 
at Appendix 16 of the report, to enable new capital receipts 
generated in the six year period starting 1 April 2016 to be used to 

Page 11



 

 

fund the revenue costs of reform as assumed throughout the 
reports be approved 

v) The initial projections for the potential budget gap through to 
2023/24 be noted and to start work in order to identify options for 
how this could potentially be bridged.  

w) That authority be delegated to the Director: Finance & HR after 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance & Governance 
to amend the use of balances in 2021/22 to accommodate any 
difference in funding between that currently assumed and the final 
grant allocations, once all final outstanding grant allocations are 
received 

x) The Pay Policy for 2021/22 included as Annex 2 of Appendix 15 of 
the report be approved 

 
(ii) 2021/22 Capital Strategy  
 
 The capital strategy for 2021/22 be approved 
 
(iii) Capital Programme 
 

a) that the report and associated capital estimates for 2020/21 and 
2021/22 to 2023/24, which incorporates the Capital Programme 
(Annex I), the Planned Building Maintenance Programme (Annex 
II) and the two year Highways and Transport capital investment 
programme (Annex III) be approved; 

b) that the following delegations, in line with the approved budgets 
and any variations or changes to schemes in these programmes 
which must remain within overall approved budgets, after 
consultation with the appropriate Cabinet Members be approved 
 
i) that the Director: Prosperity & Investment be authorised to 

deliver the planned programme of works within the ‘Asset 
Management Plan’ and Planned Building Maintenance 
Programme (Annex II)  

ii) that the Director: Neighbourhood and Enforcement Services 
be authorised to deliver the Highways and Transport Capital 
Investment Programme 

iii) that the Director: Communities, Customer and Commercial 
Services be authorised to allocate the block approvals for 
climate change initiatives  

 
(ii) 2021/22 Investment Strategy  

 
that the Investment Strategy for 2021/22 be approved; 

 
 

(v) Treasury Management Strategy and Update 2020/21 
 

a) The treasury management activities for the first half year be 
noted 

Page 12



 

 

b) The Treasury Management Policy Statement (Appendix A of 
the report) be noted 

c) that the Treasury Strategy, including the Annual Investment 
Strategy for 2021/22 together with the associated treasury 
Prudential Indicators and the Minimum Revenue Provision 
Statement, which will apply from 2020/21 onwards be 
approved; 

 
(vi) 2021/22 Prudential Indicators 
 

that the prudential indicators proposed in the report be approved. 
 
 
CAB-51 Procurement Update 
 
Key Decision identified as Procurement Update in the Notice of Key 
Decisions published on 20 January 2021.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Council Finance and Governance presented the 
procurement update report. The report highlighted the work of officers in 
relation to the Procurement Policy Notice and supplier relief throughout the 
COVID pandemic. The report outlined changes to public procurement rules 
following the UKs exit from the European Union.  
 
The Leader of the Conservative Group asked if the proposed procurement of 
fleet buses would be hybrid or electric vehicles, it was confirmed that these 
were being looked into, however, the Council needed to ensure that the 
vehicles procured functioned correctly and met the needs of the service.  
 
RESOLVED that: 
 

a) The procurement updates in this report be noted 
b) The Procurement Intentions Document (Attached as Appendix A 

to the report) be noted 
 
CAB-52 Creating a Better Borough - The Telford Land Deal 
 
The Cabinet Member: Economy, Housing, Transport & Infrastructure 
presented the report of the Director: Prosperity and Investment. The report set 
out the achievements of the Telford Land Deal, which delivered local jobs and 
created growth in the Borough.  
 
The Council entered into a 10 year land deal with Homes England in April 
2015. The Deal had now been in place for 5 years and had seen the 
development of: 

 24 new commercial sites 

 14 sites for residential development delivering 753 new homes 

 Enabled 1389 new jobs.  

 Cumulatively had brought forward 23 hectares of brownfield land for 
development 

Page 13



 

 

 Delivered gross sales income of £31.4m 

 Attracted private sector investment of over £254m. 

 The developments would generate business rates of c £2.5m and 
council tax of c £0.94m.  

 
Cabinet Members praised the Land Deal as a success story, bringing jobs and 
homes into the Borough.  
 
The Leader of the Conservative Group stated that, due to the economic 
uncertainties around Brexit and the pandemic, the Council should tread 
cautiously to ensure the units were not a liability. It was noted that there was a 
significant level of demand for units and that a mix of units were being brought 
forward.  
 
RESOLVED that the outcomes achieved since the Land Deal 
commenced as set out in section 4 of the report be noted 
 
CAB-53 Creating a Better Borough - The Telford Growth Fund 
 
The Cabinet Member: Neighbourhood, Commercial Services and 
Regeneration presented the report of the Director: Prosperity and Investment. 
The report outlined the achievements of the Council’s Growth Fund 
investments, supporting economic growth. 
 
The fund supported a range of developments, including Southwater and 
companies at Hortonwood West and T54. Cumulatively, the Fund had 
delivered a gross return of 7.2%, 4.6% after borrowing, with over 50% linked 
to long term lettings of up to 15 years. The Fund was supporting the delivery 
of employment space at Ni-Park in Newport.  
 
RESOLVED that: 
 

a) The outcomes of the Growth Fund investments to date as set out 
in section 4 of this report be noted 

b) the allocation of £9.65m from the Growth Fund and Regeneration 
and Investment Fund to support the developments set out at 
paragraph 6.0 of the report be noted and authority be delegated to 
the Director: Prosperity & Investment, in consultation with the 
Director: Finance & HR and the Cabinet Member: Council Finance 
& Governance, to consider business cases through the Fund 

 
CAB-54 Telford & Wrekin Safer Communities Programme 
 
The Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Enforcement, Community Safety 
and Customer Services presented the report of the Director: Neighbourhood & 
Enforcement Services. The report outlined the proposed £1.5m investment 
into the Safer Communities programme, of which £1m would be allocated 
from the Council, with the Police and Crime Commissioner contributing a 
further £500,000. 
 

Page 14



 

 

The programme sought to address the root cause of crime. There would be an 
increase in the number of Neighbourhood Enforcement Officers, and the 
number of police officers in the borough had increased by 60 since 2016. The 
programme run for two years from April 2021, however, it was envisaged that 
engagement and monitoring would continue into future years.  
 
Members welcomed the report.  
 
RESOLVED that: 
 

a) the approach and investment in the new Telford & Wrekin Safer 
Communities programme as outlined in the report be endorsed. 

b) authority be delegated to the Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member 
for Enforcement, Community Safety & Customer Services, in 
consultation with the Director: Neighbourhood & Enforcement 
Services to approve the areas identified following the data review 
to benefit from the Safer Communities investment.  

c) Authority be delegated to the Deputy Leader & Cabinet Member 
for Enforcement, Community Safety & Customer Services in 
consultation with the Director: Neighbourhood and Enforcement 
Services to finalise the series of social measures that will help to 
monitor and evaluate the impact of the Safer Communities 
investment programme.  

 
CAB-55 Safer, Cleaner Neighbourhoods Through Appropriate Use Of 

Our Enforcement Powers 
 
Key Decision identified as Safer, Cleaner Neighbourhoods Through 
Appropriate Use of Our Enforcement Powers in the Notice of Key 
Decisions published on 9 December 2020. 
 
The Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Enforcement, Community Safety 
and Customer Services presented the report of the Director: Neighbourhood & 
Enforcement Services. The report highlighted the enforcement duties fulfilled 
by the Council spanning a number of services.  
 
Civil Parking Enforcement had been in place in the Borough for one year. The 
Council had suspended parking enforcement during the first national 
lockdown, in response to government guidance, CPE had resumed with the 
easing of restrictions. There had been over 500 informal warnings given and 
2565 penalty charge notices issued. The enforcement team had engaged with 
Town and Parish Councils to create Community Action Teams to expand 
enforcement to a wider range of issues.  
 
The report summarised the proposed next steps, which included the 
commencement of the Community Action Teams from April 2021 to address 
areas of specific concern and a fly tipping strategy. 
 
RESOLVED that: 
 

Page 15



 

 

a) the steps taken and the results of the first full year of Civil Parking 
Enforcement from 31 January 2020 be noted 

b) the success of enforcement activity undertaken in 2020 be noted 
and the new areas of focus proposed for 2021 as featured in 
section 11 of the report be endorsed 

c) authority be delegated to the Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member 
for Enforcement, Community Safety and Customer Service, in 
consultation with the Director: Neighbourhood & Environmental 
Services, to approve and adopt a new Fly Tipping Strategy.  

 
CAB-56 Draft Learning Disability Strategy 
 
Key Decision identified as Draft Learning Disability Strategy in the Notice 
of Key Decisions published on 9 December 2020. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social Care presented the report of 
the Director: Adult Social Care. During 2020, the Council had undertaken a 
series of engagement exercises to co-develop a new Learning Disability 
Strategy for the next 5 years. The draft strategy had been informed by service 
users, their families and carers and professionals. The report provided an 
overview of the draft strategy, as well as the proposed consultation questions.  
 
Members welcomed the report.  
 
RESOLVED that: 
 

a) the content of the report and appendices be noted 
b) the consultation on the draft Learning Disability Strategy be 

endorsed and approved. 
 
The meeting ended at 11.25 am 
 
Signed for the purposes of the Decision Notices 

 
Anthea Lowe 
Associate Director: Policy & Governance 
Date:  Wednesday, 24 FEBRUARY 2021 
 

 
Signed  

 
Date: 

 
Thursday, 18 March 2021 

Page 16



1 
 

TELFORD & WREKIN COUNCIL 
 
CABINET – 18th March 2021 
 
TELFORD & WREKIN’S HOUSING STRATEGY 2020-25 – RESPONSE TO CONSULTATION 
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF HOUSING, EMPLOYMENT & INFRASTRUTURE 
 
LEAD CABINET MEMBER – CLLR DAVID WRIGHT 

 
 
PART A) – SUMMARY REPORT 
 
1. SUMMARY OF MAIN PROPOSALS 
 
1.1 The Council’s draft Housing Strategy, 2020-25 was approved by Cabinet in June 2020.  This 

is an overarching Strategy which sets out the Council’s commitment to work with partners 

and communities to ensure every resident has a safe and affordable home.  It establishes 3 

key objectives:- 

 

 To create sustainable, accessible, affordable and integrated communities 

 To make the BEST use of our existing homes 

 To provide homes to support and empower our most vulnerable people 

1.2 The Strategy sets out a series of actions and priorities to guide delivery, some of which will 

be implemented by the Council through the Local Plan Review, and through new investment 

into delivering further homes via Nuplace, our Better Homes for All Programme, our 

commitment to No Return to Rough Sleeping and new initiatives including our Safer and 

Stronger Communities programme.    

1.3 The Strategy also sets out priorities for our partners and engagement through the 

consultation has contributed to the new Allocation Policy being presented to Cabinet 

alongside this Report, and a commitment to work with us on delivering the priorities in our 

Specialist & Supported Accommodation Strategy.   

1.4 A new Affordable Warmth Strategy and a new Empty Properties Strategy are to be presented 

to Cabinet and will be key enablers in delivering some of our strategic housing objectives. 

1.5 The importance of a decent home as the foundation for people’s lives has become even 

more apparent during the Covid-19 crisis.  During this time we have seen many more 

households seek the Council’s support as they face homelessness following the loss of 

employment or family breakdown or challenges with the condition of their homes.  Under our 

commitment to ‘No Return to Rough Sleeping,’ since March 2020 we have accommodated 

c.400 people who were faced with rough sleeping and prevented a further 370 from reaching 

this point.   

Our Housing Strategy is a key element of how we will continue to respond to housing needs 

across our Borough to ensure we futureproof and build resilience into our communities.  

1.6 The draft Housing Strategy was subject to a ten week period of consultation in 2020 involving 

partners, stakeholders and the community.  Overall there was strong support for the draft 

Strategy.  A range of comments were received and a number of themes have emerged.   

They include:  

 

 New house building and infrastructure 

 Existing homes 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



2 
 

 Affordable homes 

 The housing needs of older, disabled and vulnerable people 

 Green spaces and ecology 

 Climate Change  

 The report provides an initial response to these themes, highlighting actions already taken 
and identifies how others will be addressed further over the life of strategy.    

 
1.7 In the light of the consultation a number of amendments have been made to the Strategy 

including 

 

 To acknowledge the key themes raised through the consultation process 

 To reflect the impact of the Covid-19 Pandemic 

 To set out arrangements for continued partnership working and consultation to support 

the delivery of this Strategy 

 

1.8 It is proposed to now adopt the amended Housing Strategy (Appendix A) and to bring an 

annual report to Cabinet setting out progress in delivery against the objectives. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS  
 

 
2.1 That Cabinet note the outcome and response to the consultation process in relation 

to the draft Housing Strategy.  
 
2.2 That Cabinet approve the final version of the Housing Strategy. 
 
2.3 That Cabinet receive an annual progress report on the implementation of the Housing 

Strategy.  
 

 
3. SUMMARY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  
 

COMMUNITY IMPACT Do these proposals contribute to specific Co-Operative Council 
priority objective(s)? 

Yes  Every child, young person and adult lives well in their 

community 

 All neighbourhoods are a great place to live 

 The natural environment is protected and the Council 

is taking a leading role in tackling the climate 

emergency. 

Will the proposals impact on specific groups of people? 

Yes Everyone living, or seeking to live, in the borough 

TARGET 
COMPLETION/DELIVERY 
DATE 

Subject to approval the draft Strategy will be adopted.  

FINANCIAL/VALUE FOR 
MONEY IMPACT 

Yes/No  This Housing Strategy currently encompasses a number 
of actions identified within its supporting strategies and 
policies that have a range of financial implications that are 
being met from within existing resources.  
 
The Strategy will allow the Council to continue to make 
the most effective use of its own resources and seek to 

Page 18



3 
 

attract external funding where possible. It will also 
influence the funding and investment decisions of others. 
This will help address a wide range of housing needs but 
by the provision of appropriate and affordable housing will 
also benefit all elements of the community through a 
number of improved outcomes, consequential cost 
benefits for the Council and wider public sector may arise.  
 

- As the Council continues to develop actions and 

responses to themes emerging from consultation and any 

related plans e.g. Local Plan Review, Climate Change 

Action Plan, further detailed work to assess financial 

implications will be required. Many of these may be 

addressed through existing resources but any significant 

financial implications identified will be reported through 

future financial management reports to Cabinet and 

accommodated within future service and financial planning 

strategies. 

TAS 11.2.21 

LEGAL ISSUES No  There is no legal requirement for the Council to have a 
Housing Strategy, the previous duty being removed by the 
Deregulation Act 2015. 
 
However, preparation of such a strategy is deemed as 
good practice serving as a useful policy document setting 
out the Council’s aims, objectives and intended outcomes 
in respect of all housing matters. 
 
There are no other legal implications 
 

OTHER IMPACTS, RISKS & 
OPPORTUNITIES 

Yes/No  The Council’s final Housing Strategy will enable the 
Council to work with together partners, the community and 
other stakeholders to address the housing needs of the 
borough. 
 

IMPACT ON SPECIFIC 
WARDS 

No Borough-wide impact 

 
PART B) – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
4.      INFORMATION 

 
4.1 On 18 June 2020 The Cabinet approved the Council’s draft Housing Strategy, 2020-25 for 

consultation.  This consultation took place over a ten week period between 22 June and 29 

August 2020. 

4.2 The Council’s Housing Strategy is high level and overarching and is an essential part of 

driving the future of housing in the Borough.  It sets out how the Council will focus its efforts 

to ensure that there is suitable housing for all, and in particular the most vulnerable.  It sits 

alongside other key documents including the Telford & Wrekin Local Plan, the Economic 

Development Strategy and Climate Change Action Plan.  It also provides a framework for 

supporting strategies including Homelessness, Affordable Warmth, Empty Properties, Private 

Sector Housing and Supported & Specialist Housing which will develop detailed actions and 

drive delivery of the overarching objectives.  It also sets the context for the delivery of 

Page 19



4 
 

development directly by the Council and its wholly owned housing company, Nuplace and to 

guide development delivered by developers, Registered Providers (Housing Associations).   

 

4.3 Consultation on The Strategy was launched through the Council’s main communication 

channels, including social media (Facebook and Twitter).  This was accompanied by a 

number of video messages from the Cabinet Lead for Housing, highlighting its main priorities 

and encouraging involvement.  

4.4  The Strategy and invitation to consult was also sent to c.100 stakeholders including national 
organisations, local representative bodies, commercial and social housing providers, 
voluntary organisations and Parish & Town Councils:  

 
4.5 The Housing Strategy consultation has generated a considerable level of interest and wide 

range of comments both general and specific.  As the consultation used a series of open 
questions a large volume and depth of feedback has been generated.  This is valuable and 
has opened up a number of new areas of discussion with partners and the Council is 
continuing to follow up these issues in its ongoing engagement with partners and the local 
community.  This has and will inform approaches to investment and policy development e.g. 
in the Local Plan and Climate Change Action Plan.  

 
4.6 Overall there was a high level of support for the Council’s draft Housing Strategy including 

its objectives, priorities and also its approach to various housing issues facing the borough.  
Comments included: 

 
 a commitment to working with the authority on housing issues  

 welcoming the long term approach 

 the anticipation of strong action and clear outcomes 

 commending the consultation process itself   

4.7 More specifically, a number of key themes have emerged strongly from the consultation.  
These reflect partners’ and communities’ interests, priorities and concerns.  They include:  

 
 New house building and infrastructure 

 Existing homes 

 Affordable homes 

 The housing needs of older, disabled and vulnerable people 

 Green spaces and ecology 

 Climate Change  

 These themes are explored in more detail together with information on how the Council is 
responding below: 

 
New house building and infrastructure 

 
4.8 Observations raised during the consultation included:  
 

 Ensuring that the right number of new homes are provided to meet the needs of the 

borough 

 Achieving good space standards and quality in new build housing  

 The need to provide the necessary infrastructure and services to complement these new 

homes. 

 
 
 
 

Page 20



5 
 

How we’re responding to this feedback: 

 

 The review of the Local Plan will support new housing and employment land allocations 

ensuring a balanced supply of homes and jobs.   

 The review will also consider a revised, strengthened policy approach to address design, 

space standards, housing mix and private amenity space (gardens).  

 Through Nuplace the Council is set to deliver over 700 homes for rent including 

specialist accommodation, setting a standard for other development  

 The Council will continue to collect and invest contributions from developers to help 

provide new infrastructure and services to meet local needs, for example, a £3.2 million 

investment from the Donnington Wood Way development, and a two year £31 million 

investment programme in local schools.  

 Delivering a £50m highway investment programme to address congestion pinch points 

and increase capacity to support new development 

 Successfully accessing external funding including over £40m from Marches LEP to 

deliver new highway and enabling infrastructure to support development 

 The Local Plan review will include an Infrastructure Plan setting out future infrastructure 

requirements including for schools, health and transport to match areas of potential 

growth.   

 Through Nuplace’s Southwater Way scheme and our plans for Station Quarter 

introducing mixed tenure town centre living to the Telford Centre 

 Existing housing 
 
4.9    The consultation process raised a number of issues about the quality and condition of 

existing homes in the borough, particularly in certain parts of the borough including South 
Telford. 

 
How we’re responding to this feedback: 

 

 Through the Council’s Better Homes for All project continuing to work with landlords to 

promote good management, addressing unlicensed HMO’s with 244 now licensed 

across the borough and using our enforcement powers to pursue landlords to raise 

standards or face prosecution.  

 Delivering the Brookside Safer Streets project with the Police investing £550k into 

addressing crime and anti-social behaviour including tackling rogue landlords  

 Investing a further £1.5m into a new Safer & Stronger communities programme with 

targeted work around housing conditions, empty properties and the private rented sector 

as part of the development of proposed new neighbourhood plans 

 Through Nuplace the Council will acquire and refurbish up to 100 existing homes across 

the borough, including the New Town estates.  This will also help to raise physical and 

management standards.   

 Launching our Report an Empty mailbox with a new Empty Property Strategy to be 

launched setting out a series of interventions and incentives to address the c.1725 

empty properties targeting those problem properties that blight communities 

 Continuing to address stalled housing sites across the Borough including a commitment 

of £2m investment by the Council to unlock sites, and attracting funding from the West 

Midlands Combined Authority 

 Bringing forward a new Private Sector Housing Strategy in the Autumn which will include 

initiatives to incentivise property care including home maintenance advice developed on 

a community basis.  

Page 21



6 
 

 Working with partners to extend the scope of Energy Company Obligation (ECO) funding 

to support a wider number of residents to access funding for first time central heating, 

boiler repairs and replacement white goods addressing fuel poverty 

 Bidding for LAD2 funding to deliver further targeted interventions in older Estates to 

address fuel poverty. 

 Lobbying Government for support and investment into a programme of estate renewal 

addressing the legacy of the New Town 

 Including proposals in the review of the Local Plan for a new policy framework which will 

enable new, quality development in the former New Town Estates.  

  
  Affordable housing 
 
4.10 Consultees highlighted the need for more homes that were affordable (of all types and sizes) 

across the borough. The needs of a number of groups were identified including families, 
single households and young people 

 
How we’re responding to this feedback: 

 

 The Council is continuing to work with developers, housing associations and Homes 

England to provide affordable homes that meet the needs of the borough. 
 Maximising our use of S106 powers and commuted sums to deliver more affordable and 

specialist homes. 
 We will consult on a new Housing Allocations Policy setting out our priorities for our 

Registered Provider partners to consider in allocating their homes. 
 Working with local housing providers to strengthen nomination arrangements for 

affordable homes to ensure that more local people in greatest housing need can access 

their accommodation   
 Following commitment of a further £48m the Council’s wholly owned company - Nuplace 

– is delivering an increased proportion of new rented homes that are affordable and 

delivering homes that are wheel chair adapted and meet specialist needs.  
 The review of the Local Plan includes policy proposals to help increase the supply of 

affordable homes for rent and shared ownership and to deliver a greater mix of housing 

on development sites in order to meet a wide range of needs including families, single 

people, older people and those who need specialist and supported housing.  

Older, disabled and vulnerable people 
 
4.11 Other observations were made about the housing needs of the growing number of older, 

disabled and vulnerable people in the borough. 
 

How we’re responding to this feedback: 

 

 By implementing our new Supported & Specialist Housing Strategy as approved by 

Cabinet in June 2020 

 By updating our Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy. 

 Accommodating c.400 people roughsleeping or faced with roughsleeping under our 

commitment to ‘no return to roughsleeping’ and supporting over  370 to find long term 

accommodation  

 Working with our housing providers to acquire and provide more move on 

accommodation for those coming to us homeless or threatened with homelessness. 

 Successfully accessing over £1m in funding to develop our Housing First model. 

Page 22



7 
 

 Delivering specialist and wheel chair accessible homes through Nuplace with our partner 

development at Donnington set to include new Extracare  

 Actively working with providers to continue to increase the provision of specialist, 

supported and more accessible homes.  This will include three new Extra care housing 

schemes  

 Enabling people to remain safe and well in their existing homes for as long as possible 

through the provision of aids, adaptations and assistive technology.   

 Investing over c.£3m pa  through Disability Facility Grants and Wellbeing grants 

supporting over 350 people per annum, of all ages, to remain living independently at 

home 

 The development of Supplementary Planning Guidance to promote the provision of new 

specialist, accessible & adaptable and wheelchair housing across all tenures. 

 Green spaces and Ecology 

4.12 Consultees stressed that delivering new housing development should not threaten Telford & 

Wrekin’s important green spaces and ecology. 

How we’re responding to this feedback: 

 
 Climate Change 

4.13 The consultation highlighted the vital importance of responding to the challenge of climate 
change. 

 
 How we are responding to this feedback: 
 

 The review of the Local Plan includes proposals that actively address  

climate change including: 

 The introduction of electric vehicle charging infrastructure across the 

borough 

 support for renewable energy solutions in the delivery of new 

developments 

 design measures that can help positively address climate change 

 a new policy approach to support sustainable travel including investment 

in walking, cycling and public transport infrastructure. 

 A key priority for the Local Plan review is the protection and enhancement of green 

spaces in the borough. The review of the Local Plan Issues & Options has proposed 

new policies to address : 

 

 biodiversity net gain where developers have to provide enhancements to 

greenspace/ecology either on site or via off site contributions 

 A further programme and adoption of Local Nature Reserves and Green 

Guarantee sites 

 The creation of new areas of public open space and ecological value 

 
 The Council’s Nuplace development programme will deliver a further 320 new 

homes on over 18 acres of brownfield land.  This will include a number of 

regeneration projects which will protect and utilise important borough assets, e.g. the 

former New College (Wellington), The Gower (St Georges). 

 

Page 23



8 
 

 
 The Council has sought site submissions for renewable energy 

developments as part of the Local Plan review ‘call for sites;   

 The next phase of Nuplace developments will deliver, wherever possible, 

homes which include carbon reduction measures, achieve higher 

environmental performance and meet increased accessibility standards. 

 As part of the Council’s Climate Change Action Plan we will develop plans for 

a large scale retrofit programme to address insulation and a reduction in 

reliance on fossil fuels alongside options for a group buying scheme for 

residents to access photo voltaic and battery storage measures 

 
Next Steps 

4.14  While the consultation has identified some areas for the Council and partners to consider 

further in implementing the Housing Strategy, overall endorsement has been given to the 

approach, priorities and objectives of the document.  It is therefore proposed to make only 

minor changes to the Strategy and to adopt this as the overarching vision for housing and 

how we will work with partners and stakeholders over the next 4 years.  The changes that 

are proposed to be made include: 

 To acknowledge the key themes raised through the consultation process 

 To reflect the impact of the Covid-19 Pandemic 

 To set out arrangements for continued partnership working in the delivery of this Strategy 

 

4.15 To ensure the delivery of the Strategy and that it is influencing and driving the changes 

needed we will :- 

 Build on the responses to the consultation continuing to work with stakeholders and 

partners to further address their comments and areas of joint working identified  

 Develop our engagement directly with communities including through the Safer/Stronger 

Communities Programme, with T&PC, representative organisations including AgeUK, 

community organisations and through new resident engagement mechanisms including the 

Community Panel  

 Continuing to develop actions to deliver the objectives set out in the Strategy and to 

address the themes emerging from the consultation including via the Local Plan Review, 

Climate Change Action Plan and Council investment programmes 

 Refresh the Borough Housing Partnership as a mechanism to work with the Council to 

develop housing strategy and support delivery 

 Bring an Annual Report to Cabinet setting out what has been delivered and where new 

actions have been identified      

5. IMPACT ASSESSMENT – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
 No additional comments 

 
6. PREVIOUS MINUTES -  Cabinet minute CB–6 25 June 2015 
 
7. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 

 Final Housing Strategy, 2020 – 2025 (appended) 

Report prepared by Chris Winter, Investment Strategy & Partnership Officer, Telephone: 
01952 381901. 

Page 24



Telford & Wrekin’s 

Housing Strategy
2020-2025

care and invest

      Our vision 

to protect,

MARCH 2021

Protect, Care and Invest to create a better boroughPage 25



32 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

Foreword

This Strategy is all about the future of housing in Telford & Wrekin.  
A decent place to live is the foundation on which people build their 
lives. If you’ve got a good quality home, then health, employment, 
educational achievement and a happy family life are often much 
easier to obtain. However, we know that financial difficulties and 
some national polices are making things harder for some people. 
As a Council we want to offer local people opportunities and 
choices over where they live, in homes that are of good quality and 
affordable. We must also future-proof our homes by building, or 
improving these, to the best possible physical, accessibility and 
environmental standards. Whether owned or rented, we believe 
strongly that all types and tenures of home are of equal value. 

The new Housing Strategy was launched and consulted on last summer during the Covid-crisis. The 
importance of a decent home as the foundation for people’s lives has become even more apparent in a 
pandemic. During this time we have seen many more households seek the Council’s support as they face 
homelessness following the loss of employment or family breakdown or challenges with the condition of 
their homes. Our Housing Strategy is a key element of how we will respond and continue to drive changes 
through related policies, strategies and work with stakeholders to ensure we futureproof and build resilience 
into our communities 

Housing is one of the Council’s priorities, set out in our Community Strategy – ‘Our programme to protect, 
care and invest to create a better borough’. This Housing Strategy is an essential part of that programme. 
It also complements other key documents, such as the Telford & Wrekin Local Plan and Climate Change 
Strategy, and provides a framework for other supporting strategies. A lot has been achieved in housing but 
we still have twin challenges to address, at a complex and changing time. These challenges are both about 
the homes that will be built and those that we have already.   

Telford & Wrekin is a focus for housing growth – this brings benefits to the borough, helps to strengthen 
our local economy and creates opportunities. Over the last five years the Council has worked with Homes 
England and local housing association partners to achieve a step change in the delivery of new affordable 
homes in the borough.  

However, losses to the affordable sector over the last five years means that there has only been a small 
overall increase. We need to continue to address the big shortage of affordable homes and ensure that there 
is an increase in supply of truly affordable homes.

The borough’s homes are a major asset. While new housing is important, 80% of the homes that we will 
have in 20 years’ time are here now. We need to make sure that the homes we already have are as good as 
the best of the new ones that are being built today.

1

Duce Drive, Dawley

P
age 26



54 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

Telford – a third generation new town – is now over 
50 years old. Some of the first new homes built by 
the former Telford Development Corporation – now in 
diverse ownership - are in urgent need of investment, 
as part of a wider regeneration programme.  The 
Council will lead a multi-sector Taskforce to help 
to understand what is needed and what can be 
done. Given the scale of the issue, it will also seek 
to influence government and investors to support its 
plans.  

It is hard to believe that homelessness and rough 
sleeping is still an issue today. The Council is 
working closely with its local partners to help prevent 
and tackle all types of homelessness. This has 
included meeting its new increased responsibilities 
under the Homelessness Reduction Act and our 
commitment to ‘no return to roughsleeping. 

Working with partners, the Council has been able to 
attract a range of additional funding to help reduce 
homelessness and rough sleeping, although much 
of this is currently time limited. It is also working with 
local housing providers to help homeless people to 
access suitable homes and to provide the support 
needed to help sustain them.   

Housing plays a huge role, alongside effective care 
and support services, in helping to meet the needs 
of older, disabled and vulnerable people. As a result 
of its Joint Investment Programme, over more than 
ten years, the borough currently has one of the best 
levels of extra care housing provision in the country.  
There is also a large network of traditional sheltered 
housing and level access homes. Similarly the 
local stock of supported and specialist homes has 
increased by 65% over the last five years. Through 
our new Specialist & Supported Accommodation 
Strategy we need to keep pace with need and 
continue to increase supply, widen choice in all 
tenures and ensure that we make the best use of 
this valuable resource. 

In the case of older people, only around 5% will live 
in specialist or supported housing. To reflect this, 
the Council is investing over £2 million every year 
in helping to make existing homes more suitable 
for their needs, complementing other sources of 
funding.  

An increasing proportion of the borough’s homes are 
part of the private rented sector, which is now almost 
as big as the social housing sector.  A growing 
number of people – at all stages of their life – are 
now living in a home that is rented privately.  

The Council is working proactively with the best 
private landlords and lettings agents in order to 
promote the best standards possible and is also 
delivering high quality rental properties through its 
housing company, Nuplace Ltd. Though its ‘Better 
Homes for All’ programme it is also working with 
landlords who are not performing as well. 

In some of the general housing in the borough – both 
older and not so old – there are real concerns about 
quality and condition, which can impact negatively 
on residents and areas. The Council will continue 
to seek external funding and investigate alternative 
approaches to begin to address these issues. 

As part of the preparation of the new Strategy I 
encouraged you to give me your views as part of a 
consultation. I was delighted with the number and 
quality of responses and the commitment to work 
together to tackle our housing challenges. Thank you 
for your fantastic support for the Strategy and the 
constructive comments provided. A number of really 
important issues and challenges were highlighted, 
including: 

•  New homes & infrastructure

•  Existing homes 

•  Affordable homes

•  Older, disabled & vulnerable people

•  Green spaces & ecology

•  Climate change

We value all of these comments and will try to reflect 
these as we deliver and monitor this Strategy. 

Councillor David Wright 

Cabinet Lead Member for Housing,  
Transport & Infrastructure 

If you’ve got a good quality home, 
then health, employment, educational 
achievement and a happy family life are 
often much easier to obtain.

Launch of Snedshill Phase 2

P
age 27



76 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

Contents

Executive Summary  8-10

Introduction 12-17

Our Housing Role 14

Our Housing Achievements 14

Why We Have a Strategy 16

Housing Context 18-21  

 The National Picture 19

The Local Picture  19

 

Our Objectives

Objective 1: To create sustainable, accessible,  24-29

affordable and integrated communities 

Objective 2: To make the BEST use of our existing homes 30-33

Objective 3: To provide homes to support and empower  34-39

our most vulnerable people

 

Achieving our Strategy 40-43

Our offer to Stakeholders and Residents  40

Implementation                                       42 

Next Steps 42

Clock Tower Road, Wrockwardine Wood

P
age 28



98 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

The right balance of good quality homes, which are affordable, sustainable and provide 
variety, choice and accessibility, are essential to the economic prosperity, health and well-
being of the people in our borough. Housing is a key theme within the Council’s high level 
vision for the borough as set out its Community Plan ‘Our programme to Protect, Care and 
Invest to create a better borough, 2020 onwards’. 

Executive Summary 

Whilst the Council transferred its own housing 
stock to local housing associations in 1999, as the 
housing authority for the borough, it retains a vital 
role in delivering local and national housing policy 
and ensuring sufficient homes for, all especially 
the most vulnerable. In this way the Council 
has delivered many significant positive housing 
outcomes including; securing housing delivery 
that directly responds to housing need, supporting 
people to access this housing and helping to 
raise standards in terms of the condition and 
management of existing homes.  

Despite this, and in line with other parts of the 
Country, the Borough still lacks sufficient suitable 
homes, some of these homes are unaffordable 
and others are unsuitable. In this context, and in 
accordance with the Council’s aspiration to work 
with partners and the community to achieve a 
carbon neutral borough by 2030, the Council’s 
Housing Strategy 2020-25 for the borough 
identifies the following three key objectives: 

Objective 1
To create sustainable, accessible, affordable 
and integrated communities

• Review the Council’s long term development 
plan for the borough - the Telford & Wrekin 
Local Plan – to help make Telford & Wrekin a 
great place to live.

• Promote high standards in all new build homes 
and ensure that they contribute positively 
towards the Council’s climate change 
commitments. 

• Work with our partners to achieve a real net 
gain in the number of truly affordable homes 
available.

• Continue to provide more new sustainable 
homes through Nuplace and examine new 
opportunities for the Council to be a direct 
home provider.

Objective 2
To make the BEST use of our existing homes

• Support the positive redevelopment and 
improvement of existing homes to address 
climate change and reduce fuel poverty.

• Continue to work to bring empty homes back 
into use.

• Create a new focus on housing renewal in the 
borough, starting with some of the earliest new 
town housing estates to deliver sustainable, 
cohesive communities.

• Champion high standards in the private 
rented sector, actively addressing the worst 
conditions through the application of our Better 
Homes for All programme whilst providing a 
strong role model through Nuplace. 

Objective 3
To provide homes to support and empower our 
most vulnerable people

• Work with our partners to increase the supply 
of specialist and accessible homes for older 
and vulnerable people.

• Help local people, and in particular key 
workers and veterans, to find and sustain the 
homes they need.

• Help people to live in their own homes as 
independently as they can for as long as 
possible.

• Continue to prevent homelessness and work to 
eradicate rough sleeping.

These Objectives will underpin our approach to 
tackling some of the ongoing housing issues faced 
within the Borough in order to ensure that access 
to suitable housing becomes an achievable goal 
for all of our residents.

1

 Our Housing  
Achievements 

Delivering  
1200 new homes 

every year

Delivering  

3oo  

affordable 
homes  

every year

Delivered  

400 
new homes  
for private rent  
through Nuplace Ltd 

Licensed  
more than 

240 HMOs 
through our Better Homes 

for All programme

Increased 
supported 

housing by 65% 
over the last 5 years 

Support over 300 
people per year  

to continue to live 
independently at home 

Provide advice 
and support 
to over 3,000 

people each year 
working to prevent or 
relieve homelessness

Vesey Court, Wellington

P
age 29



1110 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

Objective 1: 
To create sustainable, accessible, 

affordable and integrated communities

Work with agencies to provide 

More homes which  
are affordable

Unlock disused 
brownfield sites  

for the development of affordable 
homes, supporting hundreds of 

jobs in the construction and  
manufacturing sector

Build 200  
NuPlace homes  

owned and run by the Council at 
affordable rates, re-investing into 

local Council services

Through  
NuPlace,  

bring forward more  
brownfield sites to  

Provide more quality 
homes to rent

Objective 2: 
To make the BEST use of our  

existing homes

Invest £1.5million 
into a Safer & Stronger 

Communities Programme 
working with partners and 

residents to support the 
continued regeneration of our 
New Town and existing estates

Take robust action to  

Reduce the number  
of empty and  

unused properties 
including; an extra Council tax 
charge for homes which have 
been empty for 2 years with 

proceeds invested to prevent and 
reduce homelessness

Continue to tackle  

Rogue landlords 
work with good landlords and 

support private tenants by 
continuing to invest in our  

‘Better Homes for All’ 
scheme

Explore ways to  
Support our young 

people to get onto the 
housing ladder

Build a ‘Care  
Leavers Covenant’  

in our Borough which will provide 
care leavers the best start  

to their adult life

Increase the range and 
availability of  

Council owned 
accommodation  

for older residents, including 
adapted living and retirement 

bungalows for over 55s

Work with the voluntary sector to 

Tackle the root causes 
of homelessness

Halve the number  
of people living 

in temporary 
accommodation  

by 2021

Eradicate rough 
sleeping by 2023

Maintain funding to ensure  
there will be an  

Offer of a safe  
and warm bed for 

anyone who needs it  
all year round.

Expand provisions to  

Support our veterans, 
care leavers  
and over 65s  

at home and in the community

Our Council Plan to Protect, Care & Invest
We are committed to ensuring every family has a safe and affordable home. 

Objective 3: 
To provide homes to support and  

empower our most vulnerable people

1

Lightmoor

P
age 30



1312 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

This document will be of interest to a wide 
audience – including investors, developers, 
registered providers, town and parish councils, 
non-statutory and voluntary bodies and local 
residents – in fact anyone who is concerned 
about housing in Telford & Wrekin.

The right balance of good quality homes, which 
are affordable, sustainable and provide variety, 
choice and accessibility, are essential to the 
economic prosperity, health and well-being of 

the people in our borough. Housing is a key 
theme within the Council’s high level vision for 
the borough as set out its Community Plan ‘Our 
programme to Protect, Care and Invest to 
create a better borough, 2020 onwards’. Key 
housing themes from our Community Plan are 
summarised in Figure 1 below. 

The Future of Housing in Telford & Wrekin

This five year Housing Strategy (2020 - 2025), is concerned with all types of housing, tenure 
and housing needs. It sets out our long term vision for housing and the actions that we will 
take, working with our partners and government, to address our housing challenges.

Introduction

Protect, Care 
and Invest

2

A Great Place to Live

Retirement Bungalows

Young People

Homes for Heroes

Care Leavers

Carers

Rough Sleepeer

Homelessness

 Older People

Adaped Living

Independence

Empty and unused properties

Stronger Communities

Partnership

Brownfield Land

Green Spaces

Affordable homes

Direct Development 

(Council and NuPlace)

Regeneration of New 

Town Estates

‘Better Homes for All’

Private Landlords

Carbon Neutral/Sustainable

Figure 1 - Council Priority Plan and Housing Strategy Priorities

Oakengates

P
age 31



1514 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

• Accelerated the delivery of over 750 new 
homes, through our unique ‘Land Deal’ with 
Homes England.

• Increased the number of new affordable 
homes provided every year from 100 to 300, 
through joint working with local housing 
associations and Homes England.  

• Attracted annual housing investment of over 
£5 million from Homes England.

• Delivered almost 400 new homes for rent, 
including some at affordable levels and built 
to accessible & adaptable and wheelchair 
standards, through the Council’s in house 
company, Nuplace Ltd. 

Helped to improve our existing housing stock 

• Promoted better management and 
maintenance standards in private rented 
housing through the Council’s ‘Better Homes 
for All’ initiative which is underpinned by an 
“Educate, Encourage, Enforce” approach. 

• Relaunched our Landlord Accreditation 
Scheme.

• Licenced more than 200 Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (HMOs) with 2 prosecutions to 
address poorly managed HMOs.

• Issued the first Banning Order in England, 
preventing the landlord concerned from 
working in the property industry for up to 5 
years.

• Ensured compliance with more than 400 
enforcement notices to bring properties up to 
standard.

Supported vulnerable people to access good 
quality housing:

• Completed a detailed analysis to understand 
housing needs of vulnerable people.  

• Helped increase the amount of supported 
housing by 65% over the last five years 
including the delivery of seven new extra care 
housing schemes.

• Increased well-being grants from £191k in 
2017/18 to £459k in 2018/19 (in total >£2.16m 
in grants in 18/19).

• Helped around 300 people to continue to live 
independently at home by providing Disabled 
Facilities Grants (DFGs) and other assistance 
every year.

• Implemented a range of initiatives to support 
care leavers in finding move-on homes with 
approved Landlords in accordance with the 
Council’s Care Leaver’s Covenant.  

• Developed a family based supported living 
environment via Shared Lives for 16-17 and 
18-24 Care Leavers.

• Provided advice and support to more than 
3,000 people each year, including almost 400 
who are at risk of being homeless.

• Provided support through the Thrive 
partnership to help prevent homelessness 
and sustain tenancies.

• Implemented the Homelessness Reduction 
Act and advised over 3,300 people to date.

• Provided additional support for 
young homeless clients in temporary 
accommodation.

• Securing funding of over £1m to assist with 
homeless and rough sleepers.

• Launched homelessness fund-raising 
and awareness raising campaign https://
homeless.telford.gov.uk 

• Developed a new rough sleepers register.

Creating 
sustainable, 
accessible, 
affordable and 
integrated 
communities

2

London House, Madeley

In this context, this Strategy seeks to directly 
respond to and address these themes through the 
following key objectives:

• To create sustainable, accessible, affordable 
and integrated communities.

• To make the BEST use of our existing homes.

• To provide homes to support and empower 
our most vulnerable people.

Our Housing Role

Telford & Wrekin Council is a unitary authority 
and takes a proactive, innovative and informed 
approach to meeting local housing needs. Whilst 
the Council transferred its own housing stock to 
local housing associations in 1999, as the housing 
authority for the borough, it retains a vital role in 
delivering local and national housing priorities, 
including:

• Building an evidence base of local housing 
needs and priorities.

• Developing meaningful strategy that 
recognises the diversity of need across 
communities and the impact of housing on 
health, well-being and social cohesion.  

• Ensuring that there are suitable homes for all, 
especially for our most vulnerable residents, 
key workers and veterans.

• Using its housing and planning powers to 
ensure our existing housing stock is fit for 
purpose and new housing developments meet 
local need and contribute positively towards 
our carbon reduction commitments.

• Working as a consumer champion, through the 
use of its regulation and enforcement powers.

• Acting as a strategic commissioner, enabler or 
influencer. 

• Working in partnership with Homes England, 
registered providers, private sector landlords. 
letting agents, developers, and voluntary and 
community groups to achieve successful 
communities.   

• Ensuring that owner occupied and private 
rented housing contributes to building vibrant 
and sustainable communities, by being in 
demand and in good condition.

• Helping our residents to access housing that 
meets their needs in their choice of tenure, and 
making critical links to appropriate support 
services. 

• Directly delivering high quality affordable and 
market rented homes through our own housing 
company, Nuplace Ltd.

Our Housing Achievements

Through our proactive approach to housing we 
have already: 

Helped secure the delivery of high quality new 
homes:

• Adopted a new Local Plan, with a target of 
over 17,000 new homes by 2031.

• Enabled the delivery of 1,200 new homes 
every year (the third best nationally), partly by 
the use of Council land and assets.

Park Lane, Woodside

P
age 32



1716 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

Why we have a Strategy 

Whilst the Council are already delivering positive 
housing outcomes it is still the case that the 
borough does not have enough homes and 
existing housing is unaffordable for some people 
and unsuitable for others. The reasons for this 
include a lack of supply, insufficient investment, 
housing market dynamics and wider social and 
economic factors. 

Through each of our three strategy objectives, 
the Council is committed to ensuring that the 
quality of homes in the borough improves and 
that local people can find a home that meets their 
needs. The Housing Strategy is high-level and 
overarching as set out in Figure 2 and:

• Is closely linked to The Telford & Wrekin 
Local Plan, which sets out the long term 
development vision for the borough as a whole 
(currently under review).  

• Complements a number of other key strategies 
including Economic Development, Better 
Homes for All, Health & Well Being and the 
Council’s carbon reduction commitments.

• Provides the framework for a number of 
supporting strategies and policies including, 
for example, Homelessness, Specialist & 
Supported Accommodation and Private Sector 
Housing.

In this way the authority takes a co-ordinated  
and strategic approach and ensures that the 
Council’s housing functions are delivered in an 
integrated way.

Figure 2 - Telford & Wrekin Strategic Housing Framework

2

Homelessness 
Strategy

Specialist & 
Supported 

Accommodation 
Strategy

Housing 
Allocation Policy  

& Tenancy 
Strategy

Better Homes 
for All

Empty Property 
Strategy

Housing 
Assistance 

Policy

Affordable 
Warmth 
Strategy

The  
Local Plan

HOUSING 
STRATEGY

Economic 
Development 

Strategy 

Health & Well 
Being Strategy

Council Plan 
Our programme to Protect, Care and 

Invest to create a better borough

Malthouse Court, Wellington

Council Vision 
The place of enterprise, innovation  

and partnership

Climate Change 
Strategy

P
age 33



1918 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

The National Picture 

The national policy context for housing is complex 
and changing with key themes summarised 
below:

• There continues to be a very strong emphasis 
on building more new homes across the 
country - this also includes affordable housing, 
particularly for low cost home ownership.  

• A series of planning and housing policy 
measures aimed at all types of provider are 
seeking to increase and speed up new housing 
delivery.  

• New and emerging policies are focussing on 
improving housing design and quality, physical 
accessibility, environmental performance and 
safety.

• The Government has indicated that further 
funding for new affordable homes will be 
provided beyond the end of the current Shared 
Ownership & Affordable Homes Programme in 
March 2021. 

• There continues to be limited national funding 
for housing renewal and improvement, with 
the exception of Disabled Facilities Grants and 
related measures.

• Local councils’ homelessness responsibilities 
have been extended through the 
Homelessness Reduction Act, accompanied 
by some targeted funding.  

• The Welfare Reform changes are continuing, 
however planned changes to the funding of 
specialist housing have not been introduced.  

• A series of measures are to be introduced to 
help protect consumer rights in housing.

 

The Local Picture

Telford & Wrekin is a growing and successful 
borough with a diverse housing market and 
continuing housing needs.

Our Borough

The Borough of Telford & Wrekin is a unitary 
authority located within the West Midlands 
region to the north west of the West Midlands 
conurbation. It includes urban Telford, the market 
town of Newport and a large surrounding rural 
area. The borough is a place of contrasts, a mix 
of urban and rural areas with green open spaces 
alongside contemporary housing developments 
and traditional market towns.  

Part of the borough was designated as ‘Telford 
New Town’ in 1968, partly to meet housing needs 
from the West Midlands conurbation and partly 
to assist in the physical regeneration of former 
mining and industrial areas. From the 1960s to 
the 1970s the town grew rapidly, mainly through 
social rented housing provided by the Telford 
Development Corporation. Following the closure 
of the Development Corporation in the 1980s, 
growth has continued through new housing 
development by private developers and registered 
providers. 

With a population of some 179,900 people, living 
in 76,800 homes (2019), Telford & Wrekin is the 
largest urban area in the region outside the West 
Midlands and North Staffordshire conurbations. 
The borough has a key role as an Urban 
Powerhouse within the Marches Local Enterprise 
Partnership (LEP) and as a competitive inward 
investment destination. Telford & Wrekin has been 
consistently amongst the most rapidly growing 
local authority areas – third by population (+2,051) 
and first by housing (+1,353) (‘Centre for  
Cities, 2021).  

While some parts of Telford & Wrekin appear 
prosperous, there are clear differences across 
the borough with other areas being amongst the 
most disadvantaged nationally – comparable with 
inner cities. 18 areas of the borough (out of 108 
areas) are ranked in the 10% most disadvantaged 
nationally. 26% of the borough’s population live 
in the 20% most disadvantaged areas nationally 
(2019).

Housing ContextTelford  
and Wrekin

With a population of 

some 179,900 people, 

living in circa 78,200 

homes homes, Telford 

& Wrekin is the largest 

urban area in the 

region outside the 

West Midlands and 

North Staffordshire 

conurbations. The 

borough has a key 

role as an Urban 

Powerhouse within 

the Marches Local 

Enterprise Partnership 

and as a competitive 

inward investment 

destination.  

3

Coalport

P
age 34



2120 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

Our People

The borough’s population is projected to rise 
to just under 200,000 (198,800) by 2031 – an 
increase of over 10%. While the borough’s 
population is still comparatively young, it is 
becoming older and more diverse. There are 
currently 31,087 people aged over 65 living in 
the borough (2019). Over half of the population 
increase in the borough to 2031 will be in the over 
65 age group (10,212). As part of this, the 65-84 
age group will rise by 30% (8,372 people) and the 

number aged 85+ will increase by more than half 
(+ 1,840).

10.6% of the borough’s population are classed as 
being from a Black or Minority Ethnic group (BME) 
compared to 20.3% for England as a whole (2011 
Census). Key drivers of change have been new 
migrants and population age structure.

There are an estimated 3,831 UK Armed Forces 
Veterans of working age living in Telford & Wrekin 

More information and sources of our  
population data can be found at  
www.telford.gov.uk/factsandfigures 

Our Housing Market 

The borough’s housing market is highly self - contained, although there are strong links with some 
neighbouring areas.  The borough has a number of separate housing sub markets including urban 
Telford (which itself includes distinctive sub areas), the market town of Newport and a large rural area.

Our 
population  
is growing  
and ageing

179,900 
people 

198,800 projected  
by 2031 

3rd fastest 
growing 

population of 
English cities 

30%  
increase

in 65-84 age group 
by 2031

56%  
increase  

in 85+ population  
by 2031

33% 

households  
with dependent 

children 
 (England 29%)

Many of our residents are vulnerable or in need….

31,000 report a 
health problem  

or disability  
(higher proportion 

than England)

11,100 adults 
18-64 report a 
moderate to 

severe disability

10,400 people 
report bad health 
(higher proportion 

than the  
England rate)

18,000 
unpaid 
carers 

58 
households 

in temporary 
accommodation at 

31st March 2019 

21 rough 
sleepers 

(November 2019)

3

Figure 3: Our borough in summary

Raxter Drive, Snedshill

P
age 35



2322 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

In addition to some 13,000 local authority owned 
homes, there were once around 14,000 social 
homes (mainly on large mono-tenure estates) 
developed by the former Telford Development 
Corporation in the 1960s and 1970s. Much of 
this was built to innovative layouts using non-
traditional construction methods. While some of 
these homes were transferred to the Council in 
the 1980s and then to local housing associations, 
many were sold to their tenants. As a result there 
is now a very diverse pattern of ownership in 
these areas. 

A wide range of national, regional and smaller 
house builders are active in the borough, together 
with a growing number of developing Registered 
Providers and large scale private landlords. The 
number of different home providers in the borough 
in all sectors is continuing to increase. 

House prices in the borough continue to 
increase with the average house price growing 
from £173,075 in Dec 2015 to £181,491 in Dec 
2020; £35,459 less than for the West Midlands 
(£216,950) and £87,659 less than the England 
average (£269,150).

The mix of housing tenures in the borough is 
becoming increasingly similar to the country as a 
whole.  While the proportion of owner-occupied 
homes has fallen, it is still the largest tenure 

in the borough. The number of social homes 
has remained fairly stable, with significant new 
provision offset by various losses. The number of 
homes rented privately has more than doubled 
in the last twenty years and is now close to the 
national average.  

The private rented sector is increasingly becoming 
a key component of our local housing market. 
Between March 2018 and March 2019 alone 
there was a 13% growth in the number of rental 
properties within the Borough with this growth 
being experienced across all property sizes. The 
average monthly rent in Telford and Wrekin for the 
year to September 2020 (£603) remains lower than 
regional (£679) and national (£845) comparators.

The sector caters for a range of different housing 
needs including short term lettings to assist with 
mobility and increasingly provides quality homes 
on a long term basis. The sector is diverse and 
ranges from single property owners to portfolio 
landlords. Most recently there has been a 
growth in large scale private rented provision 
through accommodation funded by institutional 
investment. The Council provides homes for 
private rent through its wholly owned company 
‘Nuplace’. There are also a number of private 
letting agencies in the borough.  

Our Housing Conditions

Telford & Wrekin has a unique housing profile and 
range of challenges. While there are high levels 
of recent new house building, part of the borough 
is a former third generation new town, developed 
around many long established communities. 
The borough’s housing stock is comparatively 
new, with high levels of new building and some 
redevelopment – around 70% of the borough’s 
homes have been built since 1965, with over 25% 
constructed after 1990. However there is a mix of 
homes of other ages, with just under 10% built 
before 1919. 

Nationally, since 2007, there has been a significant 
reduction in the proportion of homes classified 
as ‘non-decent’ (all tenures). This is now 19%, 
although this has stalled in recent years. The most 
recent borough-wide housing condition survey 
estimated the proportion of ‘non decent homes’ 
as just over 10%. Across England there remains 
a lower proportion of non-decent homes in the 
social sector than in the owner-occupied and 
private rented sectors.  

Despite being relatively new, the condition and 
quality of some of the former new town housing 
estates is a major concern. Significant and 
sustained investment is needed urgently to bring 
them up to modern standards alongside the wider 
provision of social and economic support for 
these areas. The Council has already undertaken 
a number of successful, targeted interventions in 
these areas but future intervention is complicated 
by increasingly diverse ownership.  

Housing associations in the borough are taking a 
proactive approach to improving and modernising 
their homes through their asset management 
strategies and redevelopment initiatives.

The energy efficiency of homes in England has 
increased considerably (all tenures) over the last 
twenty years, although this increase has now 
slowed.

Affordable Homes 

For a number of reasons many people are unable 
to afford to buy or rent a home in the open market. 
Housing affordability in Telford & Wrekin has 
remained stable over the last ten years, but entry 
level house prices were still more than six times 
higher than comparable annual incomes (2019). 
In some parts of the borough this ratio is much 
higher.

As such, there is a continuing requirement for 
more new affordable homes to meet local needs, 
especially for rent. While 1,940 new affordable 
homes have been built in the six years to 2020 
1,640 homes have been lost to the sector through 
sales and redevelopment – the equivalent of 
almost 9 in 10. The most recent Strategic Housing 
Market Assessment (SHMA) shows that more than 
600 extra affordable homes are needed each year 
(mainly for rent) across all parts of the borough, 
There is also a particular need for rented homes 
that are genuinely affordable.  

Homelessness

Homelessness continues to be a key issue locally 
and under the Homelessness Reduction Act, the 
Council has widened its responsibilities to prevent 
homelessness and provide relief. In 2019/20 it 
assessed 451 households, of which 256 were 
owed a prevention duty and 213 were owed a 
relief duty. Of these, accommodation was secured 
or homelessness prevented for 235 households.

In the past 12 months there have been on average 
50 people living in temporary accommodation. 
During the Covid crisis the Council has offered 
accommodation to all rough sleepers or those 
threatened with rough sleeping and has made 
an ongoing commitment to ‘no return to 
roughsleeping’.

 

Circa 

78,800   
homes

70% 
constructed 
since 1965

 10% built 
before 1919

1,200  
new homes  
built per year

£181,491 
average  

house price
(lower than West 

Midlands and 
England)

Our housing stock and market is diverse and changing

£603 average 
monthly rent 
(lower than West 

Midlands and 
England)

Private 
rented homes 
doubled in the 

last 20 years 

10%  
of homes  

non-decent

For every 10 
affordable 

homes built,  
9 are lost

through sales and 
redevelopment 

3

 Figure 4: Our Housing Market 

P
age 36



2524 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

The borough needs new homes for its growing 
and changing population, to enable existing 
homes to be made available and poor quality 
homes to be replaced. New homes are also a 
key component of sustainable communities 
required to keep pace with new jobs and to 
meet aspirations. There is also a continuing need 
for more homes that people can afford. The 
government says that there is a national shortfall 
of 300,000 new homes every year - of these 
140,000 should be affordable. 

The National Planning Policy Framework 2019 
(NPFF) expects local councils to create long term 
development plans for their areas. These must be 
up-to-date and ensure that areas have a five year 
land supply for new house building. The building 
of new homes must be balanced by the provision 
of infrastructure and the creation of local jobs.  

The Telford & Wrekin Local Plan, 2011 - 2031 
(adopted 2018) sets out the Council’s overall 
vision and growth strategy for the borough, 
including how future housing and employment 
needs will be met and sets out the Council’s key 
housing and planning policies, supported by a 
number of Neighbourhood Plans. It aims to deliver 
approximately 17,280 net new dwellings (including 
affordable homes) by 2031. Total assumed 
supply for this period (as at April 2016) is 11,741 
dwellings, leaving a net requirement of just over 
5,500. Around 1,200 new homes are being built 
in the borough each year (of which some 300 are 
affordable).  

Whilst new homes are undoubtedly needed, it is 
critical that these homes are;

• Sustainable - in order to contribute positively 
towards the Council’s carbon reduction 
agenda. In July 2019, the Council declared a 
‘Climate Change Emergency’, in recognition 
of the threats from global warming and the 
importance of meeting long term targets to 
reduce greenhouse gas emissions. Energy 
use in homes accounts for 14% of total UK 
emissions and as such, delivering sustainable 
housing is key to meeting the Council’s 
objectives in this regard.

• Accessible - in order to allow people to live 
as independently as possible, for as long as 
possible.

• Affordable - in order to deliver a meaningful 
net increase in truly affordable homes.    

• Integrated – to ensure that new homes 
respect and are effectively integrated 
into existing communities and stimulate, rather 
than detract from community cohesion. 

It is important to acknowledge that the delivery 
of these homes is challenging in an area where 
many housing sites are brownfield in nature, with 
historical uses linked to past mining or other 
industrial activity. This, combined with historical 
fluctuations in the housing market, has left a 
number of housing developments in the borough 
stalled. Often located within some of the more 
disadvantaged parts of the Borough, these sites 
are a blight on communities and hotspots for 
anti-social behaviour. However they also present 
a valuable opportunity to deliver much needed 
housing and kick-start regeneration of these 
communities, with these sites being capable of 
delivering circa 2,400 new homes, if ways can be 
found to address viability and other constraints.

To support the delivery of this Objective the 
Council currently: 

• Works with a wide range of local, regional and 
national development partners to deliver new 
quality homes and increase the annual supply 
of affordable homes on mixed tenure schemes.

• Provides a supportive and ‘business friendly’ 
development management approach including 
providing pre-application advice, support and 
viability assessment. 

• Assists developers to deliver schemes that are 
stalled and/or with unimplemented planning 
consents through access to a range of support 
and funding.

• Supports the redevelopment of brownfield and 
previously developed land to create quality 
new homes.  

• Attracts funding for, and facilitates the delivery 
of, essential infrastructure to enable new 
development to take place.

• Co-ordinates and secures external investment 
from Homes England, The Marches LEP and 
the West Midlands Combined Authority. 

• Markets residential development sites on 
behalf of Homes England and itself through 
The Telford Land Deal. 

Objective 1: 

To Create Sustainable, 

Accessible, Affordable 

& Integrated 

Communities1 

• Review the Council’s long 
term development plan for 
the borough - the Telford & 
Wrekin Local Plan – to help 
make Telford & Wrekin a 
great place to live.

• Promote high standards in 
all new build homes and 
ensure that they contribute 
positively towards the 
Council’s climate change 
commitments. 

• Work with our partners to 
achieve a real net gain in the 
number of truly affordable 
homes available.

• Continue to provide more 
new sustainable homes 
through Nuplace and 
examine new opportunities 
for the Council to be a 
direct home provider.

4

1 Key Documents: 

• Telford & Wrekin Local Plan (2011-2031) 
[under review] 

• Economic Development Strategy (2016) 
[under review] 

Telford Millennium Community (TMC),  Ketley

P
age 37



2726 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

• Directly delivers a mixture of high quality 
homes for private and affordable rent through 
the Council’s wholly-owned company Nuplace 
Ltd, including some built to higher accessibility 
standards.

• Promotes high development standards/quality 
in new build housing through its Development 

Plan for the borough and through its 
Development Management services. 

• Supports wholly affordable ‘land led’ schemes 
by housing associations.

• Supports open market or ‘off the shelf’ 
acquisitions by housing associations.

• Seeks early engagement with housing 
associations to support their development 
programmes and help ensure that their 
proposals will most effectively meet  
local needs.

• Enables the delivery of affordable homes in 
rural areas through planning exception policies, 
and puts arrangements in place to give priority 
to existing residents of these areas, or those 
with a strong local connection.  

• Works with Homes England to support bids 
for grant funding by providers to deliver 
new affordable homes. This has been both 
through the main bidding round of their Shared 
Ownership and Affordable Housing Programme 
(SOAHP), and subsequent ‘Continuing Market 
Engagement’ (CME) or ‘thematic’ bidding 
rounds.  

In order to further meet this Objective the 
Council will:

Through the Local Plan review, develop a 
strong planning framework which embodies 
the principles of sustainability, affordability and 
integration.

As required by the NPPF, The Council is 
currently undertaking a five year review of its 
Local Plan. This will help keep it up to date 
and reflect changes in national policy and local 
circumstances.  It will also extend its life until at 
least 2040.  There is an agreed timetable and 
structured involvement and consultation process 
prior to a formal Examination in Public, with a 
target for adoption of 2023. 

As part of its Local Plan review the Council will:

• Ensure housing needs are properly assessed 
and quantified by updating the local evidence 
base, including the Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment (SHMA) and the Gypsy & Traveller 
Accommodation Assessment (GTAA). 

• Develop and enhance policies to further 
improve housing standards in the borough, 
including design, accessibility, security and 
environmental performance, taking account of 
developing national guidelines and published 
evidence. 

• Develop policies aligned with the Council and 
Borough’s Climate Change Action Plan to 
ensure that new housing positively contributes 
towards carbon reduction during development 
and operational phases. 

• Work to increase the supply of housing that 
provides flexibility in the long term by being 
delivered, wherever possible, to:

• The Nationally Described Space Standard 
(NDSS).  

• Part M (4) Category 2 of the Building 
Regulations (roughly equivalent to the 
‘Lifetime Homes Standard’).  

• Part M (4) Category 3 (wheelchair 
standard).

• Review opportunities to develop policies 
and guidance on affordability and establish a 
“Living Rent” which is linked to local wages.

• Work to secure a meaningful increase in the 
delivery of truly affordable homes - specifically 
a significant net gain in the provision of social 
housing for rent.

• Examine opportunities to increase housing 
supply through new approaches, for example, 
community based housing. 

• Use new or updated local strategies, including 
the Economic Development, Homelessness 
and Specialist & Supported Accommodation 
Strategy to help shape policy.  

• Develop Supplementary Planning Guidance 
which ensures that our specialist and 
supported housing needs are considered on 
a site by site basis, alongside the provision of 
housing across a variety of tenures.

• Identify further opportunities to meet housing 
needs for specific vulnerable groups by way of 
off-site financial contributions.

• Clearly establish demand for self-build within 
the Borough and support the delivery of self-
build opportunities wherever feasible. 

Continue to work collaboratively with partner 
organisations to:

• Maximise new affordable housing supply and 
deliver a real, long term increase in the size of 
the social housing sector and where possible 
to include the most affordable form of housing 
– social rent.

• Ensure that where affordable homes 
are provided as part of mixed tenure 
developments, that these are ‘tenure neutral’ 
and fully integrated with all other tenures to 
create mixed and balanced communities.

Case Study –  
Affordable homes for rent 
by Nuplace Ltd 
Last year Shaquille moved from his family 
home in St Georges to his first home of his 
own. Shaq had been thinking about moving 
out for a while when his friend told him about 
the Nuplace homes in Hadley. After getting in 
touch with the Nuplace team, he choose his 
two bedroom apartment at Nuplace’s Blossom 
Walk development and moved in a few months 
later. Here’s what Shaq told us.

“I’ve always wanted my own home but before 
buying I wanted to see if I could manage living 
on my own – it’s such a big commitment but I 
love my home, and I must say it’s worth every 
penny. 

I loved being able to choose my apartment off 
plan – although I had to wait for it to be built 
that time gave me chance to save before I 
moved in.  

It’s hard to say what I love the most. The 
apartment is so spacious - I have an ensuite 
plus a main bathroom so it’s perfect for when 
friends visit. Nuplace have also been so easy to 
get in touch with when I have a problem, which 
really puts my mind at ease. 

I would definitely recommend Nuplace to 
anyone who is looking to make that big move 
into their first home. It’s been the perfect 
stepping stone for me.” 

Case Study –  
Working together to 
unlock brownfield land
Prinicpal Point on Orleton Lane, Wellington, 
Telford is a 165 home mixed-tenure 
development comprising of 1 bed apartments 
to 5 bedroom homes for sale and private rent, 
due to be completed in early 2021. The site 
was a former school which had been vacant for 
many years, but the Council have worked with 
developer Lovell Partnerships Ltd to unlock 
this vacant site and bring back to life. In doing 
so, they have transformed it into a cohesive, 
sustainable and inclusive development to meet 
local housing needs.

In addition to the delivery of the scheme, both 
parties have worked collaboratively to agree 
the design, scale and delivery of a new, fit for 
purpose leisure facility for the local community.

P
age 38



2928 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

• See arrangements put in place to keep low 
cost and shared ownership homes, provided 
as part of planning requirements, affordable 
in the long term or to recycle the subsidy to 
replace them locally.   

• Work with providers to increase the delivery 
of specialist and supported housing through 
its Specialist & Supported Accommodation 
Strategy. 

• Engage constructively with other adjacent 
regional local authorities and other stakeholder 
agencies.

• Work with the construction industry (including 
SME companies) and training providers to 
address skills gaps in the borough’s workforce, 
including housing design, construction and 
new building technologies. 

• Enable developers to progress housebuilding 
on stalled sites through access to a range of 
support and funding.

• Work with house builders to embed 
modern methods of construction into their 
development plans where this can speed up 
delivery, address viability and affordability 
issues and contribute towards the Council’s 
carbon reduction commitments. 

Consider further direct 
delivery of new homes 
Although the Council is no longer a direct provider 
of social housing, new national policies have 
changed the financial context for house building 
by local authorities, although this is only a part of 
the wider policy framework.  

The Council will continue to review opportunities 
available to deliver housing directly where there 
is market failure or where direct provision makes 
financial or service delivery sense. This is most 
likely to be focussed on specialist and supported 
housing provision or through the Council’s 
housing company, Nuplace Ltd. 

Case Study -  
More Affordable Homes  
for All
The borough of Telford & Wrekin needs more 
than 600 extra affordable homes every year.   

Working with local housing associations, 
benefitting from the support of Homes England 
and using its own resources, the Council 
has increased the long term average of new 
affordable homes built in the borough every 
year from 100 to over 300. These homes are 
being provided by both the Council’s long term 
housing association development partners and 
also a number of new developing associations.   

One of the biggest developers of new 
affordable homes in the borough is The Wrekin 
Housing Group. They recently worked with 
the Council, Homes England and a developer 
to ‘de-stall’ an important new build and 
redevelopment housing scheme in the centre of 
Newport.   

Steve Swann, Project Manager at The Wrekin 
Housing Group, said: “We’re delighted to have 
been able to get this development going again 
with the assistance of Telford & Wrekin Council.

However, despite the increase in supply, the 
borough’s total social housing stock has barely 
increased over the last five years - due to the 
impact of ‘The Right to Buy’, other sales and 
shared ownership ‘stair casing’. 

Delivering  
housing directly 
where there is 
market failure.

Edgmond

Southwater

Case Study -  
Responding to Climate 
Change and local needs
 

The Nuplace development at Southwater Way, 
Telford will include a range of carbon reduction 
measures.  

All 46 new homes will include improvements 
to building fabric, electric car charging points, 
Photovoltaic (PV) panels. In addition 30% 
of the homes will meet the higher Nationally 
Described Space Standards (NDSS).  

Similar measures, including higher physical 
accessibility standards, will be included within 
the Nuplace Housing Development Programme 
wherever possible.

www.nuplace.co.uk @nuplacetelford

Working towards 
a low carbon 

future

P
age 39



3130 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

Through its strategic and stewardship roles 
the Council wants to promote the best housing 
conditions and standards it can across all homes 
in the borough.  

Improving housing stock 
condition and bringing 
empty properties back  
into use

All housing requires ongoing maintenance and 
improvement in order to remain in good condition 
and up to date and as such the quality, condition 
and safety of all local homes is a continuing 
issue. Housing quality, can depend on a number 
of factors including age, construction type, 
maintenance and management. It is also a key 
driver of health and well-being yet national 
housing policy continues to focus heavily on 
new build, with more limited support for existing 
homes.  

Poor housing quality is a key contributing factor 
to fuel poverty with it being estimated that 9.4% 
of the borough’s residents are currently living in 
‘fuel poverty’ and are therefore unable to keep 
their homes warm at a reasonable cost. The 
new National Fuel Poverty Strategy “Sustainable 
Warmth  - Protecting Vulnerable Households in 
England” was published in February 2021.

Poor quality homes are also a significant 
contributory factor to climate change with energy 
use in homes accounting for 14% of greenhouse 
gas emissions in the UK. The technology and 
knowledge to create high quality, low-carbon and 
resilient homes exists, but current policies and 
standards are failing to drive either the scale or 
the pace of change needed.

A deterioration in property condition is also a key 
concern when homes become empty. Properties 
can become empty for a variety of reasons, with 
the issues being experienced across all tenures. 
There are some 1,644 homes empty over six 
months in the borough (February 2021). Of 
these 449 were empty long term (over two years). 
This is below the national average. However, 
these properties can still have a disproportionately 
negative impact on their surrounding area.

To improve housing stock and bring empty 
properties back into use the Council currently: 

• Supports home owners and landlords 
to invest in the maintenance and 
improvement of their properties through 
access to low cost/trusted finance and 
directing them to sources of information, 
advice and accredited traders.   

• Supports remodelling or redevelopment 
schemes by housing associations to 
modernise older or unpopular homes. 

• Delivers a range of initiatives through its 
“Better Homes for All” Programme. 

• Contributes to the regeneration of local high 
streets through a number of housing related 
initiatives. 

• Is delivering a modernisation and 
redevelopment programme of permanent and 
temporary accommodation for the Gypsy 
and Traveller community (with the support of 
Homes England).

• Works with developers and communities 
to ensure that local estate stewardship 
arrangements are effective and offer good 
value for money.

• Takes a proactive approach to bringing 
long term empty homes back into use, by 
the provision of advice, enforcement and 
encouragement. 

In order to further meet this Objective the 
Council will:

• Undertake targeted Local Housing Surveys 
into the condition of the borough’s housing 
stock, using a ‘desk-based’ approach with 
existing published sources

• Work closely with local housing associations 
to help align their investment strategies and 
disposal plans with the Council’s priorities for 
the borough. 

• Work with energy suppliers and funding 
partners to access funding to deliver energy 
efficiency measures to support those affected 
by fuel poverty and assist in achieving climate 
change objectives.

• Work with local people and interest groups 
to develop a community-based approach to 
property care, including home maintenance 
advice and low cost finance. 

Objective 2: 

To make the BEST use 

of our existing homes

• Support the positive 
redevelopment and 
improvement of existing 
homes to address climate 
change and reduce fuel 
poverty.

• Continue to work to bring 
empty homes back into use.

• Create a new focus on 
housing renewal in the 
borough, starting with some of 
the earliest new town housing 
estates to deliver sustainable, 
cohesive communities.

• Champion high standards 
in the private rented sector, 
actively addressing the 
worst conditions through 
the application of our Better 
Homes for All programme 
whilst providing a strong role 
model through Nuplace.  

The borough’s housing stock is one 
of its biggest assets and is growing 
each year. While building new homes 
is important, annual completions 
represent only a small part of all the 
homes in the borough.  In 20 years’ 
time, 80 percent of the borough’s 
homes will be those currently existing  
in 2020. 

The good management and 
maintenance of all homes in the 
borough is a key issue for the 
Council and is as important as 
enabling new homes to meet future 
need.

5

Raxter Drive, Snedshill

P
age 40



3332 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

• Work with and support community based 
groups that are seeking to establish 
themselves as management organisations and 
/ or landlords to ensure that they contribute 
positively towards raising property and 
management standards in the Borough.

• Champion/promote positive images of all 
housing types and tenures across the borough 
through its communication channels and 
partner networks.  

• Increase investment in bringing empty homes 
back into use.

• Provide additional encouragement for specific 
housing areas through the designation of 
a number of new ‘Housing Target Zones’ 
linked with the Council’s Safer & Stronger 
Communities Programme. These zones will be 
identified using data from the Local Housing 
Survey and will be the focus for coordinated 
activity aimed at creating:

• better homes

• better neighbourhoods

• stronger communities 

• Prepare a Affordable Warmth Strategy to 
reduce fuel poverty in the borough. This will 
help to increase health, well-being and comfort 
- particularly for older and vulnerable people. 

Addressing the Legacy of 
Telford New Town 

In 1967 the government designated Telford as a 
‘third generation’ new town. This was led by the 
former Telford Development Corporation (TDC), 
who built more than 14,000 new homes over 
fifteen years. 

Some of the first social housing estates in 
South Telford developed by TDC, now require 
significant and sustained investment to meet 
modern standards. This is complicated by 
diverse ownership in these areas which, following 
government policy, is now mainly private. The 
physical regeneration in these areas must be 
complemented by wider social and economic 
support to help build strong local communities.

To address the Legacy of the New Town the 
Council has: 

• Undertaken a number of targeted interventions 
to remodel and improve areas of mixed tenure 
housing on former TDC housing estates. 

• Worked with private developers and housing 
associations to deliver a range of new homes 
in various tenures.

• Invested in local community buildings and 
other facilities and secured new commercial 
users.

• Worked with local service providers, partners 
and groups to deliver a series of economic, 
social and community development initiatives 
as part of a wider regeneration programme.

In order to further meet this Objective the  
Council will:

• Launch a ‘New Town Futures’ Programme 
to help revitalise South Telford and to build 
stronger communities - with the local district 
centre as their hub.  

• Provide additional support to address 
stalled sites and empty properties in these 
communities in order to provide a focus for 
and catalyse regeneration activity.

• As part of its Local Housing Survey, update 
and develop its Neighbourhood Assessment 
Studies for this area. 

• Commission a detailed position statement 
(including assets and interests) and option 
appraisal, leading to the creation of an action 
plan and investment prospectus.

• Develop a new area-based approach for 
directing resources and co-ordinating services/ 
interventions in specific locations through a 
new approach to community engagement.

• Formulate a robust case to national 
government and lobby for additional 
investment in the regeneration of borough’s 
former New Town homes and communities.

• Identify opportunities to support the 
Programme through the forthcoming review of 
the borough’s Local Development Plan. 

Improving Standards within 
the Private Rented Sector
The private rented sector plays an important role 
in meeting the housing needs of the borough, 
providing both flexible housing options and long 
term housing solutions. It is estimated that more 
than 20% of homes in the borough are now rented 
privately and this number is increasing. This 
includes over 244 licensed Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (HMOs). (February 2021).

The Council has a key role in ensuring that 
this part of the market offers good quality and 
safe homes for all groups, including the most 
vulnerable. While most of this sector is well 
managed by professional landlords and agents, 
in some cases properties fall short of the 
management standards and conditions that are 
expected.  

To improve standards within the private rented 
sector the Council currently: 

• Works with local landlords and agents to 
promote good management and physical 
standards. This includes the provision of 
training, information and advice. 

• Intervenes where necessary and take 
appropriates enforcement action, including use 
of sanctions, civil penalties and prosecutions 
where necessary.  

• Operates its own social letting agency – 
‘Telford Homefinder’ – to help those in housing 
need to access affordable and safe privately 
rented accommodation.    

• Operates its ‘Better Homes for All’ programme 
which seeks to address concerns about 
housing standards and anti-social behaviour 
in some private rented homes in the borough 
through: 

A revised and enhanced licencing scheme 
for Houses of Multiple Occupation (HMOs). 

A new Housing Enforcement 
Policy to help poorly performing 
landlords to improve. 

A strengthened landlord 
accreditation and development scheme. 

• Has increased environmental maintenance 
and enforcement in ‘hot spot’ areas, working 
with local Town and Parish Councils and other 
partners. 

• Is promoting positive practice in housing 
development and management through its own 
Nuplace rented homes initiative. 

In order to further meet this Objective the 
Council will:

• Continue to promote positive practice in 
private rented housing by the planned 
expansion of Nuplace Ltd.

• Develop a new training and education 
programme to help raise standards in the 
private rented sector.

• Develop deposit bonds for more vulnerable 
tenants, linked to homelessness prevention 
and the provision of tenancy support. 

• Actively address unlicensed HMOs and poor 
landlord practice using an intelligence-led and 
prioritised approach. 

5

Case Study - Using new 
powers to raise standards 
in the private rented sector
Last year Telford & Wrekin Council became the 
first council to use new legislation to secure 
a banning order against a landlord illegally 
operating a house of multiple occupation 
(HMO). 

The landlord in question had been refused 
a licence to operate a seven bedded HMO 
in Hollinswood, but despite this continued 
to operate. During a number of Council 
inspections throughout 2018 evidence was 
found of 5 people living in the property. This 
culminated in the landlord pleading guilty in 
the Magistrates Court to managing a house in 
multiple occupation without a licence in place. 

Following this, and as a result of other previous 

offences, the Council decided to use new 
powers under the Housing and Planning Act 
2016 and was successful in securing a five 
year banning order, preventing the landlord 
in question from letting out a house or being 
involved in letting or property management.

In its ruling, the tribunal found that the 
landlord’s use of “licences” instead of rental 
agreements was “a deliberate attempt to 
mislead tenants as to their legal rights and in 
particular security of tenure”, and that there 
was “a risk that the respondent will continue to 
flout his legal obligations resulting in potential 
harm to his tenants”.

The [then] Housing Minister Esther McVey said: 
“I welcome the fact that councils like Telford 
and Wrekin are making use of the powers 
available to tackle these criminals, forcing 
them to either raise their standards or leave the 
sector entirely.”

P
age 41



3534 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

As part of the Specialist & Supported 
Accommodation Strategy, the Council has 
developed a robust evidence base to inform future 
requirements for specialist and supported housing 

in the short, medium and long term. The 
high level demand figures are presented 
in the table below and show a shortfall in terms of 
provision across all vulnerable groups. 

Objective 3: 

To Provide Homes to 

Support & Empower 

Our Most Vulnerable 

People

• Work with our partners to 
increase the supply of specialist 
and accessible homes for older 
and vulnerable people.

• Help local people, and in 
particular key workers and 
veterans, to find and sustain the 
homes they need.

• Help people to live in their 
own homes as independently 
as they can for as long as 
possible.

• Continue to prevent 
homelessness and work to 
eradicate rough sleeping.

Everyone should have a choice 
of good quality and affordable 
housing in order to meet their 
needs and aspirations and the 
Council works closely with local 
housing associations, developers 
and other organisations to ensure 
that there are good quality homes 
available for all people, including 
the most vulnerable as well as 
veterans and key workers.

It is also vital that suitable homes 
are available on an emergency 
basis for people in crisis for 
a range of reasons, including 
homelessness and domestic 
abuse, and that there is provision 
for people to move on from this 
accommodation to a home from 
which they can safely and securely 
rebuild their lives.

6

However, with this increasing demand, comes an 
increasing supply and we are seeing a growing 
number of home providers and housing options 
in the borough across all tenures, accessed in 
different ways. Some of the established methods 
of finding a home are changing, while new 
approaches continue to emerge. This means 
that finding a suitable home is becoming more 
complex for local people.  

Helping people to remain as independent as 
possible for as long as possible – either in their 
existing home or a new one is a priority for 

the Council. As most people will continue to 
live in their own homes, with only a relatively 
small number of people moving into specialist 
accommodation, it is vital that the Council 
considers how both new and existing housing can 
best meet local needs. 

Following the Homelessness Reduction Act, local 
authorities (working with other local agencies) 
have expanded responsibilities to prevent and 
relieve homelessness. 

Table 1. Summary of need for supported and specialist (units) to 2030/31 

The figures below are not cumulative and the figures in the columns for 2025/26 onwards represent the 
uplift from the previous period. The column for 2020/21 represents our current/immediate need across 
the various cohorts.   

*Includes estimated need for supported housing and mainstream housing.   

(1) This typically relates to single people at risk of homelessness (who may have ‘non-assessed’ mental health needs). The Council’s 
homelessness strategy covers the needs of a wider cohort of the population at risk of homelessness. 

Supported & specialist housing needs 
(Need estimates are not cumulative)

2020/21 2025/26 2030/31

A Older people:
1 Housing for older people for sale/shared equity 

(units)
700 800 900

2 Housing for older people for social rent/
affordable rent (units)

340 590 920

3 Housing for older people for market rent (units) 40 45 50
4 Extra care housing including mainstream and 

high needs/dementia care (units) (included 
within 1 and 2)

140 400 530

5 Residential care (beds) 0 0 0
6 Nursing care (beds) 50 200 300
B People with mental health needs (assessed) 15 40 65
C People with learning disabilities 25 50 70
D Adults with physical disabilities (need for 

adapted and accessible properties)
31 55 80

E Transforming Care cohort 10 25 35
F People at risk of homelessness who have  

(non-assessed) mental health need (1) 
150 250 400

G Vulnerable* young people 90 110 130

P
age 42



3736 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

Providing Advice and 
Guidance to Landlords 
and Tenants 
The Council’s Property Management Officers 
(PMOs) play a crucial role in supporting 
both landlords and tenants to ensure that 
both parties are operating legally and that 
relationships, and ultimately housing can be 
maintained. 

When a tenant called the team stating that 
the locks on his rented home had been 
changed, one of the Senior PMOs took on 
the case. It was established that the tenant 
was late paying some of his rent due to loss 
of employment but that he did want to return 
to the property. 

After some investigation, the PMO managed 
to identify and contact the landlord, who 
thought the tenant was no longer living at 
the property. The PMO advised the landlord 
of his duties, and the rights of the tenant 
in relation to relevant legislation but also 
the fact that the landlord could apply to the 
Housing Benefit team for the rent to be paid 
to him directly. 

The advice and guidance resulted in the 
landlord providing the tenant with a new 
set of keys, allowing them to return to the 
property and the tenancy was sustained. 

To contribute towards this Objective  
the Council: 

• Has developed a robust evidence base of 
specialist housing requirements and  launched 
its new Specialist & Supported Accommodation 
Strategy in Spring 2020.

• Is working with partners to increase the supply 
of good quality specialist and supported 
housing. 

• Is seeking higher physical accessibility 
standards in new mainstream housing.    

• Is directly delivering housing including more 
‘accessible & adaptable’ and wheelchair 
standard homes through its own housing 
company, Nuplace Ltd.  

• Is providing targeted housing information and 
advice, including signposting people to local 
housing associations and home providers.

• Has prepared a revised high level housing 
allocations policy and tenancy strategy, which 
provides the basis for the allocation of social 
housing vacancies in the borough and describes 
how these properties will be let. It also helps to 
inform how the Council and local Registered 
Providers will work together. 

• Is making nominations and referrals to 
local housing associations and other home 
providers, as well as agreeing local lettings 
plans with housing associations. 

• Operates its own social lettings agency - 
‘Telford Homefinder’. 

• Is working with the local ‘Help to Buy’ agent to 
help first time buyers to access local housing 
opportunities.

• Provides direct financial support with 
housing costs through Housing Benefits and 
Discretionary Housing Payments. 

• Is successfully administering Disabled 
Facilities (statutory & discretionary) and 
‘Well Being’ Grants to allow people to adapt 
and improve their homes across all tenures, 
helping them to remain independent or to 
leave hospital or care settings. 

• Proactively works with ex-Service personnel 
and their families to find suitable housing, in 
accordance with the Council’s Armed Forces 
Community Covenant.

• Helping self-funders by overseeing and 
managing work in their homes.  

• Is working corporately and with a strong 
network of statutory, independent and other 
organisations to prevent homelessness and 
eliminate the need for anyone to sleep rough. 

• Provides grants to partner organisations 
totalling circa £85,000 to help tackle 
homelessness and rough sleeping. 

• Is providing temporary accommodation and 
support services to help people to access and 
sustain their own accommodation. 

• Is continuing to secure external funding 
to help prevent and relieve homelessness 
and to provide good quality temporary 
accommodation. 

Case Study - Living 
independently in Fabulous 
Extra care housing
Back in 2006, with a rapidly growing older 
population, the Council’s Housing and Social 
Care teams set themselves an ambitious 
medium term target - to develop 500 new 
homes in extra care housing.  

In response to this, 408 new homes have 
been completed in seven schemes across 
the borough - with 70 more homes in the 
development pipeline. Four of these schemes 
are right at the centre of new communities or 

on strategic sites. As a result, the borough 
now has one of the highest levels of extra care 
housing provision in the country.

To achieve this, the Council has worked with a 
number of local housing association partners 
and Homes England – and also used its own 
resources. These homes are mainly for rent, 
with some for older persons’ home ownership. 

Extra care housing is popular in the borough -  
it enables local people to live as independently 
as possible for as long as they can and may 
also help to reduce loneliness. The wider local 
community are also able to make use of the 
communal facilities. 

6

Duce Drive, Dawley

• Supports local homeless charities and third 
sector organisations by providing funding to 
deliver services for homeless clients and those 
sleeping rough.

• Actively supports fundraising campaigns by 
local homeless charities.

• Provides a homelessness and housing advice 
service, with a strong emphasis on preventing 
and relieving homelessness.

• Has implemented a range of initiatives to 
support care leavers in finding move-on 
accommodation with approved Landlords, in 
accordance with the Council’s Care Leaver’s 
Covenant. 

• Ensures that there is a place of safety available 
through emergency accommodation for all 
people experiencing domestic abuse, in 
accordance with the Council’s Domestic Abuse 
Policy and our status as a White Ribbon Town. 

• Provides wrap around support to unsure 
victims of domestic abuse are supported to 
find safe and secure move on accommodation. 

In order to further meet this Objective the 
Council will:

• Implement its new Specialist & Supported 
Accommodation Strategy and:

• Maintain an up to date assessment of local 
need and specialist housing supply.   

• Proactively engage with providers to 
significantly increase supply and widen 
choice in the local market. 

• Secure appropriate quality and standards 
in the local housing market. 

• Promote higher accessibility standards in 
all new build homes through the Local  
Plan Review.

• Make best use of the borough’s 
housing resources through 
nominations, referrals and 
other means.

• Update its Housing Allocation Policy & Tenancy 
Strategy

P
age 43



3938 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

• Continue to embed housing as a key theme 
within the Care Leavers Covenant, ensuring 
that young people leaving care have a safe and 
suitable place to live and the necessary support 
to maintain their tenancy and their home.

• Ensure that key workers and ex service 
personnel are given the support they need to find 
appropriate and affordable housing.

• Improve access to, and information  
on, housing options by:

• Working with home providers to  
review the local arrangements for 
accessing social and market housing.

• Helping to create a modern housing 
information and advice service through a 
single point of contact and one number for 
all Housing enquiries.

• Developing appropriate local oversight 
arrangements for the sector. 

• Focus on reducing homelessness, including 
the use of temporary accommodation and 
rough sleeping by:

• Reviewing and updating its Homelessness 
and Rough Sleeping Strategy

• Seeking additional internal and external 
funding to maintain and enhance 
homelessness prevention and tenancy 
sustainment initiatives

• Developing new local partnerships to 
support local people who are homeless 
and to reduce rough sleeping. 

• Developing a Housing First approach which 
will:

• Give people who have experienced 
homelessness and chronic health and 
social care needs a stable home from 
which to rebuild their lives.

• Provide intensive, person-centred, holistic 
support that is open-ended.

• Place no conditions on individuals other 
than they should desire to have a tenancy.

• Be appointing a Domestic Abuse Support 
Worker to provide more intensive wraparound 
support to enable victims of domestic abuse 
to find a home from which they can rebuild 
their lives.  

• Be working to increase the level of available 
refuge accommodation for victims of domestic 
abuse, in accordance with the anticipated 
Domestic Abuse Bill.

Implementation of a Telford Housing First 
approach will be subject to an outline 
business case, which will see the council 
invest in purchasing and managing additional 
accommodation with a supported wrap around 
support service to accommodate a range of 
vulnerable clients.

Case Study Housing for All
For the Council, working with partners to tackle 
and prevent homelessness and rough sleeping 
is extremely important - it would not be able to 
do this without them. 

One of our partners was called into action to 
support a 78 year old man with multiple health 
problems who was wheelchair dependent. 
He had no home to return to and the Housing 
Solutions team provided initial bed & 

breakfast accommodation whilst working with 
Maninplace to find a secured temporary bed 
space under the Night Inn provision where he 
could receive support for the short term.

The Housing Solutions team worked with 
the client and partners, including health 
services, to identify additional support and 
understand his tenancy needs. This culminated 
in a social housing property being identified 
which has provided long term sustainable 
accommodation and allows the client to 
receive ongoing support for his care needs. 

6

Giving people who have experienced 
homelessness, chronic health and social care 
needs a stable home to rebuild their lives.

6

Ketley Park Road, Telford.

P
age 44



4140 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

The Council will 

• Promote the best interests of the borough in 
advocating for resources and policy changes.

• Work strategically on behalf of the borough 
with a range of local and national partners. 

• Act as a ‘consumer champion’ in housing for 
local people. 

• Continue to deliver a range of housing 
services, focusing particularly on those who 
are most vulnerable or in crisis.

• Promote the best possible standards in all 
aspects of housing.

• Seek to embed carbon reduction measures 
into housing delivered directly by the Council 
and via Nuplace Ltd.

• Lobby Government for support and investment 
to deliver our housing priorities particularly to 
address the legacies of the New Town.

Our ‘Asks’ 

The Council values its partners and asks them to: 

• Share information and insight with us to help 
us to understand local housing needs. 

• Work with us to attract external funding into 
the borough and to raise awareness of local 
needs.

• Keep us informed of your activities, policies 
and priorities, including any proposed changes 
or new initiatives. 

• Continue to work in partnership with us to 
meet local housing needs.

• Maintain active conversations with us for the 
greater good our of Borough.

• Seek to embed carbon reduction measures 
into your existing and new housing stock to 
support the Borough in meeting its carbon 
reduction commitments.

• Embrace modern methods of construction 
where this can speed up the delivery 
process, help to meet our carbon reduction 
commitments and address affordability issues.

Resources

The Council has recently consolidated its housing 
capacity and resources in a new Directorate of 
Housing, Employment & Infrastructure in order 
to increase focus and provide greater clarity in 
relation to this critical agenda. Alongside this, and 
despite continuing funding pressures in national 
and local government as a whole, the Council will 
continue to direct as many resources to delivering 
this Strategy as it is able to. This will include: 

• Its core revenue and capital budgets, working 
as creatively and as flexibly as possible.  

• Its own land and property assets.

• The wider resources and infrastructure of the 
authority, including support ‘in kind’.

• External funding that that it is able to attract, 
recognising that much of this is on a short or 
fixed term basis and may require matching 
funding contributions.

The Council will also: 

• Support its partners to access external funding 
for activities that support the priorities of the 
borough.

• Seek to influence the spending plans and 
priorities of government and others.

Housing is 
a priority for 
Telford & 
Wrekin Council, 
but we can 
cannot deliver 
on this alone.  
The Council 
will work with 
partners, 
stakeholders 
and residents.  

7

Our ‘Offer’

The Council wants homes in the borough to be of good quality, to meet the needs of current 
residents and future generations and support healthy and thriving communities.  

Achieving our Strategy

P
age 45



4342 Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

Implementation 

The consolidation of capacity and resources into 
a new Directorate for Housing, Employment & 
Infrastructure will facilitate increased focus on 
the delivery of this key Strategy and ensure that 
it is aligned with the Borough’s economic growth. 
Whilst Government funding to deliver on this 
agenda remains constrained, the Council will 
continue to make the most effective use of its own 
resources and seek to attract external funding 
where possible. It will also seek to influence the 
funding and investment decisions of others to 
realise the objectives of this strategy.

Next Steps 

The Council will work with partners, stakeholders 
and residents to deliver this Strategy building on 
the themes raised by the consultation. As part of 
this the Council will strengthen its arrangements 
for partnership working and ensure that the 
consultation themes raised will also be reflected 
across the wider work of the Council. Progress on 
the Strategy will be monitored through an Annual 
Report to Cabinet.

7

Progress on the 
Strategy will 
monitored through 
an Annual Report 

Jockey Road, Donnington

P
age 46



Housing, Communities and  
Customer Services

Telford & Wrekin Council, Larkin Way,

Wellington, Telford, TF1 1LX

Email: katherine.kynaston@telford.gov.uk  Tel: 01952 384591

Email: chris.winter@telford.gov.uk  Tel: 01952 381901

Protect, Care and Invest to create a better boroughPage 47



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

TELFORD & WREKIN COUNCIL 
 
CABINET – 18th March 2021 
 
REVIEW OF TELFORD & WREKIN COUNCIL’S HOUSING ALLOCATION POLICY 
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR - HOUSING, EMPLOYMENT & INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
LEAD CABINET MEMBER – COUNCILLOR DAVID WRIGHT 

 
PART A) – SUMMARY REPORT 
 
1. SUMMARY OF MAIN PROPOSALS 
 
1.1 This report introduces a draft version of the Council’s revised Housing Allocation Policy.  The 

Policy which is a legal requirement, enables the Council to work with local housing 

associations (Registered Providers) and to influence how they allocate their properties in 

Telford & Wrekin.  It also sets the context for when the Council nominates a household in need 

to a housing association.  The Council’s wider Housing Allocation Scheme also includes its 

Tenancy Strategy.  Housing Associations must ‘have regard to’ the Policy and Tenancy 

Strategy but will also have their own Allocations Policies.   

 

1.2 The draft Policy supports the Council’s commitment to ensure that every child, young person 

and adult lives well in their community and the objectives set out in the Housing Strategy:  

 To create sustainable, accessible, affordable and integrated communities 

 To make the BEST use of our existing homes 

 To provide homes to support and empower our most vulnerable people 

 

1.3 While the Council does not hold a stock of social housing and does not operate a Housing 
Register or Waiting List, it supports local residents and households who are in housing need 
to find a home within the borough by: 

 
 Advising and signposting them to apply direct to a local housing association    

 Being nominated to a housing association property by the Council  

 Receiving advice and support from the Council’s Housing Solutions Service.   

 Publishing a Housing Allocation Policy 

1.4 The Council’s Housing Allocation Policy was last updated in June 2015.  It is timely to review 
this given new national legislation and some imminent changes in local arrangements for 
accessing social housing let by a number of housing associations.  These changes have also 
provided the opportunity to review arrangements for the nomination of households in need by 
the Council to a number of local housing providers.  The Council and the main local providers 
have been working closely together on this and the development of the draft Allocation Policy.  

 
1.5 The Policy, in line with national guidance, gives ‘reasonable preference’ for social housing to 

those who: 
 

 are homeless (statutory and non-statutory)  
 are living in unsatisfactory housing conditions 
 are owed a duty by any housing authority 

Page 49

Agenda Item 6



2 
 

 need to move on medical or welfare grounds (including disability) 
 need to move to a particular locality in the area to avoid hardship  

  
The Council may also give additional preference to households who don’t fall into these  
categories but have urgent housing needs, based on local circumstances.  It is proposed 
that this will include: 
 

 Those who would otherwise become homeless, which a planned move could prevent  

 Those supported by Council homelessness prevention initiatives 

 Those whose health will significantly deteriorate without a move 

 Those moving on from supported or specialist accommodation  

 Care leavers 

 Those in adapted properties where the adaptations are no longer required 

 Those needing to move to take up employment  

 Households living in overcrowded accommodation 

 Those who are under occupying a home which could be used to provide a home for a 
larger family 

 Members of the armed forces and their families 
 

1.6 An eight week period of consultation is proposed with local partners and key stakeholders.  
Any significant changes to the draft Policy arising from the consultation will be brought back 
to Cabinet for consideration.  

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
It is recommended that:- 
 
2.1 Cabinet approves the Council’s revised draft Housing Allocation Policy and Tenancy 

Strategy for consultation.  
 
2.2 Cabinet agrees an eight week period of external consultation. 
 
2.3  Cabinet delegates responsibility to the Director - Housing, Employment and 

Infrastructure, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Economy, Housing, 
Transport & Infrastructure to update and finalise the draft Policy & Strategy following 
the consultation.  Any significant changes required as a result of external 
consultation will be brought back to Cabinet for approval before the Policy & Strategy 
are finalised. 

 

 
3. SUMMARY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  
 

COMMUNITY 
IMPACT 

Do these proposals contribute to specific Co-Operative Council priority 
objective(s)? 

Yes Every child, young person and adult lives well in their community. 

Will the proposals impact on specific groups of people? 

Yes All members of the community that are seeking or living in social 
housing. 

TARGET 
COMPLETION/ 
DELIVERY DATE 
 

It is proposed that an eight week consultation be undertaken.  Following 
the analysis of consultation responses, the document will be finalised as 
soon as possible. 

Page 50



3 
 

FINANCIAL/ 
VALUE FOR 
MONEY IMPACT 

Yes The revised Housing Allocation Policy and Tenancy Strategy 
does not place additional financial pressures on the Council. 
Any costs arising from the consultation process with key 
stakeholders and partners will be met from within current 
resources. 
 
The recommendations arising from the consultation process will 
be reviewed.  Any financial implications arising from that process 
will be identified within a further report to Cabinet.    
  
(AEM 11/02/21) 
 

LEGAL ISSUES Yes The Council has legal obligations under the Localism Act 2011 
and the Housing Act 1996 to prepare a tenancy strategy and 
housing allocations policy respectively.  The proposals contained 
in this report comply with those obligations.  Legal advice can be 
given on any matters arising from the consultation or on the 
application of either the policy or strategy as required.   
 
(AL 11/02/2021) 
 

OTHER IMPACTS, 
RISKS & 
OPPORTUNITIES 

Yes  The updated policy and related arrangements aim to enable the 
Council to work with housing providers to meet local housing 
needs and to make the best use of the borough’s housing stock.  

IMPACT ON 
SPECIFIC WARDS 

No Borough-wide impact 

 
PART B) – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
4. INFORMATION 
 

Background 
 

4.1 The 1996 Housing Act requires all local housing authorities to:  
 

 have a Housing Allocation Policy which sets out the priorities for the allocation of social1 
housing and states how affordable homes in their area will be let  

 make all nominations by the Council in accordance with the Policy 
 
4.2 Local housing authorities that do not own social housing stock must still have an Allocation 

Policy.  This is because the Council makes a housing allocation when it nominates a person to 
be a tenant of accommodation owned  by a housing association.  

 
4.3 An Allocation Policy must give reasonable preference to applicants with certain housing needs 

including those: 
 

 who are homeless (statutory and non-statutory)  
 living in unsatisfactory housing conditions 
 are owed a duty by any housing authority 
 who need to move on medical or welfare grounds (including disability) 

                                            
1 Social housing is provided by housing associations (or ‘Registered Providers’) at relatively more 
affordable rents and usually on a secure, long-term tenancy.  

 

Page 51



4 
 

 who need to move to a particular locality in the area to avoid hardship (to themselves or 
others) 

 
4.4 Housing authorities may also give additional preference within their scheme to households 

who do not fall within their reasonable preference criteria and have urgent housing needs.  This 
should reflect local circumstances.  

 
4.5 Housing Associations must co-operate with local authorities in meeting local housing needs.  

This includes assisting with their homelessness duties and working with them on nominations 
agreements.  Housing associations will have their own Allocations Policies but must ‘have 
regard to’ those of the Local Authority when making allocations. 

   
4.6 Supported and specialist housing accommodation is subject to separate arrangements which 

take account an individual’s care and support needs.  
 

Tenancy Strategy  
 
4.7 A local authority’s Tenancy Strategy should recommend to housing associations; 
 

- the type and term of tenancy they should grant and under what circumstances 
- when another tenancy should be granted at the end of a fixed term tenancy  
- what it expects of housing providers in relation to housing advice and assistance where the 

tenancy will end after the fixed term.  
 
4.8 This should also be developed in consultation with local stakeholders and forms part of the 

Housing Allocation Scheme.  
 
 Local Context  
 
4.9 Social housing, provided by local housing associations, is an essential part of Telford & 

Wrekin’s overall housing provision.  Within the borough: 
 

 There are around 13,650 social housing properties for rent in the borough – some18% of 

all homes. 

 The largest provider is The Wrekin Housing Group (WHG) with c.9,700 homes.  

 Sanctuary, Bromford and BVT each have c.1,000 homes. 

 Over the last five years other housing providers have started to develop  in the borough 

including Housing Plus, whg, Connexus and Trident and there are a number of other smaller 

and specialist providers   

 There is a continuing shortfall of more than 660 affordable homes each year in the borough.  

Despite the delivery of around 300 new affordable homes each year, continuing losses to 

the sector has meant that total provision remains largely static.   

 During 2020 over 1,500 households approached the Council who were homeless or 

threatened with homeless within 56 days.  

4.10 Aside from properties owned by WHG, the majority of social housing in the borough is currently 
advertised and allocated through Homes Direct.  This system is operated by Midlands Heart.  
Midlands Heart have decided to close Homes Direct from 31 March 2021 and, as a result, the 
main housing associations will introduce their own arrangements for advertising and allocating 
their homes.  This will mean there will be a greater number of ways of finding a home and the 
journey for customers will be different. 

 

Page 52



5 
 

4.11 The Council and the larger housing associations are currently working together to prepare for 
this change from April 2021.  This includes  

  
 Using the Council’s website to provide easy access information, advice and links to ensure 

the changes are understood by customers and as easy to use as possible  

 Providing support and advice to local residents who are currently registered on Homes 

Direct  

 Creating a new joint approach to nominations (see below) which aims to increase the 

number of nominations the Council is able to make to providers to support those in housing 

need 

 Offering Telford Homefinder as the basis for a number of local housing associations to 

advertise properties which are not subject to nomination 

 Housing Allocation Policy 
 
4.12 The updated draft Allocation Policy (Appendix 1) sets out  
 

 The local context and The Council’s priorities  

 Who qualifies, and who is eligible for, social housing in the borough.  

 Priorities for housing associations to take account of when making allocations of social 

housing, in conjunction with their own respective Allocation policies  

 The basis for the Council making nominations to housing associations  

 The Council’s Tenancy Strategy 

4.13 As required by the Housing Act (1996) the Policy gives priority to the ‘reasonable preference’ 
groups set out in para 4.3.     

 
4.14 Priority is also then proposed to be given to a number of ‘additional preference’ groups (see 

Table 1 below), including  
 

 Those who would otherwise become homeless, which a planned move could  prevent  
 Those supported by Council homelessness prevention initiatives 
 Those whose health will significantly deteriorate without a move 
 Those moving on from supported or specialist accommodation  
 Care leavers 
 Those in adapted properties where the adaptations are no longer required 

 Those needing to move to take up employment  

 Households living in overcrowded accommodation 
 Those who are under occupying a home which could be used to provide a home for a 

larger family 
 Members of the armed forces and their families 

 
4.15 The Allocation Policy is based on four categories:  
 

  Emergency and high priority 

  Urgent need to move 

  Identified housing need 

  Low housing need 

Full details of the specific needs in these categories are set out below: 
 
 

Page 53



6 
 

Table 1.  Allocation Policy - Priority Groups 
 

Criteria 
 

Examples of need 

Emergency 
and high 
priority  

 Statutory Homeless applicants who are owed a full housing duty 
 Medical & Care Emergency  
 Move to allow major repairs, modernisation or redevelopment  
 Overcrowding and short of 3 or more bedrooms  
 Ongoing domestic abuse or harassment that can only be resolved by moving 

home  
 Applicants leaving the armed forces  
 Under occupying by 1 or more bedrooms.  
 

Urgent need 
to move  

 Other homeless applicants and those who are under threat of being 
homeless  

 Applicants moving on from supported or specialist accommodation (with the 
agreement of the provider) 

 Care leavers 
 Overcrowding and short of 2 bedrooms  
 Lacking basic facilities  
 Families with children under 10 years old living in upper floor flats with no lifts  
 Loss of tied accommodation  
 Applicants needing to move to take up employment or to make it easier to get 

to work.  
 

Identified 
housing need  

 Applicants who have been approved as foster or adoptive parents and 
require an additional bedroom to facilitate a placement  

  Applicants who need to be closer to family and friends  
  Applicants with any other reasonable housing needs  
  Overcrowding and short of 1 bedroom  
  Sharing facilities with another household  
  Property in minor disrepair  
 

Low housing 
need  

 Applicants who have no identified housing need  
 Applicants who have deliberately worsened their housing circumstances  
 Applicants who are in debt to a current or previous landlord for rent, service 

charges and other property related recharges and don’t have an agreement 
in place.  

 
Nominations by the Council 
 
4.16 While the Council does not operate a housing waiting list or register, it maintains a ‘pool’ of 

households seeking  advice and support and who are homeless or at risk of becoming 
homeless.  In 2020 it received over 1,500 formal enquiries from households in this position.  
The Council currently makes a number of nominations of households in housing need to 
providers on an informal basis. 

 
4.17 As part of developing the new Allocation Policy, the Council has been working with local 

providers to establish a formal joint nominations agreement and to increase the number of 
successful nominations that are made directly to housing associations.   

 
4.18 Where the Council is given the opportunity to make a nomination to a suitable property it will 

make up to three nominations for consideration.  They will include one primary nomination and 
up to two secondary nominations defined as: 

Page 54



7 
 

 
 Primary - Households in Main Duty or Relief Duty under the Homelessness Reduction 

Act  
 Secondary - Households in Main Duty, Relief Duty or in Prevention under the 

Homelessness Reduction Act 
 

This will include households:  
 

- who are homeless.     
- who are owed a specific legal duty by another housing authority. 
- occupying unsanitary or overcrowded housing (based on ‘the bedroom standard) or 

otherwise living in unsatisfactory housing conditions.  
- who need to move on medical or welfare grounds, including grounds relating to 

disability.  
- who need to move to a particular locality in the district of the housing authority, where 

failure to meet that need would cause hardship (to themselves or others). 
- in the Council’s additional preference categories. 

 
4.19 As part of its nomination process the Council will assess the housing needs of the customer 

against the specification and location of the available property.  It will then makes its 

nomination(s) based on the level and urgency of housing need and in the order of the date 
their enquiry to the Council was validated.    

 
4.20 It has been agreed with the housing associations to trial these arrangements from April 2021 

for twelve months.  This will allow for the monitoring of outcomes, further discussion with larger 
providers who were not part of Midland Heart’s letting system and the possible extension to 
other, smaller and specialist providers.  

 
Consultation 

 
4.21 As required under the relevant Code of Guidance, it is proposed to undertake an eight week 

consultation on the draft Housing Allocation Policy with local housing associations, other 
providers and stakeholders.  Depending on the outcome of the consultation, these documents 
may need to be reconsidered by Cabinet prior to finalisation.   

 
5. IMPACT ASSESSMENT – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

No further comments.  
 
6. PREVIOUS MINUTES 

Cabinet minute CB–6 25 June 2015 
 
7. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 The Housing Act, 1996 

 The Localism Act, 2011 

 Allocation of accommodation: guidance for local authorities in England (2020).  Ministry 

of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG).  

Report prepared by Chris Winter, Investment Strategy & Partnership Officer, 
Telephone: 01952 381901. 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



 

           

 

 

        
March 2021 

 

 

 

 

 

FINDING THE RIGHT HOME IN 

TELFORD & WREKIN 

Draft Telford & Wrekin Housing Allocation Policy 2021 

 

    

  

Page 57



  

 

2  

 

CONTENTS         

  Page 
   
1. Introduction 3 
   
2. Social Housing and Allocations  4 
   
3. The Local Context 6 
   
4. Finding a home to rent in Telford & Wrekin 10 
   
5. The Legal Context  13 
   
6. Priorities for the Allocation of Social Housing in Telford & Wrekin 16 
   
7. Monitoring and Review 22 
   
 Appendix 1 – Telford & Wrekin Council Tenancy Strategy  24 
   
 Appendix 2 – Contact Details  26 
   
 Appendix 3 – Local Connection 27 
   

 

 

  

Page 58



 3 

 

 

FINDING THE RIGHT HOME IN TELFORD & WREKIN 

TELFORD & WREKIN’S HOUSING ALLOCATION POLICY, 2021 

 

 

1. Introduction    

 

1.1 This document sets out Telford & Wrekin Council’s Draft Updated Housing Allocation 

Policy, 2021. It provides the basis for the allocation of social housing for rent by local 

housing associations (registered providers) in the borough and describes how these 

properties will be let.  It also helps to inform how the Council and housing associations 

will work together to meet local housing need. This is an update of the Council’s current 

Housing Allocation Scheme, published in June 2015.   

1.2 The Council’s Community Plan – ‘To Protect, care and invest to create a better 
borough: 2020 onwards   describes what the Council will deliver over the medium term 
and how it will do this.  It sets out a number of key priorities for housing including: 

 
 Every child, young person and adult lives well in their community 

 All neighbourhoods are a great place to live 
 Our most vulnerable residents will be empowered through housing choices for all 

to support independence, health and well-being. 

 Homelessness and rough sleeping will be tackled, through prevention, support and 

facilitating housing solutions 

1.3 This Allocation Policy sets out Telford & Wrekin Council’s key objectives and priorities 

to be considered by housing providers in the allocation of the social housing in the 

borough.  It also includes the process for applying for social housing in the borough, who 

is eligible for social housing and the Council’s priorities for housing allocation.  The Policy 

also describes how the Council will work with housing associations to nominate 

applicants to them who are in housing need.   

1.4 The document describes:    

 The background to this document and its purpose 

 The strategic and operational context in Telford & Wrekin 

 The current options available for meeting housing need and the arrangements for 

accessing them. 

 How housing need is assessed and prioritised 

 The legal and statutory framework 

 The Council’s priorities for the allocation of social and other forms of affordable 

housing (including nominations from the Council). 

 The key principles that the Council would like providers to have regard to in the 

development or review of their Tenancy Policies.  

 Future monitoring and review arrangements. 

 

 

 

 

 Page 59

https://telfordcorporate.sharepoint.com/teams/eCouncil/Publishing/SMT/Shared%20Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2Fteams%2FeCouncil%2FPublishing%2FSMT%2FShared%20Documents%2FCouncil%20Plan%202020%2FCouncil%20Plan%202020%20onwards%20FINAL%2Epdf&parent=%2Fteams%2FeCouncil%2FPublishing%2FSMT%2FShared%20Documents%2FCouncil%20Plan%202020
https://telfordcorporate.sharepoint.com/teams/eCouncil/Publishing/SMT/Shared%20Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2Fteams%2FeCouncil%2FPublishing%2FSMT%2FShared%20Documents%2FCouncil%20Plan%202020%2FCouncil%20Plan%202020%20onwards%20FINAL%2Epdf&parent=%2Fteams%2FeCouncil%2FPublishing%2FSMT%2FShared%20Documents%2FCouncil%20Plan%202020


  

 

4  

 

2. Social Housing and Allocations  

 

2.1 Social housing is one of a number of options to meet local people’s housing needs.  The 

Council works in partnership with housing associations – or registered providers (RPs) 

- and local housing developers to increase the supply of new social housing in the 

Telford & Wrekin and to protect existing homes.  It is also working closely with local 

private landlords to develop the private rented sector in the borough 

 

2.2 All local housing authorities are required to have a local Housing Allocation Policy and 

Allocation Scheme which sets out priorities between applicants for housing.  This must 

also describe the procedure to be followed when allocating housing accommodation.  

Local providers are expected to have regard to this in making their housing allocations, 

which includes when they receive a nomination for housing from the local housing 

authority – Telford & Wrekin Council.   

 

2.3 The Regulator of Social Housing ( RSH) regulates the providers of social housing to 

ensure that they are able to .deliver homes that meet a range of needs,  The Regulator’s 

Tenancy Standard sets out how housing associations should:   

 

‘… Let their homes in a fair, transparent and efficient way. They shall take into 

account the housing needs and aspirations of tenants and potential tenants’.  

 

and  

 

‘…demonstrate how their lettings: (a) make the best use of available housing (b) 

are compatible with the purpose of the housing (c) contribute to local authorities’ 

strategic housing function and sustainable communities’ 

 

The Tenancy Standard also states that:   

 

‘Registered providers shall co-operate with local authorities’ strategic housing 

function, and their duties to meet identified local housing needs.  This 

includes assistance with local authorities’ homelessness duties, and through 

meeting obligations in nominations agreements’. 

 

2.4 The recent Charter for social housing residents: social housing white paper (2020) 

highlights four key improvements needed for housing allocation:  

 

 To improve joint working between local authorities and housing associations to 

ensure that social housing is being allocated efficiently  

 To remove barriers to accessing social housing for homeless households 

 To ensure that vulnerable households are able to navigate allocations systems 

 Improve access to suitable homes for people with disabilities 

 

2.5 While a Council is able to nominate to housing association properties, the association is 

still entitled to check whether the nomination is acceptable to them under their own 

policy, and can refuse any nominee that would be disqualified. Many associations also 

have local lettings policies which are agreed with the local authority which relate to 

specific housing developments or geographic locations.   

 

Page 60

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-charter-for-social-housing-residents-social-housing-white-paper


 5 

 

2.6 Local authorities must also prepare and publish a Tenancy Strategy.  This is included 

at Appendix 1 and sets out the matters to which registered providers are to have regard 

in formulating their policies on tenancies.  

 

2.7 The overall aim of the Council’s Housing Allocation Policy is to ensure that social 

housing provided by local housing associations in Telford & Wrekin is allocated fairly 

and objectively to those in greatest need.  It has regard to the legislative requirements 

and codes of guidance & regulations set by the Ministry for Housing, Communities and 

Local Government (MHCLG) and the Regulator of Social Housing (RSH).  It is also 

intended to meet the following specific objectives: 

 Enable everyone to make informed choices about their housing options, including 
potential providers 

 Prevent homelessness and help people resolve their housing problems by 
giving advice and assistance to everyone 

 Explain the council’s priorities for those in housing need and to housing 
providers and other organisations 

 To make sure that the housing needs of vulnerable applicants and those in 
priority need are given reasonable preference 

 Enable the best use to be made of all available housing in the social sector,  
and all other affordable housing types within the borough 

 Help to promote sustainable communities 
 

2.8 The Council’s policy will also enable those who do not have a housing need (as 
defined within this policy) to secure their own accommodation by providing them with 
advice on the housing options available 

 
2.9 The Council must comply, and demonstrate its compliance, with the Equality Act 2010 

by assessing the impact of its Housing Allocation Policy on the protected groups.  This 

is particularly significant when exercising its freedom under the Localism Act 2011 (see 

below) to disqualify applicants.  

2.10 This document will be of interest to a number of groups including local housing 

providers, organisations working with people who need housing and people in housing 

need.  The Council will consult with these organisations and groups as part of the 

process of preparing this document.  It will also produce a short summary of its 

Housing Allocation Policy which will be made placed on its webpages and made 

available widely.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 61



  

 

6  

 

3. The Local Context 

 

 Introduction 

3.1 The Council’s Housing Allocation Policy and Tenancy Strategy responds to the local 

strategic and operational context, as both are key to meeting local housing needs.  

 The Council Plan and Supporting Strategies 

3.2 Telford & Wrekin Council’s vision and priorities are set out in the Council Plan, its 
programme to Protect, care and invest to create a better borough: 2020 onwards.  This 
describes what the Council will deliver over the medium term and how it will do this. It 
identifies five priorities to achieve this vision: 

 
 Every child, young person and adult lives well in their community 
 Everyone benefits from a thriving economy 
 All neighbourhoods are a great place to live 
 The natural environment is protected and the Council is taking a leading role in 

tackling the climate emergency 
 (Telford & Wrekin) is a community-focussed, innovative Council providing 

efficient, effective and quality services.  

 
3.3 At the heart of the Council’s vision is the need to address the significant inequalities that 

still exist in the borough.  It will try to ensure that everyone, no matter what 
their background and circumstances, benefits from a strong economy, can fulfil their 
potential and live well, in a good, safe home. As a Co-operative Council, this approach 
will be informed by the views and voices of our residents, communities and partners.  
These must shape and influence what we do and how we do it if we are to continue to 
create a better borough. 

 
3.4 The Council’s new, overarching Housing Strategy, 2020 - 2025 also provides an 

important framework for the Housing Allocations Policy (and Tenancy Strategy).  Their 
respective priorities are:  
 To create sustainable, accessible, affordable and integrated communities.  

 To make the best use of our existing homes.  

 To provide homes to support and empower our most vulnerable residents. 

3.5 The Council’s Homelessness Strategy 2017 -2022, produced under the Homelessness 

Act 2002, sets out how the Council will prevent and address statutory and non-

statutory homelessness.  This includes its new responsibilities under The 

Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 to prevent and relieve homelessness for 

households threatened with homelessness within 56 days (or homeless now).  There 

are four priorities:  

 Ensure that high quality housing advice is accessible and well promoted to all to 

ensure that households or other support services which are able to identify their 

own housing solutions are able to do so 

 Join up Council and external services to prevent homelessness arising wherever 

possible  

 Ensure that temporary accommodation is well managed and meets the needs of 

the service, ensuring people move onto sustainable housing as soon as possible – 

minimizing the use of bed and breakfast accommodation 

 Work with partners to support vulnerable groups and prevent rough sleeping 

 Page 62

https://telfordcorporate.sharepoint.com/teams/eCouncil/Publishing/SMT/Shared%20Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2Fteams%2FeCouncil%2FPublishing%2FSMT%2FShared%20Documents%2FCouncil%20Plan%202020%2FCouncil%20Plan%202020%20onwards%20FINAL%2Epdf&parent=%2Fteams%2FeCouncil%2FPublishing%2FSMT%2FShared%20Documents%2FCouncil%20Plan%202020


 7 

 

The Local Housing Market  

3.6 The borough’s housing market is shaped by a number of factors:  

 our population is continuing to grow, it is also changing including ageing and 

becoming more diverse  

 There are high levels of new home building and an increasing number and range of 

housing providers  

 The housing tenure mix is changing.  The private rented sector is growing, owner 

occupation is falling and the social housing sector is fairly stable.   

 There is a continuing unmet need for more affordable homes with an estimated net 

shortfall of over 660 affordable homes for local people every year – most of these 

should be for rent. 

 In 22020 the cost of entry level housing to buy was over six times comparable annual 
earnings. (  

 Housing affordability varies across the borough with higher affordability/income ratios 

and lack of supply in certain parts including the rural area and Newport. 

 Homelessness and rough sleeping is still a significant issue.   

 There is a growing need for supported and specialist accommodation for older people 

and people who are vulnerable.   

 Some homes in the borough require urgent renewal as part of wider regeneration 

programmes.  

 There are concerns about physical and management standards in some parts of the 

borough’s housing stock.  

 Long term empty homes in the borough are comparatively low but still pose issues in 
areas for the Borough. 

 There are households in the Borough in fuel poverty 
 

3.7 While local efforts to prevent homelessness are effective, it continues to be a significant 

issue in the borough:  

 Families with children are still the group most commonly accepted as homeless, the 

proportion of acceptances has decreased and the heads of the household tend to be 

younger 

 Acceptances for domestic abuse have increased  

 16/17 year olds represent a significant proportion of acceptances, although there has 

been an overall decline. 

 All local agencies are seeing significant numbers of people discharged homeless 

from institutions 

 Rough sleeping is increasing, as is single, non-statutory homelessness. 

 There is a need for additional appropriate ‘move-on accommodation’ to make most 

effective use of supported and other short term housing.  .  

Approaching the Council  

3.8 The Council does not operate a local housing register or waiting list and encourages 

households in housing need to apply directly to appropriate local housing associations.  

3.9 Households who are homeless, or threatened with homelessness, can approach the 

Council’s Housing Solutions Team for advice and support.  Over the twelve months 

from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020, 1,506 households contacted the Team – 

on average around 125 each month.   

Page 63



  

 

8  

 

3.10 Of the approaches, almost three quarters (1,125) were for a wide range of 

circumstances outside the direct control of the applicant, including loss or 

unsuitability of an existing home, relationship breakdown and financial issues. After 

this almost 10% (146) needed a home for various legal reasons, whilst 8.6% (129) 

were currently sleeping rough.  For a further 7% (106) of customers there was 

insufficient information to determine their current position.   

3.11 Almost 70% (1,042) needed one bed accommodation, while 28.4% (428) required two 

or three bedrooms.  Where applicants have approached the Council under a range of 

different circumstances, 64% need one bed (724) and 33% two or three bedrooms 

(375).  For the other categories a very high proportion of the need is for one bedroom 

homes. 

3.12 Where applicants approach the Council directly in these circumstances, it will consider 

nominating them to a housing association when there is a suitable vacancy.   

3.13 All housing associations also have their own allocation policies and applicants for 

housing must meet their respective eligibility criteria.  

 Social Housing in Telford & Wrekin   

3.14 Telford & Wrekin Council transferred its housing stock to a number of housing 

associations in 1999. The Council does not now have its own housing stock and social 

housing in the borough is owned and managed by housing associations. However, the 

Council still has important housing responsibilities which contribute to providing 

opportunities to improve the borough and residents’ lives.     

3.15 The social housing sector is a key part of the borough’s housing provision.  There are 

around 13,500 housing association homes in Telford & Wrekin (as at March 2019).  This 

has fallen from 14,000 in 2015.  While 1,647 new affordable homes were provided in the 

borough between 2014 and 2019, some 1,465 – the equivalent of 89% have been lost 

to the sector due to sales and redevelopments.   

3.16 The Wrekin Housing Group is the largest housing association in the borough with around 

9,700 homes (at 31 March 1999).  The next three largest associations – Bromford, 

Bournville Village Trust and Sanctuary – together own 3,200 homes.  There are also a 

number of other housing associations and social housing providers in the borough who 

together own around 500 homes – some of these are also building new homes.  Over 

the last ten years the number of new associations owning or managing homes in the 

borough has increased.    

3.17 National welfare reform (specifically the removal of the spare room subsidy or ‘bedroom 

tax’) has had a significant impact on the nature of housing demand.  As a result some 

housing providers in the borough are experiencing: 

 increasing demand for smaller properties as under occupiers seek to downsize 

 an increase in ‘difficult to let’ family size properties 

 Increasing competition for smaller accommodation between downsizing households 

and those in housing need. 

3.18 Welfare reform also introduced the shared accommodation rate for private tenants who 

are under 35 years of age and claiming local housing allowance. Claimants are unlikely 

to be able to afford self- contained accommodation in the private rented sector, adding 

to the overall demand for one-bedroom social houses.  Page 64



 9 

 

3.19 These changes have led some housing providers to review their own housing allocation 

policies.  Providers are also developing more new homes that are smaller, including new 

one bedroom flats and houses.   

3.20 Housing associations are now able to let new and relet homes at affordable rents at up 

to 80% of open market value, rather than at social rents set in relation to local house 

prices and incomes.  They are also able to offer ‘flexible’ or fixed term tenancies. 

  

  

Page 65



  

 

10  

 

 

4. Accessing Social Housing in Telford & Wrekin   

 

Background 

4.1 While Telford & Wrekin Council is not a social landlord, it is still the strategic housing 

authority for the borough.  It retains important responsibilities for meeting local housing 

needs including providing housing advice & assistance and preventing & addressing 

homelessness.   

4.2 The Council does not operate a local Housing Register or Waiting List for social housing.  

However it supports households using the different routes to find a home in the borough.  

These include:  

 Applying direct to a local housing association(s) - this will be the way most 

households find a home  (see paras 4.3 – 4.6 below) 

 

 In some cases the Council will make a nomination of a household to a housing 

association from its Nominations Pool (4.7 – 4.9).    

 

 Seeking advice and information from the Council’s Housing Solutions Service.  This 

will support households to identify potential options and, if possible, to ‘self-serve’.   

(4.10 – 4.16) 

 

 Applying direct to a Housing Association 

4.3 Most households in need of social housing will apply direct to a local housing 

association. The larger housing associations in the borough, have over time, moved 

from their own individual waiting list systems to a common housing register and then to 

‘Choice Based Lettings’ (CBL) arrangements, including Choose Your Home.  In 2015 

this was replaced by a new CBL system – Homes Direct – operated by Midlands Heart.  

At the same time the largest provider, Wrekin Housing Group, created its own separate 

‘managed waiting list’.  Midlands Heart closed ‘Homes Direct’, on 31 March 2021 and at 

present there is no shared arrangement.   

4.4 There are now a greater number of routes into social housing in Telford & Wrekin.  

Local housing associations have set up, or are in the process, of setting up their own 

individual arrangements for allocating their homes in the borough.  Some of these are 

‘choice-based, while other use a traditional housing waiting list or register.  Details of 

the systems in place to access individual associations stock in Telford & Wrekin are 

provided on the Council’s website.  This will be updated regularly and provides direct 

links and information on the advice and support available to all residents seeking 

housing and/or threatened with homelessness.    

4.5 Other associations with a smaller number of homes in the borough have their own 

arrangements for allocating their homes.  This may include their own waiting list or 

register, advertising vacancies as they arise or seeking nominations from The Council.  

They may also have age-related, area-based or eligibility requirements.  These 

associations include:  

 

 Page 66



 11 

 

 Alpha 

 Accord 

 Anchor Hannover 

 Boughey Roddam 

 Connexus 

 Habinteg 

 Home Group 

 Housing 21 

 Shropshire Rural 

 YMCA 

 

Full contact details and links are provided in Appendix 2 and via the Council’s web 

site.    

Nominations by Telford & Wrekin Council 

4.6 Local authorities are able to make nominations to local housing associations in order to 

assist in meeting local needs. Associations will have regard to the Council’s housing 

allocations policy but will let homes in accordance with their own respective allocations 

policies.  Some of the associations (see para 4.5) are currently working to formalise the 

way in which households in housing need are nominated, or referred, by the Council.   

 

4.7 A draft joint Nominations Agreement has been developed and the new arrangements 

are currently subject to a trial period to April 2022.  The draft Agreement is part of Telford 

& Wrekin’s Housing Allocation Policy and includes details of: 

 

 How associations will inform the Council of social  housing vacancies  

 How the Council will make its nominations  

 The main stages in the nominations process and timescales 

 How the arrangements will be monitored and evaluated 

 

`4.8 The nominations trial arrangements will be monitored by the Council working with the 

local Registered Provider Forum to assess their effectiveness and the experience of 

customers.     

Telford & Wrekin’s Housing Solutions Service      

4.9 Telford & Wrekin Council provides a strong and pro-active housing options approach 

as part of its overall Housing Services.  A single housing hotline is available for anyone 

facing homelessness or who is in need of housing advice, support or other assistance.  

As part of this the Service:  

  offers households in housing need support to access the best housing solution 

available for them – this might include, for example, housing association 

accommodation, private rented housing, low cost home ownership or help to ‘stay 

put’ in their existing home.  

  promotes realistic expectations about the availability of social housing 

  Helps to ensure that social housing is focussed on those who need it most.  

 

 

Page 67

https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20668/do_you_need_advice_about_renting_in_telford/351/housing_services


  

 

12  

 

4.10 The Council offers a full information and advice service to people who are looking for a 

home to rent or are at risk of becoming homeless.  Individuals are able to register and 

set up an account on the Council’s Advice and Support webpage. Once registered, 

individuals can check on the progress of their case, upload pictures of any documents 

required or view any letters that have been sent.  

4.11  For individuals who are looking for a home to rent The Council can provide information 

on renting a home from: 

 Housing associations 

 Nuplace – The Council’s wholly owned housing company which provides private 

rented accommodation including a number of specialist homes 

 Private landlords 

4.12 Telford & Wrekin Council also operates ‘Telford Homefinder’ – a web-based Lettings 

Agency.  This advertises:   

 private rented accommodation where the landlord and property have been accredited 

by the Council.   

 selected homes to rent from certain local associations  

 

4.13 For individuals who are homeless or concerned about the possibility of losing their home 

the Council encourages them to seek advice at the earliest opportunity.  Individuals may 

register using the ‘Housing Jigsaw’ website and arrange to discuss their circumstances 

with The Council’s Housing Solutions Team.  Individuals will also be able to follow the 

status of their case.     

4.14 The Council will work proactively to prevent homelessness wherever possible. In some 

cases the Council will provide temporary accommodation including:  

 whilst it investigates a case under homelessness legislation.  

 to some households who appear to be homeless and who are prioritised under 

homelessness legislation.  

4.15 Temporary accommodation will only be used as a last resort and for a short period of 

time in cases where there are no other suitable housing options are available.   

  

Page 68

https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20668/do_you_need_advice_about_renting_in_telford/3532/register_for_housing_advice
http://www.telfordhomefinder.co.uk/
https://live.housingjigsaw.co.uk/


 13 

 

5. The Legal Context 

 

5.1 1996 Housing Act (amended) requires all housing authorities to have a Housing 

Allocation Scheme, regardless of whether they own housing stock.  This must take 

account of the local context, including their current tenancy and homelessness 

strategies.  

5.2 The Secretary of State has determined that the following groups of people are 

ineligible for social housing (and also homelessness assistance) and should not be 

made an offer of accommodation: 

 Those subject to immigration control and not re-included by Regulations 

 Those persons from abroad prescribed by Regulations to be ineligible.  

Through their Housing Allocation policies local authorities are able to define who is 

qualifies for an allocation of social housing, including those in reasonable preference 

or additional preference categories.  This section focuses on qualifying persons.  

5.3 Even though Telford & Wrekin does not have its own housing stock it must still adopt 

and publish a Housing Allocation Policy as, by law, it allocates homes when it: 

 Nominates a person to be a secure or introductory tenant of accommodation held 

by another housing authority or. 

 Nominates a person to be an assured tenant of accommodation held by a 

housing association 

5.4 The Housing Allocation Policy must:  

 Comply with relevant legislation and regulations 

 State how social housing in the local area will be let (e.g. offering a choice of 

housing accommodation, or the opportunity to express a preference)  

 Set out details of who qualifies for social housing, including who is ineligible…. 

5.5 Housing authorities must also: 

 Make all allocations (and nominations)  in accordance with their Allocations 

Policy  

 Publish a copy of the Allocations Scheme and make it available free of charge to 

any person who asks for a copy.   

5.6 Allocation Policies must give reasonable preference (but not necessarily equal 

weight) to applicants with certain housing needs (over those who do not have them):  

a) People who are homeless.  This includes applicants where there is a statutory 

duty to rehouse as well as applicants who are intentionally homes and those who 

are not in priority need.   

b) People who are owed a duty by any housing authority 

c) People occupying unsanitary or overcrowded housing (based on ‘the bedroom 

standard) or otherwise living in unsatisfactory housing conditions.*  

d) Applicants who need to move on medical or welfare grounds, including grounds 

relating to disability. * 

e) Applicants who need to move to a particular locality in the district of the housing 

authority, where failure to meet that need would cause hardship (to themselves 

or others). Page 69



  

 

14  

 

*Possible criteria for c) and d) are provided in the Code of Guidance.  

5.7 However: 

 There is no requirement to give greater priority to people who fall within more 

than one reasonable preference category (‘cumulative preference’).   

 Similarly those in these categories should not necessarily be given absolute 

priority over everyone else.   

 Housing authorities are encouraged to be flexible to meet local needs and 

priorities. 

Eligibility 

5.8 Housing authorities may also give additional preference within their scheme to 

people who fall within their statutory reasonable preference criteria and have urgent 

housing needs.  This should be based on local circumstances and may include, for 

example:  

 Those who need to move urgently because of a life threatening illness of sudden 

disability 

 Families in severe overcrowding which poses a serious health threat 

 Those who are homeless and require urgent re-housing as a result of violence or 

threats of violence (including intimidated witnesses), and those escaping from  

domestic abuse.   

Government Guidance 

5.9 The latest guidance for local authorities on Housing Allocation schemes is set out in 

the ‘Allocation of accommodation: guidance for local housing authorities in England’ 

(December 2020).  This was updated to take account of the situation post-Brexit.  

5.10 This includes the changes introduced by the Localism Act:  

 Local authorities must frame their allocations policy by reference to their 

homelessness and tenancy strategies.  

 The right to a review (appeal) is extended to applicants that are determined not to 

qualify for the register, including the right to be informed of the decision of the 

review and the grounds for it.  

 Authorities must not disqualify the following applicants on the ground that they do 

not have a connection with the authority’s district: 

- members of the Armed forces and former Service personnel, where the 

application is made within five years of discharge 

- bereaved spouses and civil partners of members of the Armed Forces 

following the death of their spouse or partner 

- serving or former members of the Reserve Forces who need to move 

because of a serious injury, medical condition or disability sustained as a 

result of their service.  In addition, injured members of the forces or their 

bereaved spouses must be given additional preference compared to others 

with similar housing needs.  

 

 

 Page 70

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/social-housing-allocations-guidance


 15 

 

5.11 The Localism Act also gave each local authority the freedom to disqualify certain types 

of applicants.  Examples may include:  

 People with no local connection – either a term of residence in the area, or a strong 

connection with it. 

 People with no housing need or who do no fall within the reasonable preference 

groups. 

 Owner-occupiers (unless they cannot afford to meet their own housing needs) 

 People with a history of severe tenancy breaches (including rent arrears) or 

antisocial behaviour.  

 People who have worsened their own housing circumstances 

 People who have refused offers, failed to attend viewings or not actively engaged in 

the property application process.  

5.12 The Localism Act also introduced the requirement for each local housing authority to 

prepare and publish a Tenancy Strategy.  This must set out the matters to which 

Registered Providers are to have regard in formulating their own policies on tenancies.  

Providers are now no longer required to let general needs homes on the most secure 

form of tenancy possible but can now offer tenancies on shorter terms.  Telford & 

Wrekin Council’s Tenancy Strategy is set out in a separate document.  

5.13   In the new guidance the government indicates that it will regulate to require councils to 

give additional preference to the following reasonable preference categories and who 

have urgent housing needs:  

 Former members of the Armed Forces 

 Serving members of the Armed Forces who need to move because of serious 

injury, medical condition or disability sustained as a result of their service 

 Bereaved spouses and civil partners of members of the Armed Forces leaving 

Services Family Accommodation following the death of their spouse or partners 

 Serving or former members of the Reserve Forces who need to move because of a 

serious injury, medical condition or disability sustained as a result of their service. 

 

Page 71



  

 

16  

 

6. Priorities for the Allocation of Social Housing in Telford & Wrekin    

 

Overview 

6.1 This part of the Allocation Policy describes the Council’s priorities for the allocation of 

social housing by housing association in Telford & Wrekin to applicants who qualify for 

social housing.  This may be through a direct letting or in response to a nomination by 

the Council.  It includes:  

 Details of the priorities that the Council would like housing associations to take 

account of when making their housing allocations.   

 How the Council wishes to use the flexibilities provided by the Localism Act 

 The Council’s priorities and processes for making nominations of households to 

housing associations – a component  of its Allocations Policy  

More detail on specific aspects of housing allocations including Local Lettings 

Plans, the local connections policy, Low Cost Home Ownership and supported / 

specialist accommodation.  

 
6.2 The Allocation Policy and priorities for housing are based on a number of groups.  There 

are four groups under which the housing circumstances of applicants may be 

considered.  The bands take into account applicants who should be given ‘reasonable 

preference’, ‘additional preference groups’ and local lettings priorities.  Registered 

Providers should consider these when allocating their general needs homes.  The 

Council will use these groups to help determine where it is able to offer assistance and 

support to secure other forms of housing, e.g. private rented housing.    

6.3 The Council wishes to see ‘additional preference’ given to the following households or 

individuals: 

 Those who would otherwise become homeless, which a planned move could  

prevent  

 Those supported by Council homelessness prevention initiatives 

 Those whose health will significantly deteriorate without a move 

 Those moving on from supported or specialist accommodation 

 Those in adapted properties where the adaptations are no longer required 

 Those needing to move to take up employment or to make it easier to get to work 

 Households living in overcrowded accommodation 

 Those who are under occupying a home which could be used to provide a home for 

a larger family 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 72



 17 

 

6.4 The Allocation Policy is based on four priority groups:  

 Emergency and high priority 

  Urgent need to move 

  Identified housing need 

  Low housing need 

Full details of the specific needs in these categories are set out below: 

 
Table 1.  Allocation Policy - Priority Groups 

 

Criteria 
 

Examples of need 

Emergency 
and high 
priority  

 Statutory Homeless applicants who are owed a full housing 
duty 

 Medical & care emergency  
 Move to allow major repairs, modernisation or redevelopment  
 Overcrowding and short of 3 or more bedrooms  
 Ongoing domestic abuse or harassment that can only be 

resolved by moving home  
 Applicants leaving the armed forces  
 Under occupying by 1 or more bedrooms.  
 

Urgent need 
to move  

 Other homeless applicants and those who are under threat of 
being homeless  

 Applicants moving on from supported or specialist 
accommodation (with the agreement of the provider) 

 Care leavers 
 Overcrowding and short of 2 bedrooms  
 Lacking basic facilities  
 Families with children under 10 years old living in upper floor 

flats with no lifts  
 Loss of tied accommodation  
 Applicants needing to move to take up employment or to 

make it easier to get to work.  
 

Identified 
housing need  

 Applicants who have been approved as foster or adoptive 
parents and require an additional bedroom to facilitate a 
placement  

  Applicants who need to be closer to family and friends  
  Applicants with any other reasonable housing needs  
  Overcrowding and short of 1 bedroom  
  Sharing facilities with another household  
  Property in minor disrepair  

 

Low housing 
need  

 Applicants who have no identified housing need  
 Applicants who have deliberately worsened their housing 

circumstances  
 Applicants who are in debt to a current or previous landlord 

for rent, service charges and other property related recharges 
and don’t have an agreement in place.  

 
The Council may vary these bands or priorities from time to time but will consult on any 

proposals to significantly change these.   

 

 Page 73



  

 

18  

 

Local Flexibilities 

6.5  Under the Localism Act (see above) local housing authorities have the freedom to 

disqualify certain types of applicants or give them a lower priority.  The Council wishes 

to promote the following flexibilities in its Allocation Policy  

 Local connection 

Priority for all forms of social housing should generally be given to local people.  

This includes established local residents and those who have a strong local 

connection with the borough including significant previous residence, local 

employment or family links.  The definition of local connection used by the Council 

is set out in Appendix 3.  

While there is currently a general shortage of housing supply in relation to need, 

in some areas the supply of certain property types, such as three/four bed family 

homes or certain  types of specialist housing,  may be greater than current 

demand, leading to long empty property times.  Applicants who do not meet the 

local connection definition are not excluded from applying for social housing.  

They may however be placed in the lowest priority band.    

Housing applicants will be given the opportunity to establish a local connection, 

for example there they have no connection elsewhere, are fleeing domestic 

abuse, need to move to take up work or supply an essential service, or need to 

support or care for close relatives or be supported or cared for by them.  Armed 

forces personnel discharged within the last five years will have a right to local 

connection.   

  No immediate housing need 

Applicants with no identified housing need will qualify for the lowest priority band.  

In some areas there may be an imbalance of supply and demand for certain 

property types and there is a need to avoid long empty property times.   

 Owner-occupiers 

Applicants who have the resources to meet their own housing needs would 

generally not be supported in the allocation of social housing, except where they 

have high housing needs and are unable to help themselves.    

 People with a history of tenancy breaches 

Housing Associations’ own allocation policies may disqualify an applicant from 

being offered housing.  However the Council cannot apply this to accepted 

homeless households.  Where the Council wishes to nominate an accepted 

homeless household who has previously breeched their tenancy (e.g. left with rent 

arrears) it will provide details of the individual’s circumstances to the housing 

association.  

 

 

 

Page 74



 19 

 

 People who have worsened their own housing circumstances 

Where an applicant has deliberately worsened their own housing circumstances 

they may be placed in the lowest priority band.  However the Council will take into 

account the applicant’s circumstances, e.g. the welfare of children.  

 People who have refused offers of properties or failed to attend viewings. 

As the Council does not have its own housing stock this qualification is not 

relevant.  Housing associations may include this in their own allocation polices 

and the Council will ask to be informed if they are refusing a nomination for this 

reason or do not co-operate in other ways. This will be taken into account and the 

Council may no longer the household owe the household a housing duty 

 Equal Opportunities 

 Telford & Wrekin Council is committed to equal opportunities in housing. We will 

ensure that priority for housing is based on housing need and housing policies are 

fair to all sections of the community regardless of age, disability, gender, marriage, 

civil partnership, pregnancy, maternity, race, religion, belief or sexual orientation.   

Nomination by the Council 

6.6 While the Council does not operate a housing waiting list or register it maintains a ‘pool’ of 

households who sought advice and support and are homeless or at risk of becoming homeless.  

In 2020 it received over 1,500 formal enquiries from households in this position.  The Council 

currently makes a number of nominations of households in housing need to providers on an 

informal basis. 

6.7 As part of developing the new Allocation Policy the Council has been working with local 

providers the aim of establishing a formal joint nominations arrangement and to increase 

the number of successful nominations that are made directly to housing associations.  

The interim arrangement includes:   

 The type of homes that will be included including general vacancies (relets) and new build 

homes. 

 The proportion of these to be offered for nomination by to the Council by providers 

 Processes and timescales for making and considering nominations  

6.8  Where the Council is given the opportunity to make a nomination to a suitable property 

it will make up to three nominations for consideration.  These will be based on the 

priorities and examples of need set out in the table below.  They will include one primary 

nomination and up to two secondary nominations which are defined as: 

 Primary - Households in Main Duty or Relief Duty under the Homelessness 
Reduction Act  

 Secondary - Households in Main Duty, Prevention Duty or in Prevention under 
the Homelessness Reduction Act 

 
This will include households:  

- who are homeless.  This includes applicants where there is a statutory duty to 
rehouse as well as applicants who are intentionally homes and those who are not 
in priority need.   

- who are owed a specific legal duty by another housing authority. 

Page 75



  

 

20  

 

- occupying unsanitary or overcrowded housing (based on ‘the bedroom 
standard) or otherwise living in unsatisfactory housing conditions.  

- who need to move on medical or welfare grounds, including grounds relating to 
disability.  

- who need to move to a particular locality in the district of the housing authority, 
where failure to meet that need would cause hardship (to themselves or others). 

- in the Council’s additional preference categories. 
 

6.9 As part of its nomination process the Council will assess the housing needs of the 

customer against the specification and location of the available property.  It will then 

makes its nomination(s) based on the level and urgency of housing need and in the 

order of the date their enquiry to the Council was validated.    

6.10 It has been agreed with the housing associations to trial this arrangement from April 2021 for 

twelve months.  This will allow for monitoring of outcomes, further discussion with larger 

providers who were not part of Midland Heart’s letting system and the possible extension to 

other, smaller and specialist providers.  

 Local Lettings Plans  

6.11 Local Lettings Plans (LLP) may be used by the Council and providers to allocate homes to 

specific groups of people whilst still taking account of allocation priorities.   LLPs should not 

discriminate directly or indirectly on any equality grounds.   

6.12 The agreement of a LLP will normally be linked to a planning consent for a new housing 

scheme and included as part of a S106 Agreement for that development. They may also relate 

to existing homes.  LLPs in Telford & Wrekin should cover all affordable tenures including rent 

and low cost home ownership (shared ownership or similar).    

6.13 The Council will work with housing providers in the borough to identify neighbourhoods, areas 

and schemes which would benefit from a local lettings plan (LLP).  LLPs may be used to:  

 Enable the allocation of all new schemes to a mix of tenants in order to develop a 

strong and stable community  

 Enable an existing community to become more stronger and more stable  

 Allow those living in rural areas, or areas of high demand in relation to supply, to 

have priority for schemes in their village or locality.  

 Enable more sensitive lettings on schemes for a number of reasons 

6.14 LLPs will include details of:  

 Aims and objectives 

 Letting criteria, for example age, household size/composition, personal 

circumstances, employment, local connection.  

 Types of tenancies 

 Scope and duration 

 Monitoring and review arrangements  

 Equalities Impact Assessment 

6.15 LLPs may also be agreed in other circumstances where there is evidence that local 

communities would benefit from such a plan and there is no significant adverse impact on other 

communities.   

6.16 The Council will work with housing providers on the preparation of LLPs to ensure that they 

are agreed formally before a property is advertised or allocated.  In addition:   Page 76



 21 

 

 The equalities impact of a LLP will be considered before it is agreed. 

 LLPs will have clear criteria which are published when a property is advertised.  

 All LLPs will include a formal date for a joint review to ensure that they are still 

appropriate and relevant.  

 Local Connection Policies 

6.17 In rural parts of the borough and some other areas, e.g. Newport, the Council will use its 

planning powers to influence the initial allocation and subsequent relet of all new social 

properties (for rent or low cost home ownership).  These will be restricted in the first instance 

to established local residents of the parish (or those that that have a strong local connection to 

it) and who have a housing need.  This will be achieved by the use of a legal S106 agreement 

linked to the planning consent which will set out the local connection criteria and the timescales 

after which the search for applicants can be widened out.  In rural areas and certain other areas 

the Council will seek to work closely with the respective Parish Council or equivalent.  Full 

details are provided in Appendix 3. 

6.18 Most of the existing social properties in rural parishes are not subject to a legal agreement 

restricting their allocation to applicants with a local connection.  However the Council will 

encourage housing providers to relet them in future using LLPs to prioritise applicants with a 

local connection.   

 Low Cost Home Ownership  

6.19 The local connection criteria and allocation processes described above will also apply to other 

forms of affordable housing, including shared ownership housing in rural parishes and other 

selected areas.  These homes should be advertised though the mechanisms described above.  

They may also be promoted in other ways, e.g. local newspapers, newsletters or websites.  

The Council also strongly encourages housing providers to advertise these properties through 

the local Help to Buy Agent.  Applicants should demonstrate that they are unable to afford to 

buy on the open market in the location where they have a local connection and are also able 

to afford their full housing costs. ` 

 Supported and Specialist Housing (including Extra care housing) 

6.20 Potential applicants may be referred to this form of housing by a key worker from housing, 

social care, health or probation.  For some schemes applications may be invited. There are 

schemes available for: 

 Younger people 

 Older people 

 Ex-offenders 

 People with mental health needs 

 Drug and alcohol abuse 

 Victims of domestic abuse 

 Homeless people 

 Adults with learning disability 

 Adults with a physical or sensory disability 
 

6.21 Some supported or specialist accommodation may be for short period, perhaps 

between 6 months and 2 years.  Some accommodation may be long term or a ‘home 

for life’.  

Page 77



  

 

22  

 

6.22 More information on supported and specialist housing in Telford & Wrekin is available 

on the Council’s webpages.  

1. Arrangements for Monitoring & Review  

 

7.1 The Council will monitor the implementation of its Housing Allocation Policy by working 

with local housing associations and other providers.  It may update this document from 

time to time but will consult on any significant changes.  

 

 

   

 

  

Page 78

https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20580/housing_and_accommodation/3920/supported_housing_living


 23 

 

REFERENCES  

 The Housing Act, 1996 

 The Localism Act, 2011 

 Allocation of accommodation: guidance for local housing authorities in England (2021).  

MHCLG  

 

 

 

 

  

Page 79



  

 

24  

 

APPENDIX 1 

 

TELFORD & WREKIN COUNCIL TENANCY STRATEGY  

Introduction 

Under the Localism Act 2011 local housing authorities must prepare and publish a Tenancy 

Strategy.  This must set out the matters to which housing associations (Registered 

Providers) social housing providers are to have regard in formulating or reviewing their 

policies on tenancies.   Housing associations should consider it every time they review their 

policies.  

Under the Localism Act housing associations no longer have to let general needs homes on 

the most secure form of tenure possible, but can offer a ‘flexible’ or fixed term tenancy on 

affordable and social rented homes.  All associations must set out their approach to tenure in 

their own tenancy policy.  This should explain: 

 The kind of tenancies they will create 

 The circumstances in which they will do this 

 The length of tenancy terms 

 The circumstances in which a further tenancy will be granted  

Links are provided below (to follow) to the tenancy policies of the largest housing 

associations in the borough:  

 
 Bournville Village Trust (BVT) 
 Bromford Housing Group 
 Housing Plus 
 Trident  
 Sanctuary  
 Whg 
 The Wrekin Housing Group 

 
 

Use of Fixed Term Tenancies 
 
The Council’s preference is for use of secure, lifetime tenancies.  However it recognises that 

housing associations have the flexibility to offer fixed term tenancies of various lengths.  

Where associations do use fixed term tenancies the Council requests that:  

 A minimum five year fixed tenancy is used.  This provides greater stability and certainty 

for tenants and families.  It will also help to create a sustainable community.   

 Longer tenancies (for example, 10 years) are used where the property is specialist or 

adapted to meet the needs of a disabled person.  

 Lifetime tenancies are used for sheltered housing or extra care housing.   

 Shorter tenancies (for example, two years) are used where someone is expected to 

move on to more permanent accommodation or requires short term housing. 

 Tenancy type to be maintained when a tenant transfers within an association’s stock.  

 Fixed term tenancies are not used to address breeches of tenancy, where there are 

existing legal remedies  

 The termination of fixed term tenancies should not be linked to household income. 

Page 80



 25 

 

Where a fixed tenancy is used, providers should give tenants appropriate advice and 

information about their housing options at the time of letting and when a carry out a tenancy 

review. 

The Council expects providers to renew all fixed term tenancies other than where the 

tenant’s circumstances have changed significantly, e.g. significant under occupation, where 

specialist housing is no longer required.  In these cases tenants should be treated sensitively 

and offered a more suitable home with the same or other housing association.      

The Council supports the use of introductory or probationary tenancies by providers for new 

tenants. 

Reviewing a Fixed Term Tenancy 

 

Providers should set out within their Tenancy Policy how frequently a fixed term tenancy will 

be reviewed and the factors that will be considered, e.g. size of property/family composition, 

special features/adaptations and the continued need for them.  The review should assess a 

tenant’s circumstances and explore their available housing options.  

 

A tenant should be given at least six months’ notice if a provider is planning to end a 

tenancy.  The providers should give reasons for the decision to end a tenancy and 

information on how to make an appeal.   

 

Providers should formally notify the Council’s Housing Solutions Team immediately where 

they have taken a decision not to renew a tenancy.   

 

A tenant should be allowed to remain in their property at the end of the tenancy until a 

suitable alternative has been found.  

 

The Council will work with local housing providers to monitor the use of fixed term tenancies, 

including their review, renewal and termination.  

 

Affordable Rents 

The Council recognises that many new fixed term tenancies for social housing are at 

affordable rather than social rents.  It will monitor the extent to which affordable rents are 

actually affordable to people in housing need, particularly in the light of national welfare 

reforms.  In some cases or geographic areas the Council will encourage the letting of social 

homes at social rents.  The Council also expects providers to consult with it over proposals 

to convert social rented relets to affordable rents.  

Nominations 

Telford & Wrekin Council expects to retain its nomination rights to social housing vacancies.  

It will seek the assistance of local providers to use these to discharge or meet its statutory 

duties and strategic housing responsibilities.   

Page 81



  

 

26  

 

APPENDIX 2 

 

CONTACT DETAILS 

 Telford & Wrekin Council  

Service Telephone 
 

Web site 

Housing 
Solutions Team 

01952 381925 https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20668/do_you_n
eed_advice_about_renting_in_telford/351/housi
ng_services 
 

Telford 
Homefinder  
 

01952 388117 https://thf.telford.gov.uk/Home/ContactUs 
 

 

Housing Associations  

Organisation Telephone 
 

Web site 

Bournville Village 
Trust (BVT) 
 

0300 333 6540 https://www.bvt.org.uk/ 
 

Bromford  
 

0330 1234 034 http://www.bromford.co.uk/ 
 

Housing Plus 0300 300 0059 https://www.housingplusgroup.co.uk/contact# 
 

Sanctuary 
 

0800 131 3348 
(landline)/ 0300 
123 3511 (mobile) 

http://www.sanctuary-housing.co.uk/ 
 

Trident 0800 111 4944 https://tridentgroup.org.uk/residents# 
 

whg  https://www.whg.uk.com/ 
 

The Wrekin 
Housing Group 
 

01952 217100 https://www.wrekinhousingtrust.org.uk/ 
 
 

 

 

                                                                     

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 82

https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20668/do_you_need_advice_about_renting_in_telford/351/housing_services
https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20668/do_you_need_advice_about_renting_in_telford/351/housing_services
https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20668/do_you_need_advice_about_renting_in_telford/351/housing_services
https://thf.telford.gov.uk/Home/ContactUs
https://www.bvt.org.uk/
http://www.bromford.co.uk/
https://www.housingplusgroup.co.uk/contact
http://www.sanctuary-housing.co.uk/
https://tridentgroup.org.uk/residents
https://www.whg.uk.com/
https://www.wrekinhousingtrust.org.uk/


 27 

 

 

APPENDIX 3 

 

LOCAL CONNECTION POLICIES 

Defining a Local Connection 

For the purposes of this Allocation Policy a local connection to the borough as whole will be 

considered to be:  

 Lived in the borough for three of the last five years or 

 Employed in the borough or have a firm offer of employment in the borough (employed 

means anyone working more than 16 hours per week in the borough, but excluding 

casual work) or 

 Returning to live in the borough having lived there previously for not less than three 

years  or 

 Have close family in the borough who have lived there for at least three years  (Close 

family means a close relative such as a parent, grandparent, adult child, grandchild, 

adult sibling, common-law partner or civil partner) or 

 Need to live in the borough to care for, or receive care from close relatives (same 

definition as close family) or 

 Have special circumstances which the local authority may consider to warrant the 

applicant living in the borough  

 

Local Connection and Rural Parishes in Telford & Wrekin  

The Rural Area of Telford and Wrekin includes the following parishes: 

 Chetwynd  

 Chetwynd Aston & Woodcote 

 Church Aston  

 Edgmond 

 Ercall Magna 

 Eyton upon the Weald Moors 

 Kynnersley  

 Lilleshall & Donnington (rural part) 

 Little Wenlock 

 Preston upon the Weald Moors 

 Rodington 

 Tibberton & Cherrington  

 Waters Upton.   

 Wrockwardine (rural part) 

 

  

Page 83



  

 

28  

 

For the purposes of this Allocation Policy a local connection to a rural parish will be 

considered as:  

 Lived in the parish for three of the last five years  or 

 Employed in the parish or have a firm offer of employment in the parish (employed 

means anyone working more than 16 hours per week in the parish, but excluding casual 

work) or 

 Returning to live in the parish having lived there previously for not less than three years  

or 

 Have close family in the parish who have lived there for at least three years  (Close 

family means a close relative such as a parent, grandparent, adult child, grandchild, 

adult sibling, common-law partner or civil partner) or 

 Need to live in the parish to care for, or receive care from close relatives (same definition 

as close family) or 

 Have special circumstances which the local authority may consider to warrant the 

applicant living in the parish  

‘Cascade arrangements’ will operate as follows:  

a)  If within one month of the property being advertised no applicants who meet the above 

local connection criteria can be identified, the property can be allocated to persons who 

have a local connection to bordering parishes provided that they are within the Borough 

of Telford and Wrekin.   

b)  If within a further month no applicants who have a local connection to bordering 
parishes can be identified, the property can be allocated to persons who have a local 
connection to any rural parish in Telford & Wrekin. 

c)  If within a further month no applicants who have a local connection to any rural parish in 
Telford & Wrekin can be identified, the property can be allocated to persons who are 
housing need and are normally resident in the Borough of Telford and Wrekin. 

A Local Lettings Plan will be agreed between Telford & Wrekin Council, the local Parish 
Council and the Registered Provider.  This will ensure that properties are allocated in 
accordance with the criteria, without individuals’ information being shared. 

 

 

Page 84



TELFORD & WREKIN COUNCIL 
CABINET – 18th MARCH 2021 
 
TITLE: DEFINITIVE MAP MODIFICATION ORDERS – POLICY AND 
PROCEDURES 
 
REPORT OF DIRECTOR: PROSPERITY AND INVESTMENT 
 
LEAD CABINET MEMBER – CLLR CAROLYN HEALY 

 
 
PART A) – SUMMARY REPORT 
 
1. SUMMARY OF MAIN PROPOSALS 
 
1.1 The Council is undertaking a major transformation of how Public Rights of Way 

are managed by the Authority, including the digitisation of the Definitive Map and 

its Statement, other records and data, the processing of orders, and the 

categorisation of the Public Rights of Way in the Borough.  

 

1.2 The Definitive Map and Statement is the official record of footpaths, bridleways, 

restricted bridleways and bypasses open to all traffic. A Definitive Map 

Modification Order (DMMO) is a method by which the Definitive Map and 

Statement can be changed where it is believed there is an error or omission. A 

DMMO cannot create access rights that do not currently exist, remove rights that 

do not exist or divert paths onto a preferred route, it is only concerned with 

modifying the definitive map to show the rights that legally exists; this includes 

through the evidence of a claimed route for a historic right of way. The decision 

on whether or not to make such a correction is based purely on the evidence of 

what public rights exist and it is important to understand that the process is not 

concerned with issues of management of the ways, desirability of the routes or 

other such matters.  

 

1.3 The Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 requires Local Authorities to keep a 

register of all applications for a Definitive Map Modification Order and this register 

must be made available to the public.  

 

1.4 This report sets out the proposal to adopt a new policy and procedure that will 

clearly identify how the Council will prioritise and determine outstanding and new 

applications to modify the Definitive Map. Consequently, the Council will be able 

to determine decisions more efficiently through a transparent and defined 

process. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
It is recommended that Cabinet: 
 
2.1 Approves the Definitive Map Modification Order Policy. 
 

Page 85

Agenda Item 7



2.2 Delegates authority to the Director of Prosperity and Investment in consultation 
with the Cabinet member for Visitor Economy, Historic & Natural Environment 
and Climate Change to periodically review and amend the policy as required.  

 
3. SUMMARY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  
 
COMMUNITY IMPACT Do these proposals contribute to specific Co-

Operative Council priority objective(s)? 

Yes - Improve the health and wellbeing of our 
communities and address health 
inequalities through the provision of 
Public Rights of Way throughout the 
borough. 

Will the proposals impact on specific groups of 
people? 

No  
 

TARGET 
COMPLETION/DELIVERY 
DATE 
 

The Policy will become effective immediately 
following approval, and procedures henceforth will 
adhere to the Policy. 

FINANCIAL/VALUE FOR 
MONEY IMPACT 

Yes  The proposal to adopt a new policy and 
procedure to change the Definitive Map 
modification order will place no 
additional financial pressure on the 
Council.   
The review of applications will continue 
to be met from within current resource 
levels. 
  

LEGAL ISSUES Yes  As with all the Council’s decisions the 
decision making process with regard the 
processing of applications to modify the 
Council’s Definitive Map must be rational 
and evidence-based. The Policy 
document that is being presented to the 
Committee will assist the Council’s 
decision by ensuring that the process of 
determining an application to modify the 
Council’s Definitive Map is undertaken in 
accordance with a process that is 
transparent and consistent. 
 
The published policy provides that as a 
starting position the Council will remain 
neutral in applications to modify the 
Definitive Map. The Council may lawfully 
take a neutral stance in any particular 
application to modify the Definitive Map, 
the policy will assist in making sure that 
the Council’s position as regards its 
approach at the Secretary of States 
determination stage is clear, consistent, 

Page 86



transparent, cogent and based on 
evidence.   
 
The Council’s policy of taking a neutral 
stance at Secretary of State’s 
determination stage will need to be 
subject to specific consideration in each 
case in order to ensure that the Council 
is acting lawfully i.e. it is the starting 
point rather than a blanket approach to 
be applied without the application of any 
discretion. 
  

OTHER IMPACTS, RISKS & 
OPPORTUNITIES 

Yes The proposal will allow the determination 
of existing modification order applications 
and therefore actively enable legal 
modifications of Public Rights of Way 
across the borough, this has the potential 
to increase sustainable connections 
within local areas, to the benefit of 
communities, economy, and public 
health.  

IMPACT ON SPECIFIC 
WARDS 

No Borough-wide impact 

 
PART B) – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
4. INFORMATION 
 
4.1 The Definitive Map and Statement (DMS) provides a record of public rights of 

way in Telford & Wrekin and under Section 56 of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 
1981 is conclusive evidence that at the Relevant Date the public had, at least, 
the rights shown on the Map without prejudice to the possibility of the existence 
of higher rights over a particular way. 

 
4.2 Every Surveying Authority must keep a Definitive Map and accompanying 

Definitive Statement. This is a document recording public rights of way. It includes 
four categories of right of way, which are all public highways:  
 

• Footpath (FP) – a public right of way on foot only  
• Bridleway (BR) – a public right of way on foot, horseback or bicycle  
• Restricted Byway (RB) – a public right of way including all the 

above in addition to non-motorised vehicles  
• Byway Open to All Traffic (BOAT) – a public right of way open to 

all the above and motor vehicles  
There are also a matching series of written statements that describe the ways 
shown on the maps. 
 

4.3 The Definitive Map was first prepared under the provisions of the National Parks 
and Access to the Countryside Act 1949, and the last publication was made in 
1965. Since this date there have been hundreds of legal events changing the 
definitive map since it was published which include extinguishments; diversions; 
and creations of rights of way – these are not shown on the definitive map, but 
are recorded on separate legal documents called Legal Event Modification 

Page 87



Orders. There have also been a number of confirmed Evidential Event 
Modification Orders that have changed the definitive map. Again, these are not 
shown on the definitive map but are recorded on separate legal documents.  
Therefore the Council has been bringing these documents together to publish a 
New Definitive Map and Statement, and is currently in the final stages and a 
working copy has been made available online.  

 
4.4 Under the provisions of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, Telford & Wrekin 

Council as Surveying Authority has a duty to keep the DMS under continuous 
review, and therefore when evidence becomes available that there is an error, 
inaccuracy or omission on the DMS, that the DMS should be modified as soon 
as is reasonably practicable by means of a legal order (known as Definitive Map 
Modification Order [DMMO]).  
 

4.5 Under the provisions of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, a Definitive Map 
Modification Order may be applied for by anyone who considers that a public right 
of way is either: 

1. Not recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement, or 
2. Recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement but should be shown as a 

way of a different status, or 
3. Recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement but should no longer be 

recorded. 
 

Applications must be supported by evidence, which can be either:  
 evidence of use 
 evidence contained in historic documents 

 
4.6 There are currently approximately 120 outstanding DMMO applications registered 

with the council awaiting determination. The process to date has been led by the 
council, being the main party to collate such evidence to support the DMMO 
application. However this has a significant impact on resource, and limits the 
number of DMMO’s which can be processed.  Therefore in order to determine 
these applications, the Council proposes to adopt a neutral approach to these 
applications, and the onus to provide sufficient evidence to support these 
application is passed to the applicant.  

 
4.7 The proposed policy clearly sets out how the Council will prioritise, process and 

determine outstanding and new applications to modify the definitive map. We will 
then review all our procedures for processing and determining applications to 
modify the definitive map and, where necessary, restructure them in accordance 
with the new policy. In supporting this new process the applications will be made 
available online, displaying any consultation responses and evidence received, in 
a similar way planning applications are made available online. This will make the 
process transparent and promote engagement, in addition to making efficiencies.  
The Council will then review   all outstanding applications to modify the definitive 
map by summer 2021 – i.e. establish the evidence that has been submitted and 
consulted with all relevant parties.   

 
4.8 The procedure for modifying the Definitive Map can be summed up as a two stage 

process. The first step is for the Council to determine whether it has enough 
evidence to determine that the Definitive Map needs to be modified by reference 
to tests contained in the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. If the Council 
determines that it is necessary to modify the Definitive Map it must publish a 
DMMO to that effect. Once the DMMO has been published the owner of the land 
on which the new/modified right of way will exist can object to the published order. 

Page 88



 
4.9 If the owner of the land on which the new/modified right of way will exist does 

object to the publication of the DMMO the matter is referred to the Secretary of 
State for determination. This second step in the process will involve the relevant 
parties (i.e. the Council, Landowner and any other interested party for example 
the Parish Council or British Horse Society etc.) making representations to the 
Secretary of State at either a Public Inquiry or via a Written Representations 
procedure as to whether the new/modified right of way should be confirmed or 
not. 

 
4.10 It is the case that the Council can choose to support, oppose or take a neutral 

stance regarding the new/modified right of way at the stage at which the Secretary 
of State makes a determination regarding the DMMO.  

 
4.11 It is important to recognise that supporting or opposing an order at the Secretary 

of State’s determination phase involves a great deal of officer time and resource 
as in effect the Council is acting as a party with an active role in and vested 
interest in the disputed matter. This would involve drafting statements of case, 
presenting evidence and actively advocating at the determination stage. 

 
4.12 If the Council takes a neutral stance at the Secretary of State’s determination 

stage it is still obliged to play a role in collating information on behalf of the 
Secretary of State however this role is greatly reduced in comparison with 
presenting a case in favour of or against the application to modify the Definitive 
Map and is much closer to acting as an administrator of the process. This may 
involve providing accommodation for a Public Inquiry or providing contact 
information for those parties with an active role and vested interest in the disputed 
matter. If the Council is taking a neutral stance at this stage the obligation to 
present a case in favour of the DMMO would fall on the original applicant.  

 
4.13 The proposed policy provides that it is the Council’s starting position to take a 

neutral stance at the Secretary of State’s determination phase. This approach has 
been taken because it is often the case that the Council has no vested interest in 
applications to modify the Definitive Map other than in its role as the entity 
provided with the responsibility by statute to maintain and administer the Definitive 
Map. As set out in the legal comment above the Council’s policy of taking a neutral 
stance at Secretary of States determination stage will need to be subject to 
specific consideration in each case in order to ensure that the Council is acting 
lawfully i.e. it is the starting point rather than a blanket approach to be applied 
without the application of any discretion. 

 
4.14 The Council has consulted in respect of the policy and in doing so it has 

undertaken the following steps:  
  

1. Consultation packs were sent on the 18/12/2020 to: 

 All Ward Members 

 All Town and Parish Councils 

 All statutory consultees for Definitive Map Modification Orders (e.g. 
The Ramblers Association; the British Horse Society; etc.) 

 The Local Access Forum 
2. An extraordinary meeting of the Local Access Forum was held on the 

14/12/2020 to discuss the consultation 
3. Officers attended a Town and Parish Council Forum on the 20/01/2021 to 

answer questions about the consultation 

Page 89



4. The consultation was advertised and delivered to the population of the 
Borough via the Council’s website on the 18/12/2020 
 

4.15 There were 28 responses to the consultation, with 9 of those responses not 
supporting the proposed Policy. The main reasons given for not supporting the 
Policy were that the Council should take the initiative and responsibility for: 

 Identifying issues on the Definitive Map that require resolution 

 Collating evidence to support applications 

 Presenting the case and supporting evidence at a Public Inquiry 

 The voluntary role of applicants was stressed, and the need for the 
Council to support their work. 

 
In response to the feedback, officers have considered these issues however has 
not proposed to alter the Policy for the following reasons: 

 The Policy refers to applications to modify the Definitive Map and does 
not preclude the Council from pro-active review should it choose to do so; 
thus still allowing the Council to prepare our own modification orders.  

 The collation of evidence, particularly where the application relies on 
statements of use, should come from the applicant in most cases because 
they have the knowledge to support their claim 

 Officers acknowledge the voluntary role of applicants and particularly 
where this involves presenting evidence at Public Inquiries, but would 
point out that objectors to Orders are already obliged to collate evidence 
and present their own cases if necessary.  

 
5 IMPACT ASSESSMENT – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

 
 The Council will more efficiently and rapidly reduce and progress the outstanding 

Definitive Map Modification Order applications providing clarity on these claims 
i.e. whether a right of way does or does not exist. 

 The Council will provide a transparent and defined process for responding to and 
determining new applications that meets current statutory requirements, and is 
adaptable to reflect changes in legislation. 

 
6 PREVIOUS MINUTES 

  
NA 

 
 

7 BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Appendix – DMMO Policy and procedures  
 
Report prepared by Valerie Hulme, Development Management Service Delivery 
Manager 

Page 90



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PROCEDURE AND POLICY FOR DEFINITIVE MAP MODIFICATION 

ORDERS 

March 2021 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 91



 

2 

 

 

 

 

CONTENTS 

 

1. INTRODUCTION……………………………………………….............................3 

2.  BACKGROUND………………………………………………………....................3  

3. THE POLICY – FORM OF APPLICATION……………………………………....5 

4. REGISTER OF DMMO APPLICATIONS………………………………….……...6 

5. CONSIDERATION OF THE EVIDENCE…………………………….…….…..7 

6. DETERMINATION OF THE APPLICATION………………………………..........8 

7. PUBLICATION OF DMMO………………………………………………………….8  

8. PUBLIC INQUIRIES…………………………………………………………...........9 

9. GUIDANCE……………………………………………………………………..........10 

10 APPENDIX 1 - WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981..............................10  

11 APPENDIX 2 / APPENDIX 3 - Evidence Required – Documentary...……....12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 92



 

3 

 

1. Introduction 

1.1. This policy has been devised having regard to the Wildlife and Countryside 

Act 1981, in particular Section 53 and Schedule 14.  

 

2. Background 

2.1. The Definitive Map and Statements (DMS) are an extremely important record 

of PRoW. These records are held and maintained by Telford & Wrekin’s 

Rights of Way Section. The Statement, which accompanies the Definitive 

Map, may contain a description of the position and width of a path or any 

limitation or condition affecting the right of way. Together, they provide 

conclusive evidence as to the existence and status of the public right of way 

shown. 

2.2. Under the provisions of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, Telford & 

Wrekin Council as Surveying Authority has a duty to keep the DMS under 

continuous review. 

2.3. Continuous review, in essence, means that when evidence becomes available 

that there is an error, inaccuracy or omission on the DMS, that the DMS 

should be modified as soon as is reasonably practicable by means of a legal 

order (known as Definitive Map Modification Order [DMMO]). 

2.4. Thus, a Surveying Authority can make a DMMO whenever it discovers new 

evidence which requires the map to be amended. But in addition to this, any 

person may apply to the Surveying Authority for a DMMO to be made. 

Landowners may, for example, believe that a path recorded on the Definitive 

Map is not public, or that a public right of way is shown on the incorrect line or 

has the wrong status. Likewise, there are often cases where paths not 

recorded on the Definitive Map actually exist on the ground, and may have 

been openly used and enjoyed by the public for a considerable time. In such 

cases there may be a basis for that route to be added to the legal record, if 

public rights have been established. 

2.5. Whoever seeks a DMMO, the same basic principle applies. The most 

important of these is the need for factual evidence and whether or not public 

rights exist. There are two main types of evidence which applicants should 

seek when making an application – evidence of use and/or documentary 

evidence such as historical maps and records. Evidence will need to be well- 

founded and convincing – merely asserting that a right of way exists without 

supporting evidence is unlikely to result in an Order being made. The whole 

exercise is concerned with resolving uncertainty over what rights actually exist 

not what rights are desirable from any particular viewpoint. See Appendix 2 for 

a list of the type of evidence required.  

Page 93



 

4 

 

2.6. In order to achieve the correct results, consistent with facts and legislation, 

officers previously investigated such claims undertake thorough and detailed 

research into the relevant evidence, in each case, making a substantial 

commitment in time and resources. Due to the complexity of researching such 

applications, this would take longer than 12 months, causing a significant back 

log.  

2.7. Although not stated explicitly, the legislation envisages that claims will be 

determined within 12 months. It does this by providing that an applicant may 

apply to the Planning Inspectorate for a direction requiring the local authority 

to determine a claim if it has not done so within 12 months of the date of 

receipt of the completed application. The Planning Inspectorate will have 

regard to the Council’s policy for dealing with DMMO’s in considering requests 

for direction. 

2.8. A further material consideration is the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 

2000 (CROW Act). In order to bring some certainty to users of the countryside 

and landowners about what rights actually exist, a cut-off date of 1st January, 

2026 has been introduced, after which it will not be possible to apply for 

footpaths, bridleways or higher rights to be included on the Definitive Map 

based purely on historical documentary evidence (historical is classed as pre- 

1949). Thus after this date it will only be possible to claim rights based on user 

evidence. However, it is envisaged that the backlog will grow due to an 

anticipated increase in DMMO applications as 2026 approaches. 

2.9. The Natural Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006 

extinguished every public right of way for mechanically propelled vehicles 

unless that way i) was already shown on a Definitive Map and Statement as a 

Byway Open to All Traffic (BOAT) or ii) was subject to one of a number of 

exemptions contained in Sections 67(2) or 67(3). One of these exceptions is if 

the right to use motorised vehicles had come into existence prior to 1930. 

Another would be if the main use in the period of 5 years before 11th May, 

2006 was by motorised vehicles. 

 

3. The Policy 

Form of Application 

3.1. In accordance with paragraphs 1 and 2 of Schedule 14 of the 1981 Act (see 

Appendix 1), all applications shall be made in the prescribed form and shall be 

accompanied by a map to a scale of not less than 1:25000 showing the way 

or ways to which the application relates. 

Page 94



 

5 

 

3.2. It shall include copies of all documentary evidence (including statements of 

witnesses) which the applicant wishes to offer in support of the application, 

even if the documents are already in the possession of the Council. 

3.3. The applicant shall serve notice on every owner and occupier of the land 

covered by the application. The notice shall state that the application has 

been made. If the applicant does not know the name and address of the 

owner or occupiers, he shall make reasonable inquiries. If the reasonable 

inquiries do not discover the name and address of the owner or occupiers, the 

applicant shall inform the Council of this fact and describe the inquiries made. 

At its discretion, the Council may allow the applicant to serve the notice by 

addressing it to “the Owner” or “the Occupier”, as appropriate, and fixing it to a 

conspicuous object or objects on the land. When the notice has been given to 

the owner or occupier the applicant shall certify that to the Council in the 

prescribed form. 

3.4. The Council will provide all the necessary documentation to enable an 
application to be made in the prescribed form. 

3.5. The number of evidence statements which an applicant needs to submit is not 
specified in the relevant legislation, although Telford & Wrekin Council 
generally regards 7 statements as being desirable. 

3.6. The Council will not investigate the application until all these preliminary steps 
have been complied with. Any application that is not in the prescribed form 
with copies of supporting evidence, as set out in paragraphs 1 and 2 of 
Schedule 14, will normally be returned to the applicant with an explanation of 
its formal deficiencies. 

 

Page 95



 

6 

 

4. Register of DMMO applications 

4.1. Within 28 days of the receipt of a valid application, the Council will record the 

application on its register of DMMO claims which the Council is required to 

keep and maintain under Section 53B of the 1981 Act. 

4.2. Priority for dealing with applications: Telford & Wrekin’s default priority in 

determining the application is that of the date of receipt of the application. 

Applications may receive a higher priority if one or more of the following apply. 

4.3. DMMO applications will normally be assessed by the PRoW Section and 

priority given in accordance with the following criteria: 

1. The good use of public resources. 

2. The degree of public benefit. 

3. Obstruction of the route. 

4. The likelihood of the land over which the route runs being developed. 

5. Clarity of the evidence submitted. 

6. Where a substantial proportion of the user witnesses are elderly. 

7. Expediency in order to facilitate the resolution of rights of way. 

8. The availability of nearby alternative routes which offer the user a 

similar or enhanced experience to the claimed route. 

 

5. Consideration of the evidence 

 

5.1. If an application meets the formal requirements, but after a brief investigation of 

the evidence accompanying it shows that there is no reasonable prospect of it 

succeeding on the evidence submitted, then the application will normally be 

rejected with an explanation of the further evidence which would be required for 

it to be reconsidered. 

5.2. Where there is incontrovertible evidence that the landowner had no intention 

during the claim period to dedicate the way to the public, for example by the 

landowner complying with Section 31(6) of the Highways Act 1980, then the 

decision should be that no right of way as claimed subsists and the application 

will thus be rejected. 

5.3. If, however, there is no incontrovertible evidence that the landowner had no 

intention during the claim period to dedicate the way to the public the PROW 

officers will investigate that evidence, together with all other relevant evidence 

available to the Authority. 

 

Page 96



 

7 

 

5.4. In investigating the application, a preliminary consultation will be conducted 

with the Ward Member, Town & Parish Councils and other relevant 

organisations (e.g. Rambler’s Association, Local Access Forum). 

5.5. The evidence contained in the application will be submitted to all “owners” or 

“occupiers” asking if they wish to make objections or any representations 

regarding the application. A reasonable time will be allowed for any such 

representations or objections to be made. 

5.6. If user evidence is corroborated by other evidence, there may be no need for 

interviews to be undertaken by officers. However, if there is evidence casting 

doubt upon the user evidence (such as contradictory evidence from a 

landowner) then interviews of the landowner and a selection of user witnesses 

by an officer may be appropriate to determine whether the Authority should 

proceed with the application. 

 

6. Determination of the application 

6.1. Having considered all the evidence and representations made, a report will be 

prepared and considered in accordance with the Council’s Rights of Way 

Scheme of Delegation. 

6.2. When the Council has determined the application, the applicant and the 

landowner or occupiers who were served with the Notice of Application will be 

notified of the decision. 

6.3. If the Council decide to refuse the application after assessing the evidence 

available at that time, the applicant has 28 days from service of the Notice of 

Decision to appeal to the Planning Inspectorate, who will appoint an Inspector 

to consider the appeal. 

6.4. If, after 28 days, no appeal has been made, the file can be closed. 

6.5. If the Council decide to grant the application to modify the Definitive Map, 

officers will continue the process and publish the DMMO.   

 

Page 97



 

8 

 

7. Publication of DMMO 

7.1. If the Council decide to grant an application, an Order will be made and 

published in a local newspaper and posted on site. The owners and occupiers of 

land affected and the Town/Parish Council will also be served with a copy of the 

Order. There will be a period of not less than 42 days for representations and 

objections to be made. 

7.2. If there are no such representations and objections, the Council will confirm the 

Order, and notify the applicant. 

7.3. However, if there are representations or objections or any amendment to the 

Order is necessary then the matter will be referred to the Planning Inspectorate 

who will appoint an Inspector to consider the issues and evidence in the form of 

written representation or a public inquiry. He may then confirm the Order with or 

without amendments. 

7.4. After an Order is confirmed, a further Notice will be published in a local 

newspaper and posted on site and all interested parties will be notified. Any 

person aggrieved by the confirmation of an Order may question its validity in the 

High Court within 42 days of the notification. The grounds for such an application 

must be that the Order is not within the powers of the 1981 Act or that the Act 

has not been complied with. The High Court may quash an Order in whole or in 

part if it is satisfied that this is the case. 

7.5. If the Modification Order is confirmed and not quashed by the High Court, it will 

become part of the DMS for the area and read with it as one document. A 

separate Legal Event Order (LEO) is required to effect a change on the 

Definitive Map and Statement. This LEO will be undertaken by the Council. The 

Ordnance Survey is automatically provided with a copy of the Order so that they 

can take the changes into account on the next edition of their relevant maps. 

7.6. Other than signposting and waymarking there will normally be little effect on the 

ground. There will be no change in landownership and the Authority is not 

obliged to accept any liability for maintenance. If, however, the route is 

obstructed, steps will be taken to remove the obstruction. 

 

8. Public Inquiries 

8.1. It is the Council’s policy to take a neutral stance at any Public Inquiry that may 

arise as a result of an objection other than in exceptional circumstances. This 

means that the Council’s role will be limited to facilitating the process, i.e. by the 

provision of a venue etc. 

8.2. All Applicants must be prepared to present a case at a Public Inquiry in support 

of any Modification Application that they may make. 

 

Page 98



 

9 

 

8.3. Applicants are advised to read the guidance on the Planning Inspectorate website 

at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/rights-of-way-guidance-booklet. 

This guidance explains what is expected of the parties at a Planning Inquiry. 

Applicants are strongly advised to read this before making any application. 

 

8.4. Once a date for a Public Inquiry has been set the Council will contact the 

Applicant to inform them that they will responsible for presenting the case at any 

Inquiry. The Council will provide the Applicant’s details to the Planning 

Inspectorate so that the Applicant may correspond directly with the Planning 

Inspectorate regarding the relevant timetables for the presentation of evidence. 

 

9. Guidance 

9.1. The Council has produced guidance notes to assist applicants which will be   

provided free of charge to anyone who seeks to make an application to modify 

the DMS. 

9.2. The guidance notes are also available on the Council’s website. 

9.3. The Council recognises that the procedures set out in the policy may need to be 

amended in the light of experience and any subsequent representations that 

might be received following its implementation. The policy will be updated 

periodically to reflect current judicial decisions. 

 

Page 99

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/rights-of-way-guidance-booklet


 

10 

 

10. Appendix 1 

WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 

SCHEDULE 14: APPLICATIONS FOR CERTAIN ORDERS UNDER PART III 

Form of applications: 

 

An application shall be made in the prescribed form and shall be accompanied by — 

a map drawn to the prescribed scale and showing the way or ways to which the 

application relates; and copies of any documentary evidence (including statements 

of witnesses) which the applicant wishes to adduce in support of the application. 

 

Notice of applications: 

 

(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), the applicant shall serve a notice stating that the 

application has been made on every owner and occupier of any land to which the 

application relates. 

 

(2) If, after reasonable inquiry has been made, the authority are satisfied that it is not 

practicable to ascertain the name or address of an owner or occupier of any land 

to which the application relates, the authority may direct that the notice required to 

be served on him by sub-paragraph (1) may be served by addressing it to him by 

the description “owner” or “occupier” of the land (describing it) and by affixing it to 

some conspicuous object or objects on the land. 

 

(3) When the requirements of this paragraph have been complied with, the applicant 

shall certify that fact to the authority. 

 

(4) Every notice or certificate under this paragraph shall be in the prescribed form. 

 

Determination by authority: 

 

(1) As soon as reasonably practicable after receiving a certificate under paragraph 

2(3), the authority shall—investigate the matters stated in the application; and 

after consulting with every local authority whose area includes the land to which 

the application relates, decide whether to make or not to make the Order to 

which the application relates. 

 

Page 100



 

11 

 

(2) If the authority have not determined the application within twelve months of their 

receiving a certificate under paragraph 2(3), then, on the applicant making 

representations to the Secretary of State, the Secretary of State may, after 

consulting with the authority, direct the authority to determine the application 

before the expiration of such period as may be specified in the direction. 

 

(3) As soon as practicable after determining the application, the authority shall give 

notice of their decision by serving a copy of it on the applicant and any person on 

whom notice of the application was required to be served under paragraph 2(1). 

 

Appeal against a decision not to make an Order: 

 

(1) Where the authority decide not to make an Order, the applicant may, at any time 

within 28 days after service on him of notice of the decision, serve notice of 

appeal against that decision on the Secretary of State and the authority. 

 

(3) If on considering the appeal the Secretary of State considers that an Order 

should be made, he shall give to the authority such directions as appear to him 

necessary for the purpose. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 101



 

12 

 

11. Appendix 2  

 

Evidence Required – Documentary 

An Inspector conducting a Public Inquiry to determine whether a Public 
Right of Way has been established over land, will expect the following to 
have been researched and copies supplied (where relevant) as a matter 
of course: 

 Mapping, ranging from First Edition Ordnance Survey (c.1835) to the 

latest relevant edition, including both large and small scale mapping. 

 Old County and private maps.  

 Title Map and Schedule Enclosure Awards and Schedule. 

 1910 Finance Act maps and Schedule. 

 Relevant private Bills or Acts of Parliament or Orders (e.g. railway) plans and 

schedules. 

 Relevant Guide books, maps and leaflets. 

 Title deeds. 

 Court Judgements. 

 Dated photographs. 

 Relevant correspondence (e.g. between landowners and tenants or alleged 

trespassers) 

 Any other documentary evidence that may exist which is relevant to the matter. 

 

User Evidence 

An Inspector will normally expect to be able to question those supplying user 
evidence and for those people to be subject to cross-examination. Evidence not 
subject to this test may be discarded or degraded. 

 

- Statements on prescribed forms Sworn Affidavits 

- Relevant, dated photographs or other media  

- Recordings of interviews with users 

 

Note: Failure to produce as much relevant evidence as is applicable in each case, 

may seriously delay consideration and determination of any application. It is 

therefore in the applicant’s interest to make the best case possible in order to 

achieve a speedy and successful outcome. 

Page 102



   

Page | 13  

 

 

Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

TELFORD & WREKIN COUNCIL 
 
CABINET 18th MARCH 2021 
 
DECLARATION OF THE COCKSHUTT LOCAL NATURE RESERVE 
 
REPORT OF DIRECTOR: PROSPERITY AND INVESTMENT 
 
LEAD CABINET MEMBER – CLLR CAROLYN HEALY 

 
PART A) – SUMMARY REPORT 
 
1. SUMMARY OF MAIN PROPOSALS 

 

1.1 This report sets out proposals for Cabinet to approve the declaration of The 

Cockshutt Local Nature Reserve (LNR) under Sections 19 and 21 of the 

National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949. 

 

1.2 The declaration of The Cockshutt forms part of a wider program of works being 

delivered by the Council to protect, care and invest in the boroughs natural 

environment. To date this program has protected over 1000ha of locally 

important green spaces valued by our local communities, protecting 200 Green 

Guarantee sites and 16 LNRs. 

 

1.3 The declaration of The Cockshutt will bring the number of LNRs in the Borough 

to 17 and completes the Cabinet process for those LNRs identified within the 

adopted Telford and Wrekin Local Plan (2011- 2031). The Local Plan is 

currently under review, and the recent Issues and Options consultation has 

identified the designation of further LNRs as a key driver in the delivery of an 

enhanced and better protected natural environment within the borough and 

therefore it is envisaged that further sites will come forward for declaration in 

due course. 

 

1.4 Visitor modelling in 2020 identified that Telfords 17 Local Nature Reserves 

receive approximately 3.5 million visits a year. The derived welfare value 

provided by those visits can be valued at approximately £12.5 million/yr. Of the 

3.5 million visits per year approximately 2.5 million visits are made via active 

travel and 1.1 million visits are made by individuals who have never visited the 

LNRs before. 

 

1.5 Modelling specifically for The Cockshutt indicates that the site receives 

approximately 252,500 visits a year generating a welfare value of 

approximately £865,000 a year. 

 

1.6 The Cockshutt is a large 33ha site comprising a habitat mosaic of heathland, 

scrub, neutral grassland and broadleaved woodland situated between 

Oakengates, Wrockwardine Wood and St Georges. The sites importance for 

nature conservation was recognised by the Telford Development Corporation 

in their 1979 ‘Open Space and Landscape Structure Review’ with the site 

Page 105

Agenda Item 8



 2 

mapped as one of 42 key areas of ecological interest. The site then featured in 

the councils 1986 ‘Nature Conservation Strategy for Telford’ as a ‘Prime Site’ 

of ecological interest. Further ecological surveys in 1989 led to the sites 

inclusion in the councils pioneering ‘Green Network’ approach to spatial 

planning - protecting the site from development through planning policy, a 

protection that was further strengthened by the protection of Local Wildlife Sites 

in planning policy guidance published in 2005.  The proposals to declare the 

site as a Local Nature Reserve will recognise the sites local importance for 

people and wildlife nationally. These proposals are strongly supported by  ward 

members, three local parish councils and a number of local groups, in particular 

the Friends of the Cockshutt, part of the Telford Green Space Partnership. 

 

1.7 A Map showing the proposed LNR is presented in Appendix 1. Photographs 

are presented in Appendix 2. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
It is recommended that cabinet: 
 
2.1 Approves the declaration of the Cockshutt Local Nature Reserve; and   
 
2.2 Delegates authority to complete the declaration process to the Director of 

Prosperity and Investment and Associate Director of Policy and Governance in 
consultation with the Cabinet member for Visitor Economy, Historic & Natural 
Environment and Climate Change.  

 

 
3. SUMMARY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  

COMMUNITY 
IMPACT 

Do these proposals contribute to specific Co-operative Council 
priorities? 

Yes The designation of the LNR contributes to several 
priorities, including: 

 ensuring that neighbourhoods are safe, clean 

and well maintained  

 improving the health and wellbeing of our 

communities and  

 addressing health inequalities  

Will the proposals impact on specific groups of people? 

Yes The proposed LNR is a beneficial resource to people 
who live and visit the area. 

TARGET 
COMPLETION/ 
DELIVERY DATE 

Agreement at Cabinet – March 2021 

Page 106



 3 

FINANCIAL/ 
VALUE FOR 
MONEY IMPACT 

Yes  The Geotechnical risk assessment for this area has 
been completed and funded from within current 
resources. Budget has been allocated to implement the 
reports recommendations, which will be in place before 
the declaration is legally sealed.   
 
The Council will continue to manage and maintain the 
site at its current budget levels no additional 
proportionate steps have been identified with this 
declaration. 
 
The Council, in partnership adjacent Parish Councils, 
will support the existing ‘Friends group’.   
 
A draft Management Plan will be developed with input 
and consultation from Natural England.  Resources 
from within the Councils current budgets will be 
provided to support the development of this plan.   
 

LEGAL ISSUES Yes The Council has power under the National Parks and 
Access to the Countryside Act 1949 to establish nature 
reserves by way of a declaration. The declaration will 
stand as evidence that the land is a LNR and will be 
managed as such. LNR status is a statutory designation 
which reflects an owner’s commitment to managing the 
site for conservation purposes or for a combination of 
conservation and recreational purposes.  
 
There is a making and publication procedure that needs 
to be followed regarding the declaration which includes 
prior consultation with Natural England. Legal Services 
will assist the Director of Prosperity and Investment as 
required regarding the process. Declaring a site as a 
LNR provides opportunity for the Council to make 
byelaws for the protection of the reserve. 
(Other legal points are set out elsewhere in this report) 
 

OTHER IMPACTS, 
RISKS & 
OPPORTUNITIES 

Yes The provision of accessible greenspaces contributes to 
supporting the delivery of the Borough’s public health 
priorities encouraging people of all ages to remain 
active.  
 
LNR status will assist in the application for external 
funding. 
 
LNR’s provide opportunities for volunteering which 
increases physical and social interaction and 
encourages lifelong learning of new skills as well as 
supporting mental wellbeing. 
 

IMPACT ON 
SPECIFIC WARDS 

Yes The designation of the area as an LNR will deliver 
borough wide benefits. 
 

 

Page 107



 4 

 
PART B) – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

 

4. INFORMATION 

4.1 This report sets out a proposal for the Council to agree to declare the statutory 
Local Nature Reserve known as ‘The Cockshutt’. This is in accordance with the 
provisions of Sections 19 and 21 National Parks and Access to the Countryside 
Act 1949. Local Nature Reserves provide opportunities for volunteering in the 
natural environment which increases physical activity, social interaction, 
encourages the lifelong learning of new skills and allows individuals to give 
back to their local community which leads to increases in physical and mental 
wellbeing. 

 
4.2 The site meets the necessary criteria for declaration and has a draft 

management plan. Informal engagement with Natural England has been 
undertaken along with the appropriate level of geotechnical assessment. As 
part of the declaration process and following Cabinet approval, a series of legal 
checks will be undertaken including reports on title, coal and drainage searches 
following which a consultation document will be issued to Natural England to 
seek their formal ‘Welcome’ prior to completion of the declaration and the 
associated legal seal. 

 
4.3 Our population continues to see growth with a population that is younger than 

average. It is therefore important that the places where we live, work and spend 
our leisure time supports our physical and mental wellbeing.  

 
4.4 The response to the coronavirus pandemic has highlighted the need for our 

communities to have access to local green space and has shown that there are 
inequalities in the levels of local green space provision and accessibility. At the 
height of the pandemic in 2020 the UK’s People and Nature survey found that 
nearly 50% of adults surveyed had spent more time in the natural environment 
than before the pandemic. However, it was also found that people’s ability to 
access local green space was strongly linked to their socio-economic status. 
People living in areas of high deprivation, on low incomes or without a current 
job were less likely to be visiting local green spaces. Similar trends were also 
found for older people, minority ethnic groups and those with long term illness. 
The Council, working with parish and town councils, friends groups and local 
environmental organisations have made a commitment to address the 
inequalities in physical, cultural and social access to the natural environment 
and this reflects even more positively given the changes seen through the 
pandemic. 

 
The Cockshutt 

4.5  The Cockshutt is a large post-industrial site featuring a habitat mosaic 

comprising heathland, scrub, neutral grassland and broadleaved woodland. 

4.6 The site comprises a large area of heathland scrub surrounded by woodland 
and amenity grassland. The woodland is typically oak and birch but has been 
extensively planted in the past with beech, ash and sycamore. A number of the 
trees are sufficiently mature to provide rot holes which bats have been recorded 
using and a reasonable proportion of deadwood habitat. The Gorse dominated 
heathland in the centre of the site is especially valuable for birds such as 
Whitethroat, Garden warbler, Blackcap, Chiffchaff, Willow Warbler and Linnet. 

Page 108



 5 

The presence of priority species such as Dingy Skipper and Green Hairstreak 
butterflies plus Kestrel, Bullfinch and Song Thrush indicates that the 
combination of habitats is of high enough quality to support uncommon species 
and  be worthy of designation as a Local Nature Reserve. 
 

5 STRATEGIC PLANNING 
 
5.1 Following declaration the land shown in Appendix 1 will be managed as a Local 

Nature Reserve  
 
5.2 The selection and declaration of Local Nature Reserves play an important role 

in maintaining a healthy balance in spatial planning between the built 
environment and green infrastructure. The Telford & Wrekin Local Plan Policies 
Map shows the site as a ‘Proposed Local Nature Reserve’ (pLNR). A full list of 
Local Nature Reserves is provided in Table 1. The Local Plan commits to 
completing the declaration of the proposed Local Nature Reserves during the 
life time of the Local Plan - 2031. 
 
Table 1: Local Nature Reserves in Telford 

Site Size 

Dothill 41.3 
Limekiln Wood  24 
Lodge Field  3 
Madebrook and Stirchley Dingle  5.4 
Madeley Pit Mounds  42.68 
Telford Town Park  92.32 
The Beeches  3.88 
The Ercall and St Lawrence’s Hill 66.7 
The Granville 61.5 
Apley Woods 22.9 
Lillishall Hill 4.6 
Ketley Paddock Mound 4.9 
Randlay Valley (in process) 44.5 
Rough Park (in process) 
Lightmoor (in process) 
Dawley Pools and Pit Mounds (in process) 

42.3 
24.4 
38 

Proposed Local Nature Reserves  

The Cockshutt 32.8 

 
 
6 NATURAL CAPITAL ASSESSMENT  
 

Natural Capital 
6.1 This year a government review collated and assessed our current 

understanding of the economics of biodiversity. The study sets out how we rely 
on the natural environment to provide us with food, water and shelter and how 
the natural systems we are part of regulate our climate, maintain nutrient cycles 
and oxygen production. The review sets out how, as individuals or as 
communities, the natural environment can enhance our physical health and 
mental wellbeing providing us with opportunities for spiritual fulfilment, 
recreation and recuperation. The study highlighted how the natural systems we 
are part of also absorb the waste products we produce including carbon 
dioxide, plastics and other forms of waste that, in some instances, can be 
polluting or disruptive to the way the natural systems we are part of work. 

Page 109



 6 

 
6.2 The natural environment has an intrinsic worth. However, our natural 

environment can also be viewed as an asset in the same way that roads, 
buildings and factories or health, knowledge and skills are assets. The natural 
environment has ‘value’ and delivers ‘economic good’. 

 
 Outdoor Recreational Value (ORVal Assessment) 
6.3 ORVal is an online tool that spatially models the number of visits made to sites 

and calculates the welfare value of these visits. Calculations are based on 
findings from the ‘Monitor of Engagement in Natural Environment’ (MENE) 
surveys and a variety of economic valuation literature. In 2020 Telford and 
Wrekin Council modelled the outdoor recreational value of the councils LNR 
series. This high level assessment based on broad habitat types and the 
presence of outdoor facilities indicated that: 

 Telfords 17 Local Nature Reserves receive approximately 3.5 million 

visits a year. 

 Those visits to Telfords 17 Local Nature Reserves can be valued at 

approximately £12.5 million/yr   

 Of the 3.5 million visits per year to our Local Nature Reserves 

approximately 2.5 million visits are made via active travel, and 

 Of the 3.5 million visits per year 1.1 million visits are made by individuals 

who have never visited the LNRs before. 

 

6.4 The ORVal modelling specifically for The Cockshutt indicates that the site: 

 Receives approximately 252,500 visits a year 

 Generating a welfare value of approximately £865,000 a year 

Accessible Natural Green Space ANGsT 
6.5 In 2010 Natural England published ‘Nature Nearby’ setting out the 

recommended standards for Accessible Natural Greenspace1: 
 
“Everyone, wherever they live, should have accessible natural greenspace: 

• Of at least 2 ha in size, no more than 300 metres from home; 

• At least one accessible 20 ha site within 2 km of home; and 

• One accessible 500 ha site within 10km of home; plus 

• A minimum of one hectare of Local Nature Reserve per 1000 

population” 

6.6 At the time of Telford’s inception it was intended that every 1000 of the 
population would have access to four hectares of green space. This standard 
was achieved by the 1980s. 

 
6.7 In 2016 the Marches Ecosystem Assessment revealed that 89% of households 

within Telford and Wrekin are within 300m of accessible natural greenspace of 
at least 2ha in size. 

 

                                                 
1 The ANGSt guidance is currently being reviewed by Natural England revisions are due to be 

published in the spring of 2021. Reassessments of all the boroughs green spaces will be undertaken 

once the new guidance has been published. 

Page 110



 7 

6.8 The borough of Telford and Wrekin has an estimated population of 177,450 
people (Office of National Statistics, 2019). The Cabinet approval of The 
Cockshutt Local Nature Reserve will increase the spatial coverage of Cabinet 
approved and formally declared LNR’s in the borough by 32.8 hectares to 
555.16 hectares. The declaration of all the cabinet approved Local Nature 
Reserves will result in approximately 3.12ha of LNR per 1000 of the population, 
triple the minimum recommended standard. 
 
Accessible Woodland Standard 

6.9 The UK has one of the lowest levels of woodland cover in Europe2. In March 
2020 it was estimated that there was 3.2 million hectares of woodland in the 
UK3 representing 13% of the total UK land area (10% England, 15% Wales, 
19% Scotland and 9% Northern Ireland)4 compared to 38% for Europe as a 
whole and 31% worldwide5. 
 

6.10 Telford and Wrekin covers approximately 29030ha. Using canopy cover 
measurements based on National Tree Map data (2019) the canopy cover of 
the borough of Telford and Wrekin is estimated to be 15%. 

 
6.11 Taking a similar approach to Natural England’s accessible greenspace 

standards The Woodland Trust have set a series of standards for accessible 
woodland. 

 
6.12 The Woodland Trust have estimated that 70% of residents within Telford and 

20% of residents within The Wrekin constituencies are within 500m of 
accessible woodland. In house modelling has calculated that 77% of 
households in Telford and Wrekin are within 500m of a woodland that’s been 
protected by the Council either via its LNR or Green Guarantee programs. 

  
Canopy Cover  

6.13 The borough of Telford and Wrekin comprises 30 Wards. Data provided by the 
National Tree Map (2019) was used to calculate the percentage canopy cover 
per political ward. Tree canopy cover was measured in sqm and trees 
intersecting Ward boundaries were shared across Wards. The average canopy 
cover for Telford and Wrekin Wards is 22.37% ranging from 7.78% in 
Edgemond and Ercall Magna Ward to 54.99% in Ironbridge Gorge Ward.  

 
6.14 The Cockshutt is located in St Georges Ward. The ward has a canopy cover of 

30.5%. The Cockshutt contributes to 15% of the Wards canopy cover. 

 

Carbon Sequestration 

6.15 Based on a carbon sequestration rate of 9.14 t/Co2e/ha/yr. The Cockshutt 

woodlands can be estimated to sequester 265 tonnes of Co2e per year. 

6.16  The BEIS (2019) provides guidance on valuing energy use and greenhouse 
gas emissions and projects carbon prices between 2010-2100. Taking a central 

                                                 
2 Woodland Trust (2019) Woodland Indicators by Parliamentary Constituenc 

3 ONS (2020) Woodland Natural Capital Accounts, UK: 2020 

4 Forest Research (2020) Forestry Statistics 2020  

5 Forest Research (2020) Forest Cover: International Comparisons 

Page 111



 8 

figure for ‘non-traded carbon’ of £66 per tonne of co2e. It can be estimated that 
the cost of carbon sequestration generated by the Cockshutt can be estimated 
at £17,490 of non-traded carbon per year. 

 
 Health and Mental Wellbeing 
6.17 Health inequalities are often linked to individuals’ access to nature. It has been 

shown that living close to accessible green spaces can promote public health 
and reduce levels of obesity, heart disease, reduce stress and levels of 
depression. 

 
6.18 Access to high quality green space is important to health and wellbeing at all 

stages in life. Learning through natural play is a key part of developing 
imagination, physical fine motor skills and improves a child’s ability to deal with 
stress and adversity in life. Activities in nature can have a significant impact on 
reducing social isolation and symptoms anxiety and depression in adults. 

 
 Conclusion 
6.19 It is increasingly recognised that we are facing three challenges linked to the 

natural environment.  

 The impacts of a changing climate,  

 The impacts of current declines in biodiversity, and  

 The increasing need to strengthen the connections between people and 

the natural world  

The protection of The Cockshutt, as part of a wider suite of sites across the 

borough, will help to address these challenges at a local level. 

 

6.20  LNR status for The Cockshutt recognises the role the site plays in increasing 

local resilience to a changing climate whilst as a core site within the boroughs 

wider green network the designation provides recognition of the sites wider 

ecological value. The designation ensures residents will have continued access 

to accessible green space on their doorstep allowing them to create meaningful 

connections to the natural environment. The Council is not simply providing 

these spaces but working actively to ensure they are participatory. Telford’s 

green spaces are cared for by a combination of Council services and just under 

30 individual ‘friends of’ groups, many of which are affiliated with The Telford 

Green Space Partnership. 

 

7 IMPACT ASSESSMENT – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

7.1  Internal and external consultation with relevant stakeholders has taken place. 

 Internal consultations with Engineering Officers confirmed the need for 
geotechnical risk assessments on this site which has mining legacy. 
The geotechnical risk assessment is complete and funding has been 
secured to implement the recommendations prior to formal declaration. 

 Internal consultations with officers including development 

management, estates, environmental maintenance and healthy spaces 

have not identified any potential issues with the declaration of this site. 

 
8 NEXT STEPS 

Page 112



 9 

8.1 In the case that Cabinet approves the principle of declaration of the proposed 
Local Nature Reserve and the recommended delegation, then the required next 
steps include the following: 

A) A formal consultation process with Natural England will be undertaken 
in 2021 which includes the submission of a formal consultation document 
and a site visit following which Natural England will write to formally 
‘Welcome’ the site 
B) All necessary property/title enquiries and searches being undertaken 
regarding land in the Council’s ownership.  
C) The Director of Prosperity and Investment making or authorising the 
making of the formal declaration  
 

9. PREVIOUS MINUTES 

9.1 None 
 
10. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
10.1 Geotechnical Assessment Summary 
 
Report prepared by Mark Latham Ecology & Green Infrastructure Specialist. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 113



 10 

Appendix 1: The Cockshutt Proposed Local Nature Reserve Boundary 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 114



 11 

Appendix 2: Aerial Photograph 

 
 
Appendix 3: Site Photographs  

 

Page 115



 12 

 

  
  

 

 
 
The Friends of The Cockshutt (Photograph Alec Connah)  

  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 116



1  

 
 
 

PART A) – SUMMARY REPORT 
 

1. SUMMARY OF MAIN PROPOSALS 
 

The impact of climate change is unprecedented, both globally and locally, 
with Borough residents and businesses seeing more frequent flooding, travel 
disruption and extreme episodes of heat in the summer. 

 
The importance of this issue to our community can be illustrated by the 2020 
Residents’ Survey, which found that the majority of Telford & Wrekin 
residents were concerned about climate change. 

 
The Council has been committed to reducing its carbon footprint for the last 
ten years. However, following the declaration of a Climate Emergency in 
July  2019, with a clear target for the Council’s operations to be carbon 
neutral by  2030, action to tackle climate change has been at the heart of 
everything we do. The Council published its ‘Becoming Carbon Neutral’ 
Action Plan in February 2020. This  report provides an update on progress in 
delivering this plan. 

 
Good progress has been made in reducing emissions from the Council’s 
operations, with a 36% decrease in 2019/20 compared to the previous 
baseline year. Emissions for the current year (2020/21) will show a further 
reduction and will be published later this year. 

 

This is as a result of successfully implementing a wide range of carbon 
reduction measures. Key achievements over the last 12 months are 
highlighted in Figure 1 ‘20 steps in 2020 towards Becoming Carbon Neutral’. 
The Council has continued to prioritise this work, recognising the need to 
respond to the climate emergency as well as the Covid-19 pandemic. 
Appendix 1 sets out in detail the progress that has been made, and also 
includes proposed new actions which will lead to further improvements. 

 
 

TELFORD & WREKIN COUNCIL 
 
CABINET - 18 March 2021 

 
TELFORD & WREKIN COUNCIL BECOMING CARBON NEUTRAL 
ACTION PLAN - ANNUAL UPDATE 

 
REPORT OF DIRECTOR: COMMUNITIES, CUSTOMER AND 
COMMERCIAL SERVICES 

 
LEAD CABINET MEMBER – COUNCILLOR CAROLYN HEALY, CABINET 
MEMBER FOR VISITOR ECONOMY, HISTORIC & NATURAL 

ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE CHANGE 

Page 117

Agenda Item 9



2  

In addition to reducing emissions the Council has also committed to 
increasing carbon storage, building on the existing carbon storage of more 
than 10,697 tonnes/CO2e/hectare/year achieved through our Councils 
existing woodland landholdings. This has been enhanced through schemes 
such as: trialling habitat projects at The Granville, the first phase of delivering 
70ha of species rich grassland, wetland and heathland and securing Green 
Recovery Challenge funding with the national charity ‘Buglife’ to deliver 
grassland enhancements at Rough Park Meadow. 

 

Actions planned for the next year include a £1.37m grant-funded scheme to 
fit heat pumps and improved insulation in Council Leisure Centres, retrofitting 
Council buildings and temporary housing, measures to deliver a 30% 
reduction in business travel and a commitment to plant a tree for every 
reception age child in Telford & Wrekin on Council-owned land. 

 
The report updates on how the Council has been working in partnership 
locally, regionally and nationally on the climate change agenda. The Council 
has established the Telford and Wrekin Climate Change Partnership, in 
conjunction with representatives from more than thirty local organisations. 
The Partnership is currently developing an action plan to tackle climate 
change across the wider Borough, which will be published for public 
consultation later this year. 

 
The Council has also run a successful programme of communication 
campaigns in 2020/21 to help residents, businesses and communities make 
changes to reduce their carbon footprints. In order to enable even more local 
organisations to take action, the Council launched a new £100k Climate 
Change Fund in February 2021. 

 
Next year, the Council will progress new projects aimed at reducing 
emissions across the wider Borough, such as improved cycling and walking 
routes, completion of the Newport Innovation Park (Ni-Park) with electric 
vehicle charging points and solar panels, and installation of electric vehicle 
charging points on Council car parks. It will also deliver new ways to educate 
and encourage people to get involved in tackling climate change, including 
through a free ‘Green Festival’ event, and interactive paving in Southwater 
that uses the power of walking to charge street furniture. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 118



3  

2.  RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

  

Page 119



4  

Page 120



4  

3. SUMMARY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

COMMUNITY IMPACT Do these proposals contribute to specific 
Co- Operative Council priority objective(s)? 

Yes This initiative will contribute to all the 
Council’s priorities but particularly : 
• Our natural environment is 
protected – we are taking a leading 
role in addressing the climate 
emergency 

Will the proposals impact on specific groups of 
people? 
No  

TARGET 
COMPLETION/DELIVE RY 
DATE 

The Council has made a commitment to 
achieve carbon neutrality in relation to its 
services and operations by 2030. 

FINANCIAL/VALUE 
FOR MONEY IMPACT 

Yes The Action Plan set out in Appendix 
1 details the actions that will be put in 
place to support the reduction of 
carbon emissions from Council 
operations and activities. 

 

A revenue budget of £100k is 
available in 2021/22 to provide 
resources to further develop the 
Action Plan and identify associated 
costs. There is also a Climate 
Change reserve of £50k that can be 
drawn down if required. (MLB 
01/02/21) 

 

The proposed service and financial 
planning strategy 2020/21 to 2022/23 
contains a capital allocation of £4m 
to support Climate Change initiatives. 
This funding will be allocated to 
schemes as required within the 
Action Plan and appropriate finance 
support provided. (DR 1/02/21) 

LEGAL ISSUES Yes The Climate Change Act 2008 (as 
amended) establishes a legally 
binding target to reduce the UK’s 
greenhouse gas emissions by 100% 
by 2050 when compared with the 
1990 baseline. At a local level, 
Section 19(1A) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
requires local planning authorities to 

Page 121



5  

  include in their local plans, policies 
designed to secure that the 
development and use of land in the 
local planning authority's area 
contribute to the mitigation of, and 
adaptation to, climate change and 
this will be a consideration when the 
Council’s Local Plan is reviewed. In 
the management of its activities, 
provision of its services and 
performance of its functions, local 
councils are in a position to play a 
vital role in meeting the challenges 
posed by climate change. The 
Council has wide scope to decide 
how best to address these 
challenges and its Action Plan 
together with the proposed 
community partnership is an 
appropriate approach. 
Implementation of the Plan may give 
rise to specific legal issues which will 
be picked up going forward (IR- 
02.02.21) 

ENVIRONMENTAL 
IMPACT 

Yes The Climate Emergency declaration 
was resolved with all party support at 
Full Council in July 2019 due to 
extreme concern about the impact of 
climate change and the urgent need 
for action. This report provides an 
annual update on the Council’s 
Action Plan. Therefore, the actions 
set out in this report are designed to 
have a positive effect on the 
environment and climate. In the 
future all reports produced on behalf 
of the Council will set out the 
environmental and climate 
implications of the recommendations 
or advice being put forward. 
The content and recommendations 
contained within this report are 
expected to reduce emissions of CO2 

within the Council and across the 
Borough. The Action Plan in 
Appendix 1 includes the carbon 
reduction of the actions. 

OTHER IMPACTS, 
RISKS & 
OPPORTUNITIES 

Yes Risks: The Council is aware of 
current and predicted impacts of 
climate change. Some changes to 

Page 122



6  

  the climate are already inescapable 
due to past emissions of greenhouse 
gases and average temperatures 
having risen by around 10C over the 
last century. We are seeing a trend 
towards warmer winters and hotter 
summers and there is emerging 
evidence of changing rainfall 
patterns. 

 

The top six areas of climate change 
related risks are: 

 Flooding risks to communities, 
businesses and infrastructure; 

 Risks to health, well-being and 
productivity from high 
temperatures; 

 Risk of shortages in the public 
water supply, and for agriculture, 
energy generation and industry 

 Risks to natural capital, including 
terrestrial, soils and biodiversity 

 Risks to domestic food production 
and trade; 

 New and emerging pests and 
diseases, and invasive and non- 
native species, affecting people, 
plants and animals. 

 

Therefore there are significant risks 
as outlined should the Council fail to 
mitigate climate change and ensure 
that residents, businesses and the 
natural environment are able to adapt 
to the future climate. 

 

Community Engagement: Local 
businesses, organisations and 
residents are major stakeholders and 
need to be engaged effectively in the 
development and delivery of this 
agenda. In addition, this engagement 
will provide an opportunity for the 
Council to gather more ideas and 
suggestions to develop its plans and 
learn from innovative solutions. 

IMPACT ON SPECIFIC 
WARDS 

No Borough-wide impact 

Page 123



7  

PART B) – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 

4. INFORMATION 
 

4.1 BACKGROUND 
 

4.1.1 Global Context 
 

The Paris Agreement, adopted in November 2016 by the UK, saw 195 
countries agree on the need to keep global temperature rises this century to 
well below 2 degrees Celsius while pursuing efforts to limit the increase to 1.5 
degrees Celsius.1 

 
The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) report published a 
special report which indicates that limiting global warming to 1.5 degrees 
Celsius would require net zero carbon emissions by around 2050 (IPCC, 2018). 
The Panel recognises that any additional warming above 1.5 degrees Celsius 
would significantly worsen the risk of drought, floods, extreme heat and poverty 
for hundreds of millions of people around the world.2 

 

4.1.2 National Context 
 

Britain’s Climate Change Act 2008 contains a legally binding national 
commitment to cut greenhouse gas emissions. The target was originally an 
overall cut in emissions of at least 80% by 2050, relative to 1990. However, in 
2019, this was amended with a target of achieving net zero emissions by 2050. 

 

On 18th November 2020, the Government announced the ten-point plan3 for 
a green industrial revolution. The plan covers clean energy, transport, nature 
and innovative technologies, mobilising £12 billion to create and support up to 
250,000 green jobs in the UK. 

 
More recently, on 4 December 2020, the Government announced a new target 
to reduce the UK’s emissions by at least 68% by 2030, compared to 1990 
levels. 

 
4.1.3 Local Action – Declaration of a Climate Emergency 

 

The Council has had a successful long-term track record of reducing its carbon 

footprint, having reduced emissions by 44% from 14,173 tonnes CO2e to 7,958 
tonnes CO2e, from 2005 to 2018, with the greatest reductions from 2011 
onwards. 

 
In July 2019, members of Telford & Wrekin Council unanimously declared a 
Climate Emergency. The Declaration set out the commitment for the Council’s 
operations to become carbon neutral by 2030 with an aspiration for 

 
 

1 https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/english_paris_agreement.pdf 
2 https://www.ipcc.ch/sr15/ 
3 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-ten-point-plan-for-a-green-industrial-revolution 

Page 124

http://www.ipcc.ch/sr15/
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-ten-point-plan-for-a-green-industrial-revolution


8  

the Borough to be carbon neutral by the same date. It should be noted that this 
is a much more ambitious than the current national target. 

 
The Council also committed to: 

 
o Measure our current carbon footprint as a baseline to enable us to report 

on progress; 
o Set up a partnership to develop an action plan to move this declaration to 

delivery. 
 

Telford and Wrekin Council is not acting alone to respond to the Climate 
Emergency. As of October 2020, 74% of District, County, Unitary and 
Metropolitan Councils had also declared a Climate Emergency. 

 
In February 2020, the Council published its first ‘Becoming Carbon Neutral’ 
Action Plan which laid out the initial steps to carbon neutrality by 2030. A 
baseline of 7,958 tonnes CO2e for 2018/19 was established, against which 
further progress could be tracked and reported (see Section 4.2.1). 

 
In October 2020, the Council’s priorities were revised to include a new priority 
‘Our natural environment is protected – we are taking a leading role in 
addressing the climate emergency’. This commitment embeds climate 
action in the Council’s decision-making processes to make sure that all service 
areas contribute to becoming carbon neutral. 

 
4.2 CARBON NEUTRAL COUNCIL 

 

4.2.1 Carbon Emissions 2019/20 
 

The Council has continued to monitor emissions from the following activities: 
 

- Corporate estate; 
- Street lighting; 
- Transport and travel. 

 

Compared to the baseline year of 2018/19, the Council's carbon emissions in 
2019/20 reduced by approximately 2,903 tonnes CO2e (36%) from 7,958 
tonnes CO2e to 5,055 tonnes CO2e. 

 
The Council’s financial year starts in April, therefore data for the current year 
(2020/21) is not yet available. However, a further reduction is expected, in part 
due to changes in working practices linked to Covid-19 (see Section 4.2.2). In 
future, we will move to reporting emissions every six months 
(September/March). 

 
These decreases in emissions have been achieved by implementing a wide 
range of carbon reduction measures (see Appendix 1 and Section 4.2.4). This 
has included moving to a new green electricity tariff.   From April 2021, we will 
be moving to an enhanced green tariff with greater traceability of the source of 
electricity purchased. 

Page 125



9  

In parallel, the Council has continued to reduce electricity usage, for example, 
continuing the conversion of traditional street lighting to LED, with 99% of street 
lights now converted. There is also continued investment in energy generation 
and energy efficiency retrofit schemes in Council buildings. To date, eight 

projects to install solar panels and LED lighting in Council buildings have been 

completed, in total saving -268 tonnes CO2e. The Council has secured 60% 
grant funding from the Sustainable Energy in Public Buildings (SuPuBu) fund 
for these projects. 

 
Currently another scheme to install solar panels has started on site at The 
Place, with a pipeline of seven new projects in progress. 

 

The pie chart below shows that the Council's 2019/20 residual carbon footprint 
was from transport/travel and gas use from the corporate estate. 

 

 

Overall, there was good progress in carbon emission reductions in 2019/20. 
However, the data shows the importance of targeting heat and transport & 
travel, which have both been a focus in 2020/21, and will be moving forward. 

 
Regarding low carbon heat for our buildings, the Council has successfully 
applied for funding from both the Public Sector Decarbonisation Fund and the 
Low Carbon Skills Fund. The Low Carbon Skills funding was used to complete 
feasibility studies to assess whether heat pumps and thermal insulation could 
be installed at seven sites to improve energy efficiency and achieve carbon 
reduction savings. The studies were then used to submit bids to the Public 
Sector Decarbonisation Fund with £1.37m awarded for schemes to be 
delivered in 2021 to install air source heat pumps and improved insulation at 
Oakengates and Newport Leisure Centres. 

 
The Council has also started to tackle emissions from the Council’s transport 
and travel activities, for example by: 

Page 126



10  

- Implementing a Cycle 2 Work Scheme for employees in November 2020; 
- Replacing pool vehicles with ultra-low emission vehicles, starting with six 

electric vans which have been operational since November 2020; 
- Running a campaign in September 2020 to encourage employees to take- 

up ultra-low emission vehicles as part of the Council’s Car Lease Scheme. 
 

4.2.2 Impact of Covid-19 – New Working Practices 
 

The 2019/20 footprint was only slightly affected by Covid-19 restrictions, which 
started in mid-March 2020. In line with Government advice, the majority of 
office-based employees then started working from home (typically more than 
1,400 employees a day), which as well as helping to reduce the spread of 
infection has been beneficial from a climate change perspective. 

 
The effects of these new working practices will be included when emissions 
data is reported for the current accounting year (2020/21), however to illustrate: 

 
Printing: in an average month, prior to lockdown, the Council printed 353,320 
pages. Post lockdown, the Council printed an average of 49,491 pages a 
month. This is a reduction of approximately 5.2 tonnes of CO2e emissions a 
month. 

 
Business mileage: In April 2019, staff claimed 151,448 miles (43 tonnes 
CO2e) of business mileage, however in April 2020, this was almost halved to 
76,203 miles (22 tonnes CO2e). 

 
Energy: In April 2019, the energy consumption of Addenbrooke House (one 
of the Council’s main office buildings) was 19,518 kWh (approx. 5 tonnes 
CO2e), however in lockdown in April 2020, this reduced to 11,143 (approx. 2.5 
tonnes CO2e), which is a 43% reduction in energy use. 

 

The carbon savings made will be significant and data will be updated at the 
end of this financial year to assess the full year impact on emissions. The 
pandemic has highlighted the benefits of staff working from home and the 
Council is keen to sustain these new working practices. In particular, there is 
an opportunity for the Council to explore a blended way of working with some 
staff working a portion of their time at the office and at home (in reporting 
future emissions, a key action will be to identify how best to account for 
energy being used by employees while undertaking Council work from 
home). 

 
As such, Council polices on home, mobile and flexible working, and business 
mileage are currently being reviewed, including a commitment to reduce 
business mileage by at least 30% on an ongoing basis from April 2021. A 
new corporate travel plan has been commissioned to drive delivery of this 
target. 

 
The initial Council response to the Covid-19 pandemic had been planned and 
delivered as an emergency response. However, the Council has also been 

Page 127



11  

planning the transition from the initial emergency response to recovery and 
reset. The Council has created a “Recovery, Reform, Reset” strategy which 
identifies a number of themes to address short, medium and long term 
actions needed over the next twelve months and beyond. One of the themes 
is the Environmental & Infrastructure Thematic Group, which has nine 
priorities, including sustainable travel, green infrastructure recovery and the 
transition to net carbon zero. This approach links in with the Council’s 
Becoming Carbon Neutral Action Plan. 

 
4.2.3 Carbon Sequestration (Storage) 

 

The Council has now completed work to estimate the current carbon 

sequestration4 rates within its existing woodland landholding. Carbon 
sequestration is the process of capturing and storing atmospheric carbon 
dioxide, and is a key way of reducing the amount of carbon dioxide in the 
atmosphere and helping to tackling climate change. Other green spaces owned 
by the Council do have a carbon sequestration value, however further work 
needs to be carried out to determine their value. 

 

The Council’s woodland landholdings sequester an average of 10,697 
tonnes/CO2e/hectare/year. This has not been included in the Council’s carbon 
reduction figures, as this relates to existing woodland. However, the action plan 
includes a range of projects to increase carbon storage, including enhancing, 
restoring and creating heathland, species rich grassland, wetland habitats and 
woodland. This includes a commitment to plant additional trees on Council 
land, creating additional community forest with a tree planted for every child 
starting in reception on an annual basis (currently 2,153 children). 

 
Further details will be published in a Local Nature Recovery Strategy and a 
Borough-wide strategy for woodland management in 2021. 

 
So far the Council has successfully: 

 Registered with DEFRA/Natural England as a ‘nature recovery delivery 
partner’; 

 Secured funding from Natural England to launch a habitat mapping project 
with volunteers and local specialists; 

 Trialled habitat projects at The Granville, the first phase of delivering 70ha 
of species rich grassland, wetland and heathland; 

 Secured Green Recovery Challenge funding with the national charity 
‘Buglife’ to deliver grassland enhancements at Rough Park Meadow. 

 

The Council has also increased the accuracy of the measurement of the 
Borough’s tree canopy cover, which has shown that the Borough already has 
a 15% canopy cover – higher than the national average5. 

 

4 The removal and storage of carbon from the atmosphere in carbon sinks (such as oceans, forests or 
soils). For example, forests absorb and store atmospheric carbon due to photosynthesis. 
5 In March 2020 it was estimated that there was 3.2 million hectares of woodland in the UK 
representing 13% of the total UK land area (10% England, 15% Wales, 19% Scotland and 9% Northern 
Ireland) compared to 38% for Europe as a whole and 31% worldwide. In the urban area of Telford and 
Newport there is 26% canopy cover. 

Page 128



12  

In order to increase awareness of the importance of trees in helping to     capture 
carbon, reduce flooding, create new habitats and improve health and well-
being, the Council launched the Trees4TW initiative in November 2020 as part 
of National Tree Week. The scheme provided 8,600 free trees, a mix of native 
species grown in the UK, to households, schools, charity organisations, public 
sector services, businesses and landowners within the Borough. The scheme 
closed before the published end date due to unprecedented demand. 

 
The Council will continue to map opportunities for woodland restoration, 
restructuring, natural woodland generation and new planting and engage with 
third party land owners who are keen to re-wild their landholdings. 

 

4.2.4 Delivery in Action - Case Studies 
 

Figure 1 gives a snapshot of key achievements over the last year. The case 
studies below provide more details and a full update is provided in Appendix 
1. Some of these actions have contributed to reducing the Council’s own 
emissions and some are more community-focused where the Council has 
played a leadership role to support the wider Borough becoming carbon 
neutral. 

 

 

 

Work has commenced to build 46 Nuplace homes off 
Southwater Way (Nuplace is the Council’s housing 
company)         with all properties to include solar panels and 
electric car charging points 

A food recycling service for the Council’s main office buildings 
has been trialled. Food collections were rolled out to the three 
main Council buildings in January 2020 and the service ran for 
ten weeks before the lockdown. Circa 2.5 tonnes of food 
waste                         was collected. This will recommence once offices re-
open. 

The Council’s main ICT server rooms will be relocated in 
February 2021 with natural cooling installed. Natural cooling 
devices use outdoor conditions to reduce the need for 
refrigeration, saving costs and reducing carbon emissions. 

Page 129



13  

         

          
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

     

            
 
 

 
 

 
 

6 Veolia services carbon impact is listed below:  

● Fleet of vehicles that carry out the collection service produce the equivalent of 1,349 tonnes of carbon dioxide, 
whereas the service has avoided the equivalent of 20,231 tonnes of CO2e (net) through the processing of the 
materials collected. 

● Food waste has avoided 605 carbon dioxide equivalent tonnes 

● Recycling (purple top bin and blue bag) has avoided 19,709 carbon dioxide equivalent tonnes 

● Garden waste (green wheelie bin) –has avoided 52 carbon dioxide equivalent tonnes 

● Refuse (red top bin) –avoided 1,498 carbon dioxide equivalent tonnes through energy recovery 

 

Three of the Council’s key contractors are now working in 
partnership with the Council to tackle climate change. Idverde 
and Veolia6 have produced carbon reduction action plans. 
Balfour Beatty developed and implemented a sustainability plan 
as part of their contract prior to April 2019. 

The Council has introduced environmental criteria weightings 
to encourage suppliers to use sustainable practices and to 
reduce carbon emissions in the supply chain. For example, 
Lyreco (stationery supplier), has a 40% carbon reduction target 
to reduce the current footprint of deliveries from 2.80 tonnes of 
CO2e to 1.68 tonnes of CO2e. We are achieving this by 
consolidating                    deliveries from Lyreco. 

Working in partnership with Natural England, the Council has 
started to deliver great crested newt district licensing across 
the Borough. This scheme will involve the strategic restoration 
and creation of pond networks at a landscape scale. 
Licencing  became operational this year. This will contribute 
towards the Council’s carbon sequestration.  

More than 2,400 desktop computers have been replaced with 
laptops, in total saving -200 tonnes CO2e. The new laptops 
also enabled the roll-out of Microsoft Teams at the start of the 
pandemic within 48 hours, delivering further emission savings 
from effective home-working. 

The six new electric vans will help to reduce the Council’s 
emissions by around 6 tonnes CO2e per year.  
 
The electric vans replace six conventional diesel vans. They 
will be used by the Highways and Enforcement teams for work 
around the borough. 

Page 130



14  

4.2.5 Future Commitments 
 

New actions have been added to help meet the target for the Council’s 
operations to be carbon neutral by 2030 (see Appendix 1). The new actions 
include suggestions from local organisations, Councillors, employees, and 
residents (>2,000 suggestions received), along with research into national best 
practice. 

 
Where possible, the contribution that these new actions will make to reducing 
the Council’s carbon footprint have been quantified, however it should be noted 
that in some cases further work is needed to accurately assess this. The 
Council’s action plan will continue to be a live document, which will be amended 
as actions are delivered and added on an ongoing basis, with an annual 
progress report to Cabinet and half yearly data updates. 
 
The Council’s future pathway to becoming carbon neutral by 2030 is set out 
in the carbon budget1 below. Where we can undertake actions to go further 
faster the Council will endeavour to do so. 

 

   
 

This is based upon an annual carbon footprint as follows: 
 

Year 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 

Carbon 
Footprint 
(tCO2e) 

4,595 4,136 3,676 3,217 2,757 2,298 1,838 1,379 919 460 0 

 

4.3 CARBON NEUTRAL BOROUGH  
 

The Council has also played a key role in supporting others in the Borough to 
tackle climate change and improve the Borough’s environment:

                                                
1 A carbon budget is the cumulative amount of carbon dioxide (CO2) emissions permitted over a 
period of time to keep within a certain temperature threshold. 

Page 131



15  

                      4.3.1 Telford and Wrekin Climate Change Partnership 
 

To address the Climate Emergency, the Council committed to setting up a 
Telford and Wrekin Climate Change Partnership, which first met in June                          2020. 
Through the Partnership, the Council is working collaboratively with 
businesses, educational establishments, community groups, Town & Parish 
Councils and other public sector organisations, using our partners’ knowledge 
and expertise to further the climate change agenda Borough-wide. 
 
The Partnership is set up as follows: 
 

 
The Council has worked closely with the Partnership to establish six thematic 
sub-groups. The thematic sub-groups have enabled even more organisations 
from within the Borough to get involved, often bringing a unique skill-set and 
interest specific to the thematic areas. Each sub-group is developing their own 
action plan, which will be brought together within an overarching Borough 
action plan, which will be consulted on with residents in spring 2021. 

 
                      4.3.2 Town & Parish Councils 
 

The Council is actively working with Town and Parish Councils to support and 
encourage action at an even more local level. The Council has provided 
practical information and advice through a Climate Emergency Toolkit for Town 
and Parish Councils, and also established a Town and Parish Climate Change 
sub-group (16 Town and Parishes are members), which feeds into the main 
Telford and Wrekin Climate Change Partnership. 

 

4.3.3 Community Engagement 
 

Since the Climate Emergency Declaration, the Council has been committed 
to raising awareness amongst residents, local communities and businesses 
of the impact of climate change and the positive steps that people can take to 
reduce this. 

 
The Council has run a programme of communication campaigns over the last 
12 months. In total, there were approximately 4,000 engagements with these 
campaigns over this period, which included: 

Page 132



16  

 

 World Environment Day (June 2020) – launch of My Wild Telford with 
>500 photos of the Borough’s green spaces and wildlife submitted by 
residents; 

 Co-operatives for Climate Action Day (July 2020) – Facebook live Q&A 
event on Climate Change; 

 Recycling Week (September 2020) – Veolia ran a competition to name 
characters to raise awareness of different recycling bins (>100 entries); 

 Trees4TW (November 2020) – launch of scheme offering free trees to 
residents and organisations in the Borough to coincide with National Tree 
Week. 

 
A calendar of communication will continue during 2021. As well as linking in 
to national and international campaigns, it is also planned to run a free 
community event in Telford Town Park in autumn 2021 (subject to Covid-19 
restrictions) to showcase the things that people can do to reduce their carbon 
footprint, help nature, and live ‘greener’. 

 
A range of new case studies and information have been added to the 
Sustainable Telford & Wrekin Website 
(www.sustainabletelfordandwrekin.co.uk) to give practical examples to help 
people that want to take action, featuring members of the Telford & Wrekin 
Climate Change Partnership and the Council. 

 

As well as raising awareness, the Council has also prioritised understanding 
the community’s views about climate change, and involving local people and 
organisations in developing future plans to tackle it. The 2020 Residents’ 
Survey included a whole section on this topic. 

 
Residents were asked to rate how concerned they were about climate 
change on a scale of 1 (not concerned at all) to 10 (extremely concerned). 
Around 25% of residents were extremely concerned, whereas only 6% were 
not concerned at all. On the scale of 1-10, 74% answered 6 or above, 
reinforcing the Council’s decision to declare a Climate Emergency in July 
2019. More than 2,000 individual ideas for tackling climate change were 
suggested, mainly focused on Transport, Housing, Planning and 
Waste/Recycling. 

 
The survey also asked what residents were already doing, or would consider 
doing, to reduce their own carbon footprint. Recycling was the activity that 
the highest percentage of residents do regularly (91%), however the results 
suggest that there is also potential to increase other activities, for example to 
triple the number of people using public transport, walking and cycling. 

 
Looking at longer-term action, more than half of residents (59%) said that 
they already had fitted insulation and a further 20% would consider doing this. 
The two areas with the biggest potential to increase in the next five years 
were buying an electric vehicle and installing renewable energy (60% and 
55% respectively). 

 

Page 133

http://www.sustainabletelfordandwrekin.co.uk/


17  

 ‘You said, we did’ – how we’ve used this feedback: 

 We have created a new priority within the Council Plan, ‘our 
natural environment is protected and the Council has a leading 
role in addressing the climate emergency’, to reflect residents’ 
concern about climate change; 

 We have used the suggestions put forward by residents to update 
the Council’s Becoming Carbon Neutral Plan (see Appendix 1); 

 We have shared all residents’ suggestions about how to tackle 
climate change with the Telford & Wrekin Climate Change 
Partnership, to help develop the Borough-wide action plan. 

 
The Council also launched a new volunteering opportunity on World 
Environment Day, Climate Change Champions. The Champions actively 
engage with their communities to share information on climate change. 
Champions have submitted case studies for the Sustainable Telford & Wrekin 
website to illustrate why they had chosen to become a volunteer. 

 
Within the Council, elected members of all political parties have had the 
opportunity to give their views, and have contributed ideas to further develop 
the Council’s Becoming Carbon Neutral Plan, through two member drop-in 
events and a programme of meetings with the Environment Scrutiny 
Committee. 

 
The Telford and Wrekin Climate Change Partnership provides a key forum for 
the Council to engage with key external partners and stakeholders, and 
through the formation of the six thematic sub-groups even more local 
organisations have got involved. As part of developing the Borough Action 
Plan, the Partnership is developing a communication and engagement plan. 
This will include consulting residents on the draft action plan. 

 

4.3.4 Telford & Wrekin Climate Change Fund 
 

The Council launched a £100k grant scheme on 19 February 2021 to 
encourage local organisations in Telford and Wrekin to take action to reduce 
their carbon    footprint and to support a green recovery at a local level. The 
scheme is open to a wide range of local organisations, including Town & 
Parish Councils, voluntary and community groups, Friends of Parks & Local 
Nature Reserves, schools, nurseries and small businesses. A maximum 
grant of £5k  is available with a minimum ceiling of £1500 per application 
(apart from small                       businesses which are able to receive up to 50% of costs, to 
a maximum of £2.5k). 

 
 
                      
 
 
 

Page 134



18  

                     4.4 REGIONAL AND NATIONAL PARTNERSHIP WORKING 
 
                     4.4.1 Regional and National Collaboration 
 

Whilst our key focus is on reducing the Council’s own carbon footprint and 
tackling climate change within our Borough, we also recognise that the 
impact of climate change crosses boundaries and so it is vital for us to work 
with and learn from neighbouring authorities, those throughout the UK who 
have also declared Climate Emergencies and other partnerships in the 
region. Where appropriate, we have and will continue to collaborate on 
projects and funding bids with others. Examples of how we have been 
working regionally and nationally include: 

 

 Marches Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) – the Council is 
represented on the LEP Board in order to inform their Energy Strategy, 
giving access to LEP projects and funding, such as MarRE funding 
(£200k awarded to Telford & Wrekin organisations through joint 
promotion);

 River Severn Partnership - the Council is represented on the 
Partnership and its sub-groups. It has worked with partners to develop 
expressions of interest for funding opportunities that could deliver on key 
priorities in relation to flood risk management at a strategic level;

 Shropshire Council & Shropshire Climate Action Partnership (SCAP 
– community partnership for the Shropshire area) – a member                of SCAP 
attends the Telford & Wrekin Climate Change Partnership meetings and 
vice versa in order to share good practice and identify opportunities for 
joint initiatives, for example a new community-led project to support 
residents understand and reduce their carbon footprints. The actions 
proposed in the SCAP action plan (published January 2021) have been 
reviewed as part of our best practice research, and where appropriate, 
included as part of the update of the                     Council’s Becoming Carbon Neutral 
action plan (see Appendix 1);

 Shropshire, Telford & Wrekin Sustainability & Transformation 
Partnership (STP) – the Council, in partnership with Shropshire Council, 
is leading work to develop a Climate Change Strategy across health and 
social    care organisations in Telford & Wrekin and Shropshire;

 Shropshire County Pension Fund – the Council does not have control 
over the investment decisions of the fund, which are taken by the 
Pensions Committee (a separate legal body). An encouraging 
confidential report (provided by LGPS Central Ltd) on the fund’s climate 
risk was presented to the Committee in August 2020 and the Council has 
representatives on the Committee who will continue to highlight the 
Council’s climate change objectives during the current consideration of 
the fund’s strategy and future investment options. Training has also been 
undertaken by Committee members which has included Responsible 
Investment; utilising Environmental, Social and Governance factors 
(ESG) and understanding impact investing. 

 National networks – as well as benchmarking and sharing our 
approach through national networks, such as APSE (Association of 
Public Sector Excellence) Energy, we have also incorporated new 

Page 135



19  

actions into our action plan through a review of best practice from 
other councils.

 

4.4.2 Asks of Government 
 

Telford & Wrekin Council will continue to call for increased ambition from 
Government in tackling Climate Change at a national level, and lobby for 
more support and funding to achieve our carbon neutral target by 2030. 
Delivering our ambitions for Telford & Wrekin is absolutely dependent on 
Government action, and a step change in policy, investment and regulatory 
powers is required to achieve our vision of ‘A thriving, carbon neutral, climate 
resilient community where all our local residents and organisations actively 
contribute to and benefit from a more sustainable future’. 

 
Whilst the Council welcomes the new national funding schemes that have 
been launched this year, such as the Public Sector Decarbonisation Fund, 
our experience has been that funds are often oversubscribed or have 
unrealistic deadlines. Whilst we will continue to proactively submit funding 
bids, and encourage others in Telford & Wrekin to do so, the Government 
needs to do much more to drive the change needed and at pace, and to 
provide additional financial support to mitigate the significant ‘new burdens’ 
being placed on local authorities as a result of growing concern and public 
pressure about Climate Change. 

 

Our 10 asks of Government are: 
 

 Increase its funding to local authorities to deliver carbon reduction targets; 
 Allow a greater amount of time for authorities to bid for and complete 

projects through Government climate change funding, and apply less 
prescriptive criteria to funding, to enable larger and more innovative 
schemes to be delivered; 

 Strengthen Building Regulations to allow a faster transition to low carbon 
development; 

 Remove barriers to community renewable energy schemes e.g. no NNDR 
on solar panels, extension of Renewable Heat Incentive Scheme; 

 Set explicit decarbonisation objectives for Ofgem to allow for strategic grid 
reinforcement; 

 Make a commitment to increase renewable energy generation nationally, 
with clear targets and financial support; 

 Bring forward legislation in the form of carbon taxation to incentivise 
behaviour change based on the polluter pays principle; 

 Bring forward the commitment to ban the sale of new diesel and petrol 
vehicles to 2030; 

 Incentivise low carbon agriculture; 
 Increase the budget for national Climate Change research and innovation. 

 

5. PREVIOUS MINUTES 
 

 Papers for Full Council, 25 July 2019 for Climate Emergency 

 Papers for Full Council, 5 March 2020, Matters Determined by Cabinet 

Page 136



20  

 

6. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Conference of the Parties, Adoption of the Paris Agreement, Dec.12, 2015 
U.N. Doc. FCCC/CP2015/L.9/Rev/1 (Dec. 12, 2015) 

 
HM Government (2020). The Ten Point Plan for a Green Industrial Revolution 

 
IPCC, 2018: Summary for Policymakers. In: Global Warming of 1.5°C. An 
IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre- 
industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the 
context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, 
sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty [Masson-Delmotte, 
V., P. Zhai, H.-O. Pörtner, D. Roberts, J. Skea, P.R. Shukla, A. Pirani, W. 
Moufouma-Okia, C. Péan, R. Pidcock, S. Connors, J.B.R. Matthews, Y. 
Chen, X. Zhou, M.I. Gomis, E. Lonnoy, T. Maycock, M. Tignor, and T. 
Waterfield (eds.)]. World Meteorological Organization, Geneva, Switzerland, 
32 pp. 

 
Report prepared by Harjot Rayet, Climate Change & Sustainability 
Coordinator, Telephone: 01952 384219, Email: 
harjot.rayet@telford.gov.uk 

Page 137

mailto:harjot.rayet@telford.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Telford and Wrekin

Action Plan
Becoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral
Telford & Wrekin Council

Protect, Care and Invest
to create a better borough

Annual update 2021

P
age 139



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral2

P
age 140



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral 3

Scope
 

The Council declared a Climate Emergency on 25th July 2019. As part of the response to this, the Council has committed to 
ensuring that its operations and activities are carbon neutral by 2030. This action plan, updates the actions that the Council has 
taken to reduce its carbon footprint and also details new actions which are being put in place to deliver further improvements. The 
Action Plan is a living document which will continue to be updated as data, funding, best practice and national policy develops.

Section Page

Scope 3

Our Journey to date 4

What is counted as the Council’s operations and processes? 8

 Corporate estate 8

 Street lighting 8

 Transport and travel 8

Measuring our carbon emissions 8

Monitoring 9

Borough-wide 9

Telford & Wrekin Council Becoming carbon neutral Action Plan 2021/22 10

 Council buildings 10

 Borough buildings 15

 Council transport 17

 Borough transport 20

 Borough housing 22

 Council street lighting 27

 Borough finance/grants 28

Section Page

 Council finance/grants 29

 Council Energy 29

 Communications and engagement 32

 Council Planning Policy 38

 Borough Planning Policy 39

 Council corporate 40

 Communications and training 44

 Council resources/waste 45

 Borough resources/waste 46

 Council land use, biodiversity and carbon sequestration 48

 Borough land use, biodiversity and carbon sequestration 54

Asks of Government 57

P
age 141



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral4

Our Journey to date
The Council has made good progress in reducing emissions 
from the Council’s operations, with a 36% decrease in 2019/20 
compared to the previous baseline year.  This is as result of 
successfully implementing a wide range of carbon reduction 
measures, key achievements over the last 12 months are 
highlighted in the following figure: 

Steps in 2020
towards Becoming Carbon Neutral
 

2 0

01

03

05

02

04

06

Solar panels and LED lighting
fitted (8 projects complete, 8 in progress)

(Enhanced) green electricity tariff 
for Council buildings and schools

Cycle 2 work scheme

£1.3m funding for heat pumps and 
better insulated buildings

174 new cycle stands
across Telford and Wrekin

6 new electric vans

C02e SAVING 268 tonnes

C02e SAVING 1,252 tonnes*

C02e SAVING 16.5 tonnes

*approximate C02e saving

C02e SAVING 800 tonnes*

C02e SAVING 6 tonnes per annum

P
age 142



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral 5

07

09

08

10

New
natural cooling system

for our datacentre

46 Nuplace homes
being built with solar panels

and charging points

Over 1,400 employees home-working 
saving on printing and travel

2,400 computers replaced with laptops
using 80% less electricity

11

12

More than 500 additional 
LED street lights, 

99% of lights now converted recycling services
saved 20,000+ tonnes of emissions 
equivalent to 10,000 cars off the road

13

14
£100k of community grants 

for climate change projects

4,000 engagements with climate change 
social media posts, including more than 
2,000 suggestions from 
residents

* approximate C02e saving
a compared to conventional air conditioning
b since April 2017 compared to 2016/17 benchmark
c Compared to the 151,448 miles of business mileage claim by staff in April 2019, 

staff claimed approximately half this amount, 76,203 miles, in April 2020.

C02e SAVING 60 tonnes per unita
C02e SAVING Printing: 5.2 tonnes per month*

C02e SAVING Mileagec: 22 tonnes per monthc

C02e SAVING 200 tonnes

C02e SAVING 7,414 tonnesb

P
age 143



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral6

We recognise that to achieve the 2030 target we have to go further.

15

17

19

16

18

20

New
Climate Change Champion 

volunteers

More than 8,600 free trees
for residents and organisations

Storing carbon by
planting species-rich

grassland

Telford & Wrekin
Climate Change Partnership 
set up with 33 organisations involved

New
Telford Energy Advice service 
for residents

Food waste recycling
in Council officesC02e SAVING 9 tonnes C02 storage

C02e SAVING 1.25 tonnes C02  per month*

*approximate C02e saving

P
age 144



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral 7

The actions set out in our plan on page 10 onwards 
identify the further opportunities we have identified 
to reduce carbon emissions relating to the Council’s 
operations and activities. The Council will continue 
to engage with staff, contractors and stakeholders 
to expand the plan and the range of actions that 
help us to meet our target.

Councillor Carolyn Healy, Cabinet Member for Visitor Economy, Historic & 
Natural Environment and Climate Change, with one of the Council’s new 
electric vans.

P
age 145



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral8

What is counted as the Council’s operations and processes?
Corporate estate 
Including: Abraham Darby Leisure, Addenbrooke House, Darby House, 78 -81 
Dodmoor temporary accommodation, Arthog, Bishton Court Unit 1, Crescent 
Road Changing Rooms, Doseley Pavilion, Edgmond Pavilion, Hartshill Pavilion, 
Herbert Avenue Changing Rooms, Horsehay Golf, The Wharfage Public Toilets, 
Ketley Bank Changing Rooms, Ketley Brook Travellers Site, Lakewood Court 
C011, Lakewood Court C036, Leegomery Changing Rooms, Madeley 3g 
Pitch, Madeley Library, New Activity Hub, Newport Library, Newport Leisure, 
Oakengates Bandstand, Oakengates Leisure, Oakengates Theatre (The Place), 
Overdale Community Centre, Shukers Field Changing Rooms, Southwater 
One, Stafford Park 11 Unit B4, Sutton Hill Changing Rooms, Sutton Hill 
Children’s Centre, Market Square Public Toilets, Telford Ski Centre, Telford Ice 
Rink, Tibberton Sports Pavilion, Unit 5 Leegomery Centre, Wellington Chapel 
of Rest, Wellington Civic & Leisure.   

Street lighting

Transport and travel
Including vehicles: 

 owned by staff and miles claimed carrying out their duties; 
 owned by the Council and used by staff on Council duties;
 owned by staff getting to and from work;
 And Wrekin Rider miles.

Measuring our carbon emissions
Since the baseline year of 2018/19, Telford & Wrekin Council’s carbon 
emissions have reduced by approx. 2,903 tonnes CO2e (36%) from 7,958 
tonnes CO2e to 5,055 tonnes CO2e in 2019/20.

The Action Plan includes values for carbon reduction for actions where 
these can be calculated at this point in order to plot our journey to 
carbon neutral.    

It is important to note that these figures are based on a range of 
sources and best available information. We will continue to develop and 
strengthen our data including engaging with our contractors, suppliers 
and Council Teams.

P
age 146



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral 9

Monitoring
The Action Plan is a live document that is owned by the Council’s Cabinet and 
Senior Management Team (SMT). The Action Plan is monitored by the Council’s 
Climate Change Working Group and Coordinator. They provide monthly 
progress updates to the lead Director and Cabinet Member, who brief the wider 
SMT and Cabinet, as well as regular updates to Environment Scrutiny Committe.  
We will move to reporting emissions every six months (September/March). This 
will include reviewing any assumptions utilised; developing future actions and 
pressing for additional Government funding to support us to achieve our goals.  

This will help us to:

 Identify whether this plan needs to be amended if our actions are not 
strong enough to fully tackle the problem

 Forecast an emissions timetable to follow and to check whether we are 
on target to hit our 2030 deadline

Borough-wide
This Action Plan does not set out how the Borough as a whole will reach 
carbon neutrality. Although it does identify ways that the Council can use 
its powers to support the transition to a low carbon future, such as through 
land use planning and the provision of infrastructure. The Council has 
set out an aspiration, working with partners, residents and businesses to 
achieve the goal of Borough neutrality by 2030. 

To address the Climate Emergency, the Council established the Telford and 
Wrekin Borough Climate Change Partnership to work collaboratively with 
Town and Parish Councils, the private sector, educational establishments 
and others to draw upon our Borough partners’ knowledge and expertise to 
further the Climate Change agenda Borough-wide.

Trees4TW - idverde UK 
crews delivering 8,600 
saplings to residents, 
schools, community 
organisations and 
groups.

P
age 147



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral10

Becoming carbon neutral Action Plan 2021/22
This action plan describes the actions the Council will take to reduce carbon emissions in line with our commitment to achieve carbon neutrality by 2030.

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

Council buildings

1 Implement a programme 
of retrofit schemes across 
Council owned buildings, 
maximising funding via the 
Marches Local Enterprise 
Partnership low carbon 
tech support programmes 
such as the Sustainable 
Energy in Public Buildings 
(SEPUBU)

SEPUBU 
Funding to end
December 2023 

It is estimated that this 
will achieve reductions 
in annual primary energy 
use of 2.06 GWh and 
annual greenhouse gas 
emissions savings of 
660 tonnes CO2e.

In progress To date, eight Council retrofit projects have been 
completed, saving 268 tonnes CO2e. Funding approval 
has been gained for Oakengates Theatre from SEPUBU 
and works have started on site for solar electricity panels, 
also known as photovoltaics (PV) (they capture the sun’s 
energy and convert it into electricity). The PV is of size: 
37.4KW, which will produce: 33,540 kWh PA and avoid 
emissions of 17,775kg pa. Funding is being sought for a 
pipeline of new projects, which include:

 PV at Oakengates Leisure Centre
 LED lighting and solar car port on the roof of 

Southwater One 
 LED lighting and solar PV on buildings or solar on 

the golf range
 Solar PV and LED lighting at Abraham Darby 

Leisure Centre
 LED lighting and solar PV at the Arthog Outdoor 

Education Facility
 LED lighting and solar PV on buildings or Solar 

Carport at Madeley Ski Centre
 Solar PV and LED lighting at Southwater Visitor Centre.

P
age 148



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral 11

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

2 Implement new power 
settings and usage 
controls on laptops, 
monitors and printers to 
reduce energy usage when 
not in use

December 2022 75 tonnes CO2e In progress Opened discussions with suppliers. Awaiting supplier 
information on best settings to implement and any 
pre-requisites or other variables to consider. 

3 Identify and deliver a 
programme of energy 
efficiency improvements 
in Council buildings and 
school buildings including 
analysis of energy usage 
with WME.

As well as ensure any roof-
top maintenance works 
to council buildings and 
schools consider installation 
of solar PV to help reduce 
costs of installation.

April 2025 Target to reduce energy 
costs by £20-£25K pa 
equating to 200,000 kWh 
or 52 tonnes of CO2e.

In progress As part of extension and refurbishment of school 
buildings the Council will meet or better building 
regulations via the use of energy management, LED 
Lighting, Solar PV, improved thermal values and air 
admittance. For example: the Council are building 
an extension at Langley School. This has improved 
U values (reduced heat loss) and the Council has 
installed LED lighting. 

Quarterly meetings are held with WME to scrutinise 
data and where possible identify energy efficiencies.

Action Plan Ref key (n) = new action

P
age 149



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral12

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

4 Roll-out of Windows 10
devices to staff and 
Members.

April 2021 A typical desktop 
computer uses 868kW of 
electricity per year. The 
Council has replaced 
computers with laptops 
which use 80% less 
electricity than a desktop 
computers. 2,400 
desktop computers 
have been replaced by 
laptops. Saving 200 
tonnes CO2e emissions.

Complete Roll-out complete.

5 Relocating the ICT server 
room and installing 
natural cooling

April 2021 New datacentre will use 
natural cooling, each unit 
will save over 60 tonnes 
of CO2e when compared 
to conventional air 
conditioning.

In progress Installation will be carried out 15/02/21, with 
completion on 12/03/21.

6 Review opening 
arrangements for main 
Council administrative 
buildings over Christmas 
while maintaining all 
essential services

April 2021 Shutting the 
Darby House and 
Addenbrooke House 
for Christmas saves 6.4 
tonnes CO2e 

Complete Over the Christmas period in 2020, all office buildings 
were closed. 

P
age 150



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral 13

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

7 Define and implement an 
optimum flexible working 
pattern to reduce the 
carbon impact of staff 
travel and enable reduction 
in required office space 
as well as updating key 
employment policies such 
as flexible working to 
minimise the carbon impact 
of employees at work

April 2022 To be determined 
following completion of 
accommodation review. 
Closing one core office 
will save 67 tonnes CO2e

The 2019/20 footprint 
was only slightly affected 
by Covid-19 restrictions, 
as the Council’s 
accounting year runs 
from 1st April 2019 to 
31st March 2020. The 
Covid-19 restrictions 
started in mid-March 
2020, and this was when 
the majority of staff 
started working from 
home. The effects of 
Covid-19 restrictions will 
be included when we 
report on the accounting 
year 2020/21.

In progress As a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, the majority 
of office-based staff have worked from home for 
significant periods during 2020/1. The carbon savings 
made will be significant and we will update our 
monitoring at the end of this financial year in March 
2021 to assess the full year impact on our emissions. 
The pandemic has highlighted the benefits of staff 
working from home and has presented an opportunity 
for the Council to explore a blended way of working 
with staff working a portion of their time at the office 
and at home. Since the Council are looking at blended 
ways of working the Council will explore on how 
best to account for energy being used at homes by 
employees while undertaking Council work.  

An accommodation survey has gone out to employees 
to establish what the office requirements will be in the 
long term.   

Agile working/working at home policies are currently 
being developed to define working arrangements/
expectations post Covid-19.  

Action Plan Ref key (n) = new action

P
age 151



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral14

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

8
(n)

Explore the possibility of 
having the Ecosia internet 
search engine, on desktops 
alongside the default 
search engine as a visible 
icon.

December 2022 Ecosia use profits from 
every search to plant 
trees.

New action Source of action: Member drop-in session.

9 
(n)

Install Ground Source or 
Air Source heat pump 
technology and improve 
the thermal efficiency of 
council owned buildings

December 2022 Circa 800 tonnes CO2e 
savings.

In progress Source of action: Employee suggestion.

The Council has been successful in securing Low 
Carbon Skills funding which enabled us to assess 
the feasibility of installing heat pumps and thermal 
insulation technologies in seven Council buildings.  
This resulted in four bids being submitted to the Public 
Sector Decarbonisation Scheme in January 2021, of 
which two schemes (Oakengates and Newport Leisure 
Centres) have been awarded grant funding of £1.37m. 
In parallel with delivering these projects, we will review 
whether the schemes that were not awarded grant 
funding can be taken forward as invest to save projects. 

P
age 152



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral 15

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

Borough buildings

10 Explore opportunities to 
improve the energy efficiency 
of the Council’s Property 
Investment Portfolio (PIP)

December 2025 The PIP is excluded from 
the Council’s baseline as 
we are not in control of 
energy use by tenants/
residents, however the 
carbon savings brought 
about by the action will 
count towards reducing 
the Borough’s carbon 
impact.

In progress The Council are currently exploring opportunities 
at Southwater Car Park to install LED Lighting and 
a solar car port on the roof. A Salix loan has been 
submitted. Another Salix loan application is being 
worked upon for 67 New Street Wellington (retail/
office accommodation) for replacement lighting and 
replacement of the gas heating system.

Action Plan Ref key (n) = new action

P
age 153



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral16

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

11 Explore opportunities 
to deliver carbon 
reduction/efficiency 
in the development 
and operation for new 
property investments 
including Ni Park

December 2022 The carbon savings 
brought about by the 
action will count towards 
reducing the Borough’s 
carbon impact.

In progress Tender for Ni-Park Phase 1 includes electric charging 
points for vehicles and PVs on units.  Contract 
awarded December 2020 with completion of 
development in Q3 21/22.

12 
(n)

Develop a business case 
for large-scale investment 
in schools and community 
rooftop mounted solar 
PV to include a review 
of options around how 
best to pass on the 
energy generated (Power 
Purchase Agreement, 
Sleeving, Private Wire etc).

December 2022 The carbon savings 
brought about by the 
action will count towards 
reducing the Borough’s 
carbon impact.

New action Source of action – Resident’s survey, Telford and 
Wrekin Borough Climate Change Partnership, best 
practice research.

P
age 154



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral 17

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

Council transport

13 Develop and implement 
a Corporate Travel Plan 
minimising car travel for 
commuting and between 
offices

April 2022 Circa 133 tonnes CO2e In progress As a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, the majority of 
office-based staff have worked from home for significant 
periods during 2020/1, which has led to significant 
reductions in business mileage. For example, in April 
2019, staff claimed 151,448 miles (43.1657 tCO2e) of 
business mileage, however in lockdown in April 2020, 
this reduced to 76,203 miles (21.7194 tCO2e)– which is 
nearly half. A commitment has been made to sustain a 
30% reduction in business mileage on an ongoing basis 
from April 2021.  The Council has commissioned work to 
implement a new Corporate Travel Plan in 2021 that will 
set out the approach to delivering this target.

14 Implement a Cycle to Work 
scheme for employees.

April 2021 On the basis of a 250 
employee take up, the 
carbon saving would 
equate to 55 tonnes CO2e.

Complete Back to Bikes initiative launched on 11th November 
2020 and includes a Cycle 2 Work scheme from 
Halfords (which includes some independent bike 
stores) as well as various discounts and offers from 
local independent cycle stores across the Borough. 
Regular management information will be available 
monthly in order to monitor take up against the target. 
A virtual roadshow will be held in 2021 to encourage 
employee take up. 15 members of staff have joined 
the scheme as of December 2020 which equates to 
16.5 tonnes CO2e of savings.

Action Plan Ref key (n) = new action

P
age 155



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral18

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

15 Explore options for 
schemes to encourage 
employees to make greater 
use of public transport, 
such as travel loans for rail 
and bus passes 

December 2022 Supports savings linked 
to Action 12 - circa 133 
tonnes CO2e based 
upon the target to 
reduce business mileage 
on an ongoing basis 
from April 2021

In progress Employee discount in place for Arriva bus travel across 
the Borough. Nine Telford & Wrekin Council employees 
are taking advantage of the travel club scheme and 
this will be promoted more widely to increase take-
up. Currently, the Council are exploring options for 
train travel discounts for staff. Other schemes also 
being explored are employee discounts on electric car 
charging points. 

16 Explore the replacement of 
pool vehicles with ultra-low 
emission vehicles

December 2030 There are 31 pool 
vehicles averaging 
approx. 268,000
miles a year, equating 
to approx. 72 tonnes 
CO2 per annum. If these 
were to be replaced 
with ultra-low emission 
vehicles, there is the 
potential on average to 
save 52 tonnes CO2e 
dependent on the 
vehicle type.

In progress The first six EV vans have been delivered and have 
been operational since November 2020, saving 6 
tonnes of CO2 per annum. The Council will procure 
a further three EV vans for the Enforcement Team in 
2021. A report on the rest of the Council’s fleet has 
been undertaken by the Energy Saving Trust and will 
be reviewed in 2021.

P
age 156



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral 19

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

17 Procurement of a multi 
partner electric vehicle 
framework and deployment 
across car parks in Telford 
and Wrekin – not limited to 
Telford & Wrekin Council 
ownership

April 2022 Supports the wider 
Borough switch to low 
emission vehicles. 

In progress To go out to procurement in Q1 2021.

18 Review Council’s Fleet 
Services to ensure 
optimum efficiency and 
carbon reductions

April 2022 To be determined, once 
data is available.

In progress Transport review process has commenced with 
implementation of measures in 2021.

19 Run a campaign to promote 
electric vehicles via the 
Zenith Salary Sacrifice Car 
Lease Scheme

April 2022 To be determined – 
target for future uptake 
of EVs via Lease 
Scheme to be agreed.

Ongoing A promotion campaign took place in September 2020 
highlighting offers available on electric vehicles and 
providing information on EVs. The Council are liaising 
with Zenith on a communications plan to promote EVs 
each month. Currently 10% of employees who have a 
Zenith vehicle have an EV vehicle. Another roadshow 
is scheduled in July 2021.

Action Plan Ref key (n) = new action

P
age 157



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral20

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

20 
(n)

Install charging points for 
electric vehicles at Darby 
House

December 2022 This may potentially 
increase electricity usage 
on Telford & Wrekin 
Council owned carparks, 
however greater use of 
EVs would contribute 
towards reducing the 
Borough’s carbon impact.

New action Source of action: Resident’s survey, Environment 
Scrutiny Committee

Borough transport

21 Improvements to bus and 
rail services

December 2025 The carbon savings 
brought about by the 
action will count towards 
reducing the Borough’s 
carbon impact.

In progress Rail - Midlands Connect, electrification study ongoing. 
The Council are also working with Howarth on rail 
provision in Ironbridge.

Bus Services and active travel - various studies and 
projects are being progressed.

22 Improvements to cycling 
and walking routes as 
well as a review of the 
Local Transport Plan to 
include a new Walking 
and Cycling Strategy

December 2025 The carbon savings 
brought about by the 
action will count towards 
reducing the Borough’s 
carbon impact.

In progress The Council has launched a £2.6m Travel Telford 
Sustainable Transport fund, which has funded:

 A new cycle parking scheme to provide an extra 
300 cycle stands (600 spaces) across the borough. 

 A wide ranging inspection and maintenance review 
of the borough cycling and walking routes, starting 
with our cycling network, to identify any immediate 
and longer term improvements needed

P
age 158



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral 21

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

In the longer term, there will be improved publicity and 
mapping of the network as well as connecting more 
walking and cycling paths to make an even better network.

The Council will also trial new facilities which could 
include cycle lanes and bike parking in areas such as 
the Wrekin, and also bring forward improvements for 
pedestrian and cyclists outside schools.

On 13 November 2020 the government announced 
Tranche 2 of the Active Travel Fund which is aimed at 
cycling or walking schemes that are permanent and 
not experiment or pilot schemes subject to public 
consultation after implementation. Telford & Wrekin 
Council received a funding allocation of £229,500 
for the following scheme: The A518 Connectivity 
Package, which will improve the connectivity of the 
National Cycle Route 55 through the installation of a 
permanent footway/cycleway adjacent to the A518.

23 Explore the provision of 
a 100% renewable fast 
charging Electric Vehicle 
Forecourt

December 2025 The carbon savings 
brought about by the 
action will count towards 
reducing the Borough’s 
carbon impact.

In progress The Council is working with different providers to 
identify a viable site. 

Action Plan Ref key (n) = new action

P
age 159



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral22

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

24 Explore initiating a public 
e-bike hire scheme for 
the Borough: subject to 
market interest implement 
a cycle hire scheme with a 
company, on a trial basis 

December 2022 The carbon savings 
brought about by the 
action will count towards 
reducing the Borough’s 
carbon impact.

In progress A feasibility study commenced in January 2021 with 
completion in April 2021 from which this initiative will 
be explored further.

25 
(n)

Explore greener taxi licensing 
- encourage taxi drivers to 
licence electric vehicles 

December 2025 The carbon savings 
brought about by the 
action will count towards 
reducing the Borough’s 
carbon impact.

New action Source of action – best practice research and 
resident’s survey and member drop-in session.

Borough housing

26 Aim to reduce the carbon 
footprint of Station Quarter 
(the vacant land between 
the railway station and the 
shopping centre) 

December 2024 The carbon savings 
brought about by the 
action will count towards 
reducing the Borough’s 
carbon impact.

In progress Hybrid planning application being prepared covering 
information on project enabling works, public realm 
and first development phase with outline detail on the 
development zones. Carbon reduction opportunities will 
be scoped as part of this exercise. Target submission 
date for planning application Q2 21/22.  Target date for 
delivery of first residential phase Q4 23/24.

P
age 160



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral 23

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

27 Explore carbon reduction 
proposals for future NuPlace 
developments (housing 
company wholly owned 
by Nuplace), focussing 
initially on the next phase 
of the existing programme 
equating to 60 homes.

April 2025 The carbon savings 
brought about by the 
action will count towards 
reducing the Borough’s 
carbon impact.

In progress Southwater Way:
Planning application approved for 46 homes off 
Southwater Way - all properties to include PVs and 
EV charging points - works started on site in Nov/Dec 
2020. Completion Spring 2020.

Granville, Donnington: 
Energy Consultant appointed to develop proposals 
for low carbon development for a 325 unit scheme. 
The range of carbon reduction technologies being 
considered on the scheme include fabric upgrades, 
water heat recovery, electric car charging points, solar 
panels, alongside water diverters on larger properties. 
Start on site July 2021. Site completion: March 2025.                                             

10 to 15 Nuplace properties are to be built to the 
Future Homes standard and will be electrically heated 
with PV/battery storage.                                          

Action Plan Ref key (n) = new action

P
age 161



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral24

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

28 Promotion of energy 
efficiency activities 
addressing fuel poverty for 
eligible residents

December 2021 The carbon savings 
brought about by the 
action will count towards 
reducing the Borough’s 
carbon impact.

In progress LAD2 - Central Government’s Local Authority Delivery 
programme – Telford & Wrekin Council have been 
allocated, by the Midlands Energy Hub, £520,000 capital 
funding to improve heating and/or insulation of some of 
the least energy efficient housing stock in the borough.  In 
line with our climate change aspirations, fossil fuel heating 
cannot be included in this programme - delivery by 
December 2021.

Telford & Wrekin Council’s Statement Of Intent was 
published on 17th December 2020. The SOI is a public 
statement of the criteria set by the Council to identify 
households eligible for energy efficiency measures.

Telford Energy Advice Centre (TEA) –from June 2020, has 
received 150 enquiries to date, with all clients receiving 
help and advice. 66 referrals being made to our ECO 
partner, AgilityECO. The service has been promoted 
through podcasts, press releases and staff refresh 
training – with a new communications plan currently being 
designed to raise awareness of the service, making it 
easier for residents to access grant funding and advice.

P
age 162



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral 25

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

29 
(n)

Enable a group buying 
scheme for domestic 
solar PV and battery 
storage eg Solar Together 
or a local alternative

December 2023 The carbon savings 
brought about by the 
action will count towards 
reducing the Borough’s 
carbon impact.

New action Source of idea: Resident’s Survey, best practice 
research, Environment Scrutiny Committee.

30 
(n)

Explore employee 
discount or salary 
sacrifice schemes for 
solar/battery installations

December 2022 Circa 102 CO2e savings 
based upon the Energy 
Saving Trust who state 
that a typical home solar 
PV system could save 
around 1.3 to 1.6 tonnes 
of carbon per year, 
depending on where in 
the UK you live. Based 
upon 1 in 20 employees 
taking up the initiative.

New action Source of action: Employee suggestion, best practice 
research, Environment Scrutiny Committee.

Action Plan Ref key (n) = new action

P
age 163



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral26

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

31 
(n)

Whole house retrofit 
programme - stock owned 
by Telford & Wrekin 
Council eg temporary 
accommodation/supported 
accommodation or loans 
to private landlords. EPC 
below C to be taken up to 
C and above.   Pilot retrofit 
programme to improve 
insulation standards and 
reduce fossil fuel heating  - 
in line with carbon neutral 
target of 2030 

 Apply for Local 
Authority Delivery 
funding (LAD) 

 Explore options to 
use Energy Company 
Obligation (ECO) funding

 Be actively involved 
with WMCA/SHAP 
Warm Homes save lives 

April 2025 The carbon savings 
brought about by the 
action will count towards 
reducing the Borough’s 
carbon impact.

New action Source of action: Employee suggestion, best 
practice research

P
age 164



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral 27

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

Council street lighting

32 Build on the conversion 
to date of over 20,000 
traditional street lighting 
to LED lighting and to 
convert the remainder of 
the highway and footway 
street lighting assets:

1 Conversion of seven 
high mast lights on 
roundabouts

2 Conversion of 423 
adopted non LED lights 
which exceed the original 
contract projections

3 Conversion of 263 
newly/to be adopted 
non LED lights

4 Conversion of floodlights 
at Council managed 
public car parks

December 2022 Since the contract started 
in April 17, the Council 
has saved 7,414 tonnes 
of CO2 compared to the 
16/17 year benchmark.

In progress The conversion of traditional street lights to LED 
currently is 98.98%. Majority of remaining lights to 
be converted are wall lights and lights mounted on 
wooden poles. 

1 High mast conversions - works have started on 
three of the sites but work has been delayed 
over Summer 2020 due to Covid-19 and other 
working constraints. 

2. Converted 423 non LED lights over and above original 
contract projections – these have been completed.

3 144 out of 263 lights have been converted on 
newly adopted non LED lights.

4 Work on conversion of council owned carpark 
floodlights has commenced with a pilot at 
Oakengates Leisure Centre.

Action Plan Ref key (n) = new action

P
age 165



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral28

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

33 Opportunities to be 
identified to replace non-
LED lighting at the Town 
Park and Council owned 
car parks and at Council 
managed buildings

December 2022 Approximately 5 tonnes 
CO2e but this will be 
revised as more data
becomes available.

In progress External LED lighting will be installed as part of repair 
and refurbishment within the Town Park.

Borough finance/grants

34 
(n)

Investigate options for 
residents and community 
groups to invest directly in 
climate change schemes 
in the Borough, such as 
community investment 
bonds via a crowdfunding 
platform provider.  This is 
subject to carrying out full 
due diligence regarding 
the financial and legal 
aspects of such a scheme, 
including ensuring that 
the rate offered would 
not result in the Council 
subsiding private lenders

April 2025 To be determined, once 
data is available.

New action Source of action: Shropshire Climate Action Partnership, 
employee suggestion, best practice research

P
age 166



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral 29

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

Council finance/grants

35 
(n)

Community carbon 
reduction grant - small 
grant (up to £5k) for 
organisations to implement 
carbon reduction measures 
- £100k funding agreed

April 2021 The carbon savings 
brought about by the 
action will count towards 
reducing the Borough’s 
carbon impact.

In progress Source of action: Telford and Wrekin Borough Climate 
Change Partnership, Town and Parish Councils, best 
practice research, Resident’s Survey.

The grant scheme was launched on 19th February 2021.

Council energy

36 Switch to a green 
electricity tariff

April 2021 Since the baseline year 
of 2018/19, Telford & 
Wrekin Council’s carbon 
emissions have reduced 
by approx. 2,902.72 
tonnes CO2e (36%) from 
7,957.72 tonnes CO2e 
to 5,055 tonnes CO2e in 
2019/20. The decrease 
has been achieved by 
implementing a range 
of carbon reduction 
measures, such as 
moving to a new green 
electricity tariff. 

Complete The Council has procured an enhanced electricity tariff 
which ensures that all Renewable Energy Guarantees 
Origin (REGO’s) are sourced from a generator or 
technology directly contracted with Total Gas and 
Power. This ensures that 100% of the REGO’s are 
purchased along with the associated generation. The 
sources remain solely wind, solar, and hydro. This will 
be available from April 2021.

Action Plan Ref key (n) = new action

P
age 167



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral30

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

37 Carry out a heat 
mapping and energy 
master planning study to 
determine the potential to 
expand and decarbonise 
the existing Energy Centre 
in Southwater, which 
currently provides heat and 
power to Telford Ice Rink 
and Southwater One

December 2022 The savings are approx. 
73 tonnes CO2e - based 
on data from the original 
modelling of Southwater 
Heat Network Report. 
From further research, 
this could be significantly 
higher. Some of the 
additional savings could 
contribute towards the 
Borough footprint.

In progress The Invitation to Tender (ITT) has been issued. The 
Council are hoping to award the tender mid-April, with 
a study completion date of June 2021.  

38 Explore and identify further 
opportunities for renewable 
power generation on 
Telford & Wrekin Council 
owned land.                                                

April 2022 Subject to the outcome 
of the review of 
opportunities and sites.

In progress A review of Council-owned sites which are within 
1-2km of sub stations with potential capacity has been 
carried out. The Council has asked Western Power 
Distribution for grid connection budget estimates for a 
number of potential Council-owned sites.

P
age 168



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral 31

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

39 
(n)

Explore the purchase 
of local bio-methane 
certificates (within the 
LEP /West Midlands 
region) to offset natural 
gas consumption in the 
short term, while actively 
reducing gas consumption 
in total.

December 2022 A significant part of 
the Council’s energy 
consumption relates to 
gas use. The purchase 
of bio-methane 
certificates will reduce 
carbon emissions from 
gas use to net zero.

New action Source of action: Employee suggestion, best 
practice research

40 
(n)

Explore the potential for a 
renewable energy scheme 
to generate energy 
from abandoned mine 
workings – a mine water 
district network could see 
geothermal energy drawn 
from flooded mines to 
heat some developments 
in the Borough.

December 2025 The carbon savings 
brought about by the 
action will count towards 
reducing the Borough’s 
carbon impact.

New action Source of action: Employee suggestion

Action Plan Ref key (n) = new action

P
age 169



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral32

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

Communications and engagement

41 Launch Sustainable 
Telford & Wrekin Website 
to provide a point of 
contact and information 
for the community

April 2021 The carbon savings 
brought about by the 
action will count towards 
reducing the Borough’s 
carbon impact.

Complete See http://sustainabletelfordandwrekin.co.uk/

42 
(n)

Include environmental 
volunteering in new My 
Telford App to incentivise 
local environmental action

April 2022 The carbon savings 
brought about by the 
action will count towards 
reducing the Borough’s 
carbon impact.

New action Source of action: Environment Scrutiny Committee

43 
(n)

Organise a Green Festival 
- showcasing  food, stalls, 
speakers, activities and 
crafts etc. to raise awareness 
of climate change

December 2022 The carbon savings 
brought about by the 
action will count towards 
reducing the Borough’s 
carbon impact.

Autumn 2021 
*dependent 
upon 
Covid-19 
restrictions

Source of action: Plastic Free Taskforce, within the 
Plastic Free Action Plan there is an action for all 
Council run events to be sustainable as possible.

44 Work with Parish and Town 
Councils to support and 
encourage the take up of 
actions to deliver carbon 
neutrality

Ongoing The carbon savings 
brought about by the 
action will count towards 
reducing the Borough’s 
carbon impact.

Complete The Council has developed a Climate Emergency 
Toolkit for Town and Parish Councils and have 
established a Town and Parish Climate Change sub-
group (currently there are 16 Town and Parishes that 
are members) to feed into the Telford and Wrekin 
Climate Change Partnership via SALC (Shropshire 
Association of Local Councils) and the Parish Forum.

P
age 170

http://sustainabletelfordandwrekin.co.uk/


Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral 33

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

45 Form a Borough Climate 
Change Partnership to work 
together with the Council 
and engage the wider 
community to develop and 
deliver a Borough-Wide 
Climate Neutrality Action 
Plan. The Council will:

 Establish the initial 
Partnership including 
public/private/
voluntary organisations 
representing key sectors 
and partners active 
in the Borough, and 
facilitate the sharing of 
practice and learning 
to strengthen individual 
organisation action plans

 Support the Partnership 
in establishing a 
baseline carbon position

December 2021 The carbon savings 
brought about by the 
action will count towards 
reducing the Borough’s 
carbon impact.

In progress The Partnership has been formed, the first meeting 
was on the 24 June 2020.   The Partnership is 
currently working through sub-groups to develop a 
Borough Action Plan for consultation with Borough 
residents in April 2021.           

Action Plan Ref key (n) = new action

P
age 171



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral34

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

 Work as a partner to 
develop proposals on 
how the Borough should 
address becoming 
carbon neutral;

 Work as a partner 
to engage with 
and consult on the 
proposals with the 
wider community;

 As a partner support 
the development and 
delivery of a Climate 
Action Plan for the 
Borough.

P
age 172



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral 35

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

46 Develop and deliver an 
engagement programme 
for schools, community 
groups, interest groups and 
residents to promote climate 
change and gauge ways to 
support/get involved with 
the Borough Partnership: 

 Provision of web 
based information 
on opportunities for 
achieving energy 
reductions and 
carbon savings, with 
signposts to further 
sources of information.

 Web based information 
on campaigns and/
or initiatives to raise 
awareness and support 
on carbon reduction.

Ongoing The carbon savings 
brought about by the 
action will count towards 
reducing the Borough’s 
carbon impact.

In progress Website: complete see action 49.

Campaigns: plastic-free; food waste recycling; World 
Environment Day; Cooperatives for Climate Action, 
Trees4TW. 

Toolkit: completed and shared with Town and 
Parish Council Sub-group. Provision of web based 
information on opportunities for achieving energy 
reductions and carbon savings, with signposts to 
further sources of information. 

Creation of the Climate Change Champions volunteer 
role (there are currently 16 volunteers). The core 
function of the role is to promote Climate Change and 
Sustainability, by encouraging effective resource use 
and leading by example to help Borough residents do 
the same through;

 sharing information with members of their 
community on how they can get involved;

 promoting local/national Climate Change and 
Sustainability campaigns;

Action Plan Ref key (n) = new action

P
age 173



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral36

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

 A targeted advice 
service and active 
approach to carbon 
reduction with schools.

 A toolkit and support 
programme for working 
with Parish and Town 
Councils

 helping the Council to promote Council Climate 
Change and Sustainability consultations to their 
communities.

47 Updated promotion of 
Switch Telford – white label 
energy comparison and 
switching site.

April 2021 The carbon savings 
brought about by the 
action will count towards 
reducing the Borough’s 
carbon impact.

Complete Up to the end of November 2020, there have now 
been just over 2035 switches.

Council campaigns have included raising awareness of 
the green tariffs that are available on Switch Telford.

48 
(n)

Introduce Pavegen system 
in Southwater. This system 
uses the power of walking 
to ‘charge’ smart benches 
and/or electronic signs. 
An interactive section of 
this paving would link 
into our climate change 
commitments to provide an 
education and engagement 
piece of street infrastructure.

December 2021 The carbon savings 
brought about by the 
action will count towards 
reducing the Borough’s 
carbon impact.

New action Source of action: Employee suggestion

P
age 174



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral 37

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

49 
(n)

Implement a Low Carbon 
Advertising Policy

December 2021 The carbon savings 
brought about by the 
action will count towards 
reducing the Borough’s 
carbon impact.

New action Source of action: Resident suggestion

50 
(n)

Hold an annual youth 
climate summit – as 
part of this promote and 
increase take-up of 
Eco-Schools programme

December 2022 The carbon savings 
brought about by the 
action will count towards 
reducing the Borough’s 
carbon impact.

New action 
*dependent 
upon 
Covid-19 
restrictions

Source of action: Best practice research, 
Resident’s survey

51 
(n)

Training and skills 
provision for industrial 
decarbonisation - 
carbon literacy training, 
engagement with 
providers, specific 
apprenticeship schemes

April 2023 The carbon savings 
brought about by the 
action will count towards 
reducing the Borough’s 
carbon impact.

New action Source of action: Resident’s survey, best practice research

Action Plan Ref key (n) = new action

P
age 175



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral38

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

Council planning policy

52 Identify where natural flood 
management approaches 
and Sustainable Drainage 
Systems (SuDS) can be 
used to increase carbon 
sequestration.                                                    

April 2025 Once known, the 
carbon sequestration 
figure will be applied 
to the Council’s 
sequestration measure.

In progress The Council are working as part of the River Severn 
Partnership to identify opportunities to address 
flood risk in the borough. Part of that work will be to 
maximise opportunities to address flood risk through 
the use of ‘natural flood management’ which will help 
utilise natural assets to slow the flow of water courses 
especially during and after periods of high rainfall. This 
work is at an early stage and the Council will continue 
to work with partners to maximise opportunities to 
incorporate natural flood management into projects 
that come forward. 

As part of the Local Plan Review the Council are 
reviewing and updating planning policy.

P
age 176



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral 39

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

Borough planning policy

53 Use the review of the 
Local Plan to develop 
robust policy that supports 
and promotes a move to 
carbon neutrality, including 
through consideration of 
how development will need 
to adapt to the impacts 
of climate change and 
promotes opportunities 
to maximise carbon 
sequestration.

April 2025 The carbon savings 
brought about by the 
action will count towards 
reducing the Borough’s 
carbon impact.

In progress The Issues and Options consultation has concluded, 
next stage of consultation is on the preferred options 
stage in Summer 2021.

54 Use the Local Plan review 
Call for sites to identify 
sites for renewable and low 
carbon energy generation

April 2021 The carbon savings 
brought about by the 
action will count towards 
reducing the Borough’s 
carbon impact.

Complete Call for Sites has now concluded, any submissions for 
renewable energy sites will be considered as part of 
the site selection process.

Action Plan Ref key (n) = new action

P
age 177



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral40

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

Council corporate

55 Ensure all Service Plans 
and Business Plans 
produced from 2020 
consider measures to 
contribute to delivering the 
Council’s commitment to 
carbon neutrality

April 2021 This has and will 
continue to identify 
further actions to 
include in the update of 
the Action Plan

Complete Climate change is part of the Council’s revised priorities, 
published in October 2020.  All service strategies for 
Directors are now finalised and link the long-term aims 
of each Directorate to this priority. Where appropriate, 
climate change actions that will deliver these aims have 
been detailed in business plans. Business Plans will be 
reviewed and updated on an ongoing basis to ensure 
they remain accurate and relevant.  

56 Promotion of existing 
Council schemes of:
Flexible Working Policy;                                       
Agile Working Guidance;                                        
Telford & Wrekin 
Discount Travel Club,                      
Cycle to Work Scheme

April 2021 Link to Actions 7 and 12 Complete A four weekly internal comms plan has been developed 
to promote/advertise Council schemes and policies.

57 Commit to become a 
Carbon Literate Council

April 2021 Raising awareness on 
climate change and 
carbon reduction
measures reduces 
energy usage by staff of 
between 10-15%.

In progress Course identified, to be completed by mid-March 2021

P
age 178



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral 41

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

58 All Telford & Wrekin 
Council strategies and 
reports to explicitly set out 
the environmental impacts 
from any recommended 
decision and contribution 
to carbon neutrality.

April 2022 Will depend on the 
strategy, project
or decision.

In progress The format has been drafted and will be in place by 
Summer 2021.

59 Require our major 
environment and cleansing 
contractors – Balfour Beatty; 
Idverde and Veolia to 
produce ambitious Carbon 
Reduction Action Plans 
covering their operations 
within the Borough                  

April 2021 Since the start of 
the Veolia contract 
(2014), there has been 
a reduction of circa 
23,000 tonnes of CO2e.  

From 1st April 2019 
to 31st March 2020 
Idverde net greenhouse 
gas emissions achieved, 
753 tonnes CO2e 

Complete Balfour Beatty:  has already developed and 
implemented a Sustainability Plan. However, Balfour 
Beatty will be developing a new Sustainability Plan 
that will work on supporting the Councils ambitious 
to be carbon neutral by 2030. Idverde: carbon action 
plan for Idverde has been developed. Idverde are 
also looking to secure additional EV’s on their fleet 
(potentially 6 in total from April 2021) Veolia: have 
produced a carbon action plan. Since the start of the 
Veolia contract (2014), there has been a reduction of 
circa 23,000 tonnes of CO2e.  

Action Plan Ref key (n) = new action

P
age 179



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral42

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

60 Where appropriate the 
Council will increase the 
environmental evaluation 
criteria weightings to 
encourage suppliers to use 
sustainable practices and 
to reduce carbon emissions 
in the supply chain.

April 2021 Many procurement 
decisions have the 
potential to reduce 
carbon emissions. 
However, this will depend 
on the product or service 
being procured.

Complete Procurement guidance written for environmental 
questions and scoring.  To ensure this is captured in 
procurement exercises, Officers are prompted in the 
Procurement Intentions, the Procurement Plan, the 
Template documents and the Contracts Register.

P
age 180



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral 43

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

61 
(n)

Re-surfacing roads - in 
some areas a ‘warm-mix’ 
of materials is used for 
resurfacing, instead of a 
traditional ‘hot-mix’, which 
cuts fuel consumption 
and the production of 
greenhouse gases. Another 
technique is carriageway 
recycling, which sees the 
old carriageway material 
taken up into the body of 
the resurfacing machine, 
mixed with new materials 
and then immediately laid 
back on the lower surface 
of the road. This is then 
topped with new surface 
asphalt. This process uses 
less material resources, 
requires fewer vehicle 
movements on the site and 
less waste going to landfill.

April 2021 To be determined once 
data becomes available

Complete Source of action: Employee suggestion, best 
practice research

Action Plan Ref key (n) = new action

P
age 181



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral44

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

62 
(n)

Pursue PAS 2060 
accreditation for the Council 
– an international standard 
for carbon neutrality.

December 2022 The savings from 
gaining the accreditation 
would come from this 
action plan.

New action Source of action: Employee suggestion

63 
(n)

Council to apply 
for Investors in the 
Environment

April 2023 The savings from 
gaining the accreditation 
would come from this 
action plan.

New action - 
to be started

Source of action: Employee suggestion

Communications and training

64 Roll out Climate Change 
learning and development 
programme through OLLIE 
for staff and members

April 2022 Raising awareness 
on climate change 
and carbon reduction 
measures reduces energy 
usage by staff of between 
10-15% which equates 
to 239 tonnes CO2e.

In progress Source of action: Member drop-in session.

Training is currently being reviewed with a view to 
launching the course by April 2021.

65 
(n)

Introduce environmental 
scorecard Dashboard at 
Director level to show 
energy usage, mileage, 
printing etc.

April 2023 Raising awareness 
on climate change 
and carbon reduction 
measures reduces the 
Council’s carbon footprint

Complete Source of action: best practice research.

Already introduced and will be reported monthly to the 
Senior Management Team as part of a new Managing 
the Business performance dashboard

P
age 182



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral 45

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

66 Ensure that all employee 
benefits that would 
contribute to our carbon 
reduction and carbon 
offsetting targets are clearly 
identified in our employee 
benefits package.

April 2022 Cannot be quantified at 
this point.

In progress Review to be undertaken. 

Council resources/waste

67 Commence a food 
recycling service in 
Addenbrooke then roll out 
to other Council buildings 
with the potential to also 
engage schools.

April 2022 Circa 1.25 tonnes of 
CO2 saved per month

On Hold Food collections were rolled out to the three main 
Council office buildings (Addenbrooke House, Darby 
House and Wellington Civic Offices) on the 13th January 
2020 and the service ran for ten weeks before the 
lockdown. Circa 2.5 tonnes of food waste was collected.

A temporary suspension to the service has been put 
in place, as the offices are closed, albeit open to a 
limited number of Officers. This will be kept under 
review so the service can be restarted once Offices are 
fully open to staff.

Action Plan Ref key (n) = new action

P
age 183



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral46

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

Borough resources/waste

68 
(n)

Community compost bin 
scheme

April 2022 The carbon savings 
brought about by the 
action will count towards 
reducing the Borough’s 
carbon impact.

In progress Source of action: Resident’s survey, best practice 
research.

69 
(n)

Explore Warp-it Re-use 
scheme - to find, give 
away, or loan office 
furniture, equipment and 
other resources

April 2025 The carbon savings 
brought about by the 
action will count towards 
reducing the Borough’s 
carbon impact.

New action Source of action: Resident’s Survey

P
age 184



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral 47

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

70
(n)

Working in partnership with 
Town/Parish Councils, local 
business and stakeholders, 
the Council will begin by 
installing dual-recycling bins 
across high footfall areas 
(including but not limited to 
Oakengates, Newport and 
Wellington) in the Borough 
including Telford Town Park 
and the Borough’s Parks. 

Following detailed review 
and evaluation of this initial 
trial, the on-going provision 
of dual-recycling litter bins 
will be considered for a 
programme of further roll out.

April 2025 Cannot be quantified at 
this point.

New action Source of action: Environment Scrutiny Committee, 
Member drop-in session.

Action Plan Ref key (n) = new action

P
age 185



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral48

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

Council land use, biodiversity and carbon sequestration

71 Publication of a draft Local 
Nature Recovery Strategy 
(LNRS) for the borough.  At 
a minimum the draft Local 
Nature Recovery Strategy 
will set out proposals to 
enhance, restore or create 
up to: 

 15ha of heathland
 30ha of species rich 

grassland, and
 25ha of wetlands

 on land in the direct 
ownership of the 
Council.

April 2022 The calculations below 
are based upon evidence 
presented in Rewilding 
Britain (2019) Rewildling 
and Climate Breakdown: 
How Restoring Nature 
Can Help Decarbonise 
the UK. 
Heathland
Assuming a 
sequestration rate of
2 tonnes/ha/year.
2x3.66 = 7.32 tCO2e/
ha/a
7.32x 15ha = 109.8 
tCO2e/a

In progress Nature Recovery Strategy (NRS)
 Continuing to track the progress of the 

Environment Bill which has stalled during the 
national Covid-19 response. 

 Bill progress will dictate the future Cabinet pipeline. 
 Officers are drafting elements of the strategy whilst 

monitoring Bill progress
 Telford & Wrekin Council now registered with 

DEFRA/Natural England as a ‘nature recovery 
delivery partner’

 Telford & Wrekin Council secured £1400 seed 
funding from Natural England to launch a habitat 
mapping project with volunteers and local 
specialists (this will feed into the NRS) 

P
age 186



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral 49

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

Species Rich 
Grassland
Assuming a 
sequestration rate of
1 tonne of carbon/ha/
year.
1x3.66 = 3.66 tCO2e/
ha/a
3.66x30ha = 109.8 
tCO2e/a

Wetlands
Assuming a 
sequestration rate of
1.4 tonnes of carbon/ha/
year.
1.4x3.66 = 5.124 tCO2e/
ha/a
5.124x25ha = 128.1 
tCO2e/a

Habitat delivery
 Tests and trials underway at The Granville
 70ha habitat creation will be delivered Borough-

wide in 2021
 Green Recovery Challenge Fund bid with national 

charity ‘buglife’ has been successful to help deliver 
grassland enhancements at Rough Park Meadow

Action Plan Ref key (n) = new action

P
age 187



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral50

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

72 The draft Local Nature 
Recovery Strategy will 
also assess the Council’s 
woodland landholding, 
developing an evidence 
based, Borough-wide 
strategy for woodland 
management. The draft 
Local Nature Recovery 
Strategy will:

 Increase the accuracy of 
the mapping of Telford 
& Wrekin Council’s 
woodland landholding, 
increasing the accuracy 
of the measurement 
of the boroughs tree 
canopy cover

 Calculate estimates 
of the carbon stored 
within existing Telford 
& Wrekin Council 
woodland stock

December 2022 Carbon sequestration 
rates within existing 
Telford & Wrekin Council 
woodland:
Telford & Wrekin 
Council’s woodland 
landholding sequesters 
an average of 10,697 
tonnes/CO2e/ha/year 
non traded carbon cost 
of £706,002 a year.
Borough-wide woodland 
is sequestering on 
average 36,431 tCO2e/yr 
non traded carbon value 
of £2,404,446 a year

In progress The Council now has accurate data, the borough has a 
15% canopy cover – higher than the national average

Mapping opportunities for woodland restoration, 
restructuring, natural woodland generation and new 
planting - drafted with final versions being available in 
Q1 2021.

Identify opportunities to engage with third party land 
holders scoping opportunities for wider woodland planting 
at a borough scale - public engagement and outreach via 
the Trees4TW scheme has identified a number of local 
land owners keen to re-wild their landholdings.

P
age 188



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral 51

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

 Calculate estimates 
of the current carbon 
sequestration rates 
within existing Telford 
& Wrekin Council 
woodland                                                         

 Map opportunities for 
woodland restoration, 
restructuring, natural 
woodland generation 
and new planting.

 Scope the potential to 
create a series of new 
community forests 
to increase carbon 
sequestration and 
reflecting the Council’s 
commitment to being a 
‘Forest Community.

 Identify opportunities to 
engage with third party 
land holders to scope 
opportunities for wider 
woodland planting at a 
borough scale.

Action Plan Ref key (n) = new action

P
age 189



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral52

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

73 Working in partnership with 
Natural England, Telford & 
Wrekin Council will deliver 
great crested newt district 
level licensing across the 
borough. This scheme 
will involve the strategic 
restoration and creation 
of pond networks at a 
landscape scale.

April 2022 Recent studies have 
shown that ponds 
can sequester carbon 
at an average rate of 
1.4 tonnes/ha/year, 
which equates to 5.124 
tCO2et/ha/a
Assuming a 
sequestration rate of
1.4 tonnes of carbon/
ha/year. 1.4x3.66 = 
5.124 tCO2e/ha/a 2019 
estimated 0.16 ha = 
0.82 tCO2e/ha/a

Complete GCN licencing operational 2020

P
age 190



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral 53

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

74 
(n)

Community Forest – 
planting on Telford & 
Wrekin Council-owned 
land. A tree will be planted 
for every child in reception 
class as part of community 
forest vision.

April 2025 Calculation based on:
 tree planting spacing 

of 2.5m 
 All trees are planted 

in one place

Therefore looking at 
1600 trees per hectare.

So 2,153 trees 2.5m 
apart would fit in 1.3 ha. 

Assuming a 9.14 
t/CO2e/ha/yr 
sequestration rate. 
That’s 1.3ha x 9.14 = 
11.9 t/CO2e/ha/yr. 

New action Source of action: Resident’s survey, Member 
suggestion, best practice research

Action Plan Ref key (n) = new action

P
age 191



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral54

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

Borough land use, biodiversity and carbon sequestration

75 
(n)

Work with the Telford and 
Wrekin Borough Climate 
Change Partnership for 
the Borough to become a 
Sustainable Food Place

April 2025 The carbon savings 
brought about by the 
action will count towards 
reducing the Borough’s 
carbon impact.

New action Source of action: best practice research, Resident’s 
survey, member suggestion

The Sustainable Food Places Award recognises and 
celebrates the success of those places taking a joined 
up, holistic approach to food including achievements in 
promoting and normalising healthy and sustainable food.

76 
(n)

Phase 2 of Trees4TW April 2022 The carbon savings 
brought about by the 
action will count towards 
reducing the Borough’s 
carbon impact.

New action Source of action: Employee suggestion, best practice 
research, Resident’s survey

In Phase 1 of the Trees4TW, the Council has so far 
distributed: 560 whips to schools; 385 whips to 
homeowners and 5,360 whips to landowners with a 
further circa 800 to be distributed.

77 
(n)

Exploring accreditation 
schemes for biodiversity off-
set eg carbon credits and 
the woodland carbon code

April 2025 The carbon savings 
brought about by the 
action will count towards 
reducing the Borough’s 
carbon impact.

New action Source of action: Employee suggestion, best 
practice research

P
age 192



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral 55

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

78 
(n)

Developments to contribute 
towards the maintenance 
and/or extension of 
the Borough’s Canopy 
Cover through various 
mechanisms to be defined 
through the Local Plan

April 2025 The carbon savings 
brought about by the 
action will count towards 
reducing the Borough’s 
carbon impact.

New action Source of action: Employee suggestion, best practice 
research, Resident’s survey

79 
(n)

Re-introduce Depave to 
build on existing projects 
with community centres to 
remove hardstanding areas 
and replace with garden/
green space.

April 2022 The carbon savings 
brought about by the 
action will count towards 
reducing the Borough’s 
carbon impact.

New action Source of action: Employee suggestion

Action Plan Ref key (n) = new action

P
age 193



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral56

Ref Action Completion year Estimated annual carbon 
savings (tCO2e)

Status Update/Source of New Action

80 
(n)

Schools and Council Café 
to offer meat-free options 
once a week

April 2022 The carbon savings 
brought about by the 
action will count towards 
reducing the Borough’s 
carbon impact.

In progress Source of action: Resident’s survey, best practice 
research, member suggestion.

In schools that use the Council’s Catering Service, 
Let’s Dine, there is a daily vegetarian option and vegan 
meals are available on request.  There are also meat-
free days most weeks.  The menus are continuing to 
be updated so that more of the vegetarian options 
are vegan, and the Eatwell team that promote healthy 
eating in schools also use vegan products when 
cooking with the children.  The Catering Service 
participated in Veganuary in 2021, and plans to trial 
vegan theme days this year.

P
age 194



Action PlanBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutralBecoming carbon neutral 57

Asks of Government
Telford & Wrekin Council will continue to call for increased ambition from 
Government in tackling Climate Change at a national level, and lobby for 
more support and funding to achieve our carbon neutral target by 2030. 
Delivering our ambitions for Telford & Wrekin is absolutely dependent on 
Government action, and a step change in policy, investment and regulatory 
powers is required to achieve our vision of ‘A thriving, carbon neutral, 
climate resilient community where all our local residents and organisations 
actively contribute to and benefit from a more sustainable future’.

Whilst the Council welcomes the new national funding schemes that have 
been launched this year, such as the Public Sector Decarbonisation Fund, 
our experience has been that funds are often oversubscribed or have 
unrealistic deadlines. Whilst we will continue to proactively submit funding 
bids, and encourage others in Telford & Wrekin to do so, the Government 
needs to do much more to drive the change needed and at pace, and 
to provide additional financial support to mitigate the significant ‘new 
burdens’ being placed on local authorities as a result of growing concern 
and public pressure about Climate Change.

Our 10 asks of Government are:
 Increase its funding to local authorities to deliver carbon reduction targets;

 Allow a greater amount of time for authorities to bid for and complete 
projects through Government climate change funding, and apply less 
prescriptive criteria to funding, to enable larger and more innovative 
schemes to be delivered;

 Strengthen Building Regulations to allow a faster transition to low 
carbon development;

 Remove barriers to community renewable energy schemes e.g. no 
NNDR on solar panels, extension of Renewable Heat Incentive Scheme;

 Set explicit decarbonisation objectives for Ofgem to allow for strategic 
grid reinforcement;

 Make a commitment to increase renewable energy generation 
nationally, with clear targets and financial support;

 Bring forward legislation in the form of carbon taxation to incentivise 
behaviour change based on the polluter pays principle;

 Bring forward the commitment to ban the sale of new diesel and petrol 
vehicles to 2030;

 Incentivise low carbon agriculture;

 Increase the budget for national Climate Change research and innovation.

P
age 195



Telford and Wrekin

Protect, Care and Invest
to create a better borough

P
age 196


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	5 Telford & Wrekin Draft Housing Strategy, 2020-25.  Report on outcome of consultation process and consideration of revised draft Strategy.
	Telford & Wrekin Council Housing Strategy 2020-25

	6 Telford & Wrekin Council Housing Allocation Policy, 2021 - 2026
	Telford & Wrekin Council - Draft Housing Allocation Policy 2021-2026

	7 Definitive Map Modification Order - Policy and Procedures
	Definitive Map Modification Order Policy - March 2021

	8 Declaration of The Cockshut Local Nature Reserve
	9 Telford & Wrekin Council Becoming Carbon Neutral Action Plan Annual Review
	Telford & Wrekin Council Becoming Carbon Neutral Action Plan 2021


